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Annual General Meeting
The 62nd AGM of ALS Limited will be held at 11.00am on 
30 July 2013 at The Pullman Hotel, King George Square, Brisbane.

Contents
Global Operations	 2

Financial Highlights	 4

Health and Safety	 6

Our People	 8

Year in Review	 10

Divisional Review

•	  ALS Minerals	 12

•	  ALS Life Sciences	 16

•	  ALS Energy	 20

•	  ALS Industrial	 22

•	  Reward Distribution	 24

Directors	 26

Group Management	 28

Corporate Governance Statement	 30

Corporate Social Responsibility	 34

Financial Report	 36

Shareholder Information	 106

ASX Requirements	 107

Ten Year Summary	 108

Principal Offices	 109

General Information	 Back cover

Financial Calendar
2012/2013

Record Date for Final Dividend	14 June 2013

Final Dividend Paid	 2 July 2013

Annual General Meeting	 30 July 2013

2013/2014

Half-Year End	 30 September 2013

Half-Year Results and 
Dividend Announced	 25 November 2013

Record Date for 
Interim Dividend 	 5 December 2013

Interim Dividend Paid	 18 December 2013

Note: Dates subject to alteration



	 ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013   |   1

With global headquarters based in Brisbane, Australia we are one 
of the longest-established companies listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX Code: ALQ) (former ASX Code CPB).

The Company was founded in 1863 and listed on the ASX in 
July 1952. We are a company with a multi-billion-dollar market 
capitalisation.

On 1 August 2012, the Company changed its name to ALS Limited 
(from Campbell Brothers Limited) following shareholder approval 
at the 2012 AGM. The name change reflects the Company’s 
emergence from a diversified laboratory services and chemical 
solutions business to a predominately global provider of testing and 
analytical laboratory services. The ALS brand is well recognised on a 
global scale by our customers and competitors for delivery of high 
quality testing services.

The Company operates four main testing service divisions: Minerals, 
Life Sciences, Energy and Industrial.

ALS has approximately 13,000 employees, operating from more 
than 350 sites in 56 countries across Africa, Asia, Australia, Europe 
and the Americas.

We operate one of the world’s largest analytical and testing services 
businesses and our partnerships span major sectors including 
mining, natural resources, environmental, food, pharmaceutical, 
industrial and inspection services.

Our Company is focused on driving growth by continuing to 
successfully operate our existing businesses while pursuing new 
opportunities.

Our success has enabled us to achieve excellent results for our 
shareholders and we have an established trend of attractive 
investor returns.

Our Vision
ALS is committed to maintaining the strong and sustainable growth 
strategies which have made us a successful global company. We 
will maintain the rewarding partnerships we share with our clients, 
business partners, shareholders and communities and identify and 
develop new opportunities.

Our Values
Our Company upholds the values which are the foundation of our 
proud tradition of excellence.

Our people are dedicated to the values of quality, integrity, 
reliability and innovation which ensure we deliver the highest level 
of customer service. We value efficiency, safety and diversity in our 
workplaces. We value the leadership and learning that develops our 
people and our businesses.

Shareholder Return Performance
Over the past 10 years, an investment in the Company’s shares 
has achieved an average annual rate of return of 33.8 per cent, 
outperforming the benchmark S&P/ASX 100 Index’s return of 10.4 
per cent over the same period [assumes that all dividends paid 
have been reinvested in ALQ shares (previous ASX code: CPB)].

In September 2011, the Company was included in the S&P/ASX 
100 Index.

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) is one of the world’s largest and most diversified testing 
services providers. We are the global benchmark for quality and integrity, and have built our reputation on 
quality, client service, innovation, and technical excellence.

Total Shareholder Return - ALQ v All Ords & ASX100

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

M
ar

-0
3

Se
p-

03

M
ar

-0
4

Se
p-

04

M
ar

-0
5

Se
p-

05

M
ar

-0
6

Se
p-

06

M
ar

-0
7

Se
p-

07

M
ar

-0
8

Se
p-

08

M
ar

-0
9

Se
p-

09

M
ar

-1
0

Se
p-

10

M
ar

-1
1

Se
p-

11

M
ar

-1
2

Se
p-

12

B
as

e 
= 

10
0

ALQ Total Shareholder Return

All Ordinaries Accumulation Index

ASX 100 Accumulation Index



2   |	   ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Global Operations
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Business Divisions

ALS comprises four global business divisions 
which operate across Australia, Asia, the Pacific, 
North and South America, Africa and Europe, 
and a hospitality supplies business operating in 
Australia. 

These business divisions provide a range of services and products 
tailored to the demands of their respective markets.

ALS Minerals
ALS Minerals is the leading full-service provider of testing 
services for the global mining industry in four key service areas: 
Geochemistry, Metallurgy, Mine Site Services and Inspection. Its 
services cover the entire resource life-cycle from exploration, 
feasibility, production, design, development through to trade, and 
finally rehabilitation.

ALS Life Sciences
ALS Life Sciences is comprised of four primary analytical testing 
areas: Environmental, Food and Pharmaceutical, Electronics, and 
Animal Health. It is the leader in global, comprehensive analytical 
testing services demonstrating expertise in microbiological, 
physical and chemical testing services.

ALS Energy 
ALS Energy delivers quality technical solutions to the coal, oil 
and gas industries through an expansive range of analysis and 
certification testing services supporting exploration, production 
and cargo shipment. It has two operating businesses servicing 
the energy sector: ALS Coal Services and ALS Oil & Gas Services.

ALS Industrial
ALS Industrial is a leading provider of diagnostic testing and 
engineering solutions for the energy, resources, transportation 
and infrastructure sectors. It is made up of two complementary 
business streams: Asset Care and Tribology.

Reward Distribution
Reward Distribution operates throughout Australia, providing a 
range of products and services tailored to the hospitality, mining 
and healthcare markets.

2009
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2011
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2013

2000 4000 6000 8000 10000 12000

6,277

7,570

8,936

12,101

12,605

People

Group employee numbers 
(as at 31 March)
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Financial Highlights
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Revenue UP 7% to $1.5 billion
Underlying profit UP 7% to $237.9 million
Underlying earnings per share UP 5 % to 69.53 cents 

Sales revenue ($m) Underlying Profit after Tax 
($m)

Underlying Earnings per 
share (cents)

Dividends paid per share 
(cents)
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Year at a glance

as at 31 March 2013 2012

Revenue ($m) 1,499.3 1,405.6

Underlying profit^ after tax ($m) (before unusual items) 
attributable to members

237.9 222.4

Less: Unusual items (Net of tax) ($m) (10.6) -

Net profit for the period attributable to members ($m) 227.3 222.4

Share capital ($m) 667.9 610.4

Total equity ($m) 997.1 930.2

Underlying Earnings per share^ 
(attributable to members) (cents)*

69.53 65.90

Dividends per share (cents)* 48.0 45.0

Net tangible asset backing per share (cents)* 55.92 48.16

Gearing ratio (net debt/(net debt + total equity) ( %) 29.3 28.5

Interest cover (times) 17.3 21.0

^ Underlying profit and underlying earnings per share are non-IFRS disclosures and have been presented to 
assist in the assessment of the relevant performance of the Group from year to year.

*	Prior year restated for 5 for 1 share split in August 2012 

Dividends
The Company will pay a final, partly-franked 
(50%) dividend for 2013 of 27 cents per share 
(2012: 26 cents) at the 30% tax rate (2012: 
30%). The total dividend for the year will be 
48 cents (2012: 45 cents).



	 ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013   |   5

Financial Highlights

Revenue
Total revenue for the consolidated Group was $1.499 billion for 
2013, a 6.7% increase on the $1.406 billion recorded in 2012. 

The revenue generated by each Business Division was as follows:

Business Division 2013 ($m) 2012 ($m) Change %

ALS Minerals 608.4 591.3 +2.9

ALS Life Sciences 454.4 360.7 +26.0

ALS Energy 105.0 87.8 +19.6

ALS Industrial 168.6 152.5 +10.6

Reward Distribution 119.2 123.2 -3.2

Campbell Chemicals^ 43.7 90.1 -51.5

 ^ Discontinued division – remaining businesses sold in Sept 2012

 
 
 
Profit
Consolidated net profit after tax, attributable to equity holders of 
the Company, was $227.3 million for 2013, an increase of 2.2% on 
the $222.4 million achieved in 2012.

The profit contribution from ordinary activities, before interest, tax 
and corporate overheads for each Business Division was as follows:

Business Division 2013 ($m) 2012 ($m) Change %

ALS Minerals 211.3 214.7 -1.6

ALS Life Sciences 89.3 78.1 +14.3

ALS Energy 32.6 23.7 +37.6

ALS Industrial 30.6 24.5 +24.9

Reward Distribution 0.9 3.7 -75.7

Campbell Chemicals^ 3.8 8.2 -53.1

^ Discontinued division – remaining businesses sold in Sept 2012

Total dividend for the 
year UP 6.7% to 
48 cents per share
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ALS has been successful 
in reducing the company’s 
duration rate in the 
reporting year by 30%.

ALS Industrial 
technicians based on 
ESSO contract sites 
reached the milestone 
of 1,000,000 man 
hours LTI free at the 
end of December 2012.
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Health and Safety Performance 
The most commonly used method to measure health and safety 
performance is the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) which 
measures the number of Lost Time Injuries (LTI’s)* per million hours 
of work (reported as per Australian Standard AS 1885.1 Workplace 
Injury and Disease Recording Standard).

*LTI is a work injury that results in an inability to work for at least one full day or 

shift any time after the day or shift in which the injury occurred. 

The Company, in its effort to minimizing harm to workers, has 
set itself high standards in relation to reducing the LTIFR. In the 
2012/13 year ALS reduced its LTIFR by over 20% to a result of 
2.3. This places ALS in the best performing quartile of ASX listed 
companies as reported by Citi Investment Research and Analysis in 
their report, “Citi Investment Research and Analysis Safety Spotlight: 
ASX 100 Companies & More (January 2012)”.^

In measuring safety performance, we look at a number of metrics 
to provide the most representative picture of the Company. Injury 
duration rate can be used as a measure of harm associated with 
incidents, measured by the number of days off divided by the 
number of incidents. ALS has been successful in reducing the 
Company’s duration rate in the reporting year by 30%. It is also 
pleasing to note that the rate as at 31 March 2013 of 11.4 is 
substantially less than the average rate of 34.8 reported in the Citi 
Investment & Research Report. 

A number of ALS businesses have displayed exemplary performance 
throughout 2012/13. One team from ALS Industrial in Australia 
where ALS technicians are based on ESSO contract sites reached the 
milestone of 1,000,000 man hours LTI free at the end of December 
2012. This is an outstanding effort achieved through the support 
of Esso and its systems and initiatives with “safety first in all we 
do”. This effort has contributed to impressive statistics at the 3 Esso 
facilities (as at 28/03/2013):

•	 Longford Oil & Gas site LTI free for 10 years

•	 Offshore Oil & Gas Platforms LTI free for 13 years

•	 Long Island Point Hastings Oils & Gas site LTI free for 26 years.

Also noteworthy of recognition was the team from ALS Life Sciences 
Indonesia who received an award from Chevron for working the 
entire year on their site without one recorded incident.

Shifting Focus – Lag to Lead Indicators
Without diminishing the importance of measuring lost time injuries 
and other incidents ALS acknowledges that these measures are 
reactive and only tell the Company about outcomes not processes. 
To provide a greater balance to the safety performance picture ALS 
has developed and implemented a suite of positive performance 
indicators. These are seen as lead indicators of the safety system. 
Managers are measured on the implementation of these positive 
measures and are held accountable. At the conclusion of the year 
all managers allocated with responsibility for positive performance 
indicators achieved their target of a PPI score of 80% or greater. 

Key metrics of the PPI scorecard achieved in the year were:

•	 97% close out of incident report corrective actions across all 
divisions

•	 100% of all new employees received safety induction training

•	 99% close out of corrective actions raised in annual compliance 
sign-offs.

Back to Basics
During the year ALS developed and launched a “Back to Basics” 
safety initiative. The concept of this campaign was to emphasize 
that getting the simple safety things right 100% of the time is 
critical in reducing harm. The focus was on making safety a part 
of everyone’s normal duties and not seen as an add-on or extra 
activity. In that way safety will become a part of ALS culture or “how 
we do things around here”. 

Safety Leadership 
From the foundation laid in the Back to Basics campaign a safety 
leadership program was developed during the year to help 
supervisors and managers understand how best to embed a safety 
culture within their work teams. The training program focused on 
providing supervisors and managers with best practice examples of 
behaviours which demonstrate safety leadership and drive change 
in the workplace.

Health and Safety 
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Our People

The addition of the staff from seven new companies acquired 
during the year added richness to the ALS culture. Key managers 
and staff participated in a range of programs to ensure that the ALS 
values and standards were quickly disseminated and also ensuring 
our new team members felt comfortable and engaged as soon as 
possible.

Diversity 
The directors worked closely during the year with the Managing 
Director and Group Organisational Development Manager to further 
raise the profile of Diversity awareness. Female participation at the 
Board level was enhanced when, effective 31 July 2012, Nerolie 
Withnall was appointed to Chairman. Diversity related activities 
continued to be monitored by our Remuneration Committee during 
the year and progress was made as follows.

Gender Balance

Female Participation 2013* 2012#

Female Directors (female Chairman) 14.28% 12.5%

Female Executive Management Employees 22.4% 23.7%

Female Senior Management Employees 32.6% 31.9%

Professional Women Within The Workforce 48.8% 43.2%

Total Female Employees 40.2% 37.8%

* As at 1 March 2013
# As at 1 March 2012

ALS has a strongly entrenched policy of promoting from within. 
We also have very low turnover in our management and executive 
teams. In addition, many of our current executives are former senior 
managers or owners of businesses we have acquired. Our policy 
of retaining talent obtained through acquisitions will continue into 
the future but will consequently constrain our ability to dictate the 
gender of management teams.

Accordingly in order for the gender balance to change significantly at 
the top management levels, the key avenue open to us is to recruit 
more females at the professional level. Our internal development 
and succession practices will then, over time, move more females 
into leadership roles. Our strategy therefore is founded on these core 
principles.

Recruitment

2012-13 FY Goal: Recruitment – understand percentages of females 
employed at professional level in order to increase numbers of 
qualified females recruited. 

Results: Analysis of Australian recruitment data indicated that we 
employed 43% of the females that applied for vacant positions 
compared to only 25% of the male applicants. This demonstrated 
that, during the year, females are being employed in a greater ratio 
than males. 

Our candidate pool over the same period demonstrated a ratio 
overall of one female to 1.5 males applications received. Within our 
traditionally male industries (Minerals and Mining segments) the 
applicant ratio was one female to two male applications. 

We will continue to monitor our recruitment performance to ensure 
that this approach yields further qualified female employees, 
particularly at the professional level.

2013-14 FY Goal: Recruitment – Increase the percentage of females 
employed at the professional level to achieve 50% of our total 
workforce as females.

ALS Limited’s Diversity 
programs analysis 
demonstrated the positive 
outcomes of our long held 
belief in the value 
of inclusion. 
The three key areas of female talent 
acquisition and development, and gender 
pay equity were the focus for the year - 
improvements for each of these areas are 
now embedded in the company’s policy, 
culture and processes. An important goal in 
2012-13, which will continue into the future, 
was recruiting and preparing talented female 
professionals for higher roles – we expect 
this strategy will also assist in sustaining 
Company performance over time.
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Leadership Development

2012-13 FY Goal: Executive Leadership Development Programs- 
Match participation level to actual percentages of males and females 
employed at executive level.

Results: In 2012 our Executive Leadership Development Program 
(known as the EPC) contained 29% female participation. Currently 
76% of executives are male with 24% female thus; female 
participation exceeded the percentage of female executives.

In 2013 we saw the percentage of female participation decreased 
slightly in comparison to the actual percentage of female executives. 
Analysis demonstrated that the level fell as most of the females 
interested in and suitable for participation were currently included 
in the EPC program (or have already completed it). Thus further 
improvement at this level is unlikely for the foreseeable future and 
the focus will need to be at the lower levels of management.

Executive Participation 1 Mar 13 1 Mar 12

EPC Participants Male 163 146

EPC Participants Female 53 60

EPC Participants Male % 75% 71%

EPC Participants Female % 25% 29%

Total Executives Male % 78% 76%

Total Executives Female % 22% 24%

2012-13 FY Goal: Emerging/Mid-level Leadership Development 
Programs (known as the BLPs) - Match participation in the BLPs to 
actual percentage of males to females employed at professional 
and manager level. 

Results: Our programs in 2012 contained 202 male and 201 
female participants. The table below draws from the Manager 
and Professional classifications and shows that in both female 
participation is disproportionately larger than male participation in 
our BLPs.

In 2013 progress was made in that our programs contained 12% 
more female than male participants. The table below confirms that 
female participation is again disproportionately larger than male 
participation in our BLPs. 

Management Participation 1 Mar 13 1 Mar 12

BLP Participants Male 100 202

BLP Participants Female 112 201

BLP Participants Male % 47% 50%

BLP Participants Female % 53% 50%

Total Managers Male % 67% 68%

Total Managers Female % 33% 32%

Total Professionals Male % 51% 57%

Total Professionals Female % 49% 43%

In February 2013 a new global program was launched that will 
replace a number of existing programs at this level with one new 
consistent framework for developing mid level management 
and leadership competencies. iLEAD (Leadership Enablement & 
Development) targets all emerging and current mid-level leaders 
globally. The program is currently available in English, Spanish and 
French but further languages versions are planned. 

2013-14 FY Goal: Entrench iLEAD within the company globally 
with a view to increasing female participation in leadership 
development. With this new program the outlook for future 
participation in the EPC and therefore future female executives is 
very positive.

Pay Equity

2012-13 FY Goal: Remuneration equity for male/female peers at 
the same level of experience and contribution. 

Results: During the year our Board & Executive Remuneration Policy 
was updated to be more explicit in terms of gender pay equity.

Gender pay equity has been an integral aspect of our annual 
remuneration review process for many years. However, during the 
year policy, process and system improvements have enabled us 
to begin the task of micro-analysis so that we may verify that we 
have achieved global gender pay equity. 

Increased transparency was achieved by a new bespoke global 
position grading and job sizing program which was implemented 
this year. The grading program delivers better classification and 
subsequent remuneration comparison. Designed to accelerate the 
Hay Job Evaluation process used for executive roles, the framework 
allows us to draw accurate comparisons across professional and 
management level roles. Operational roles are already covered 
under laboratory agreement or other award classifications 
programs.

2013-14 FY Goal: Continue annual factual verification of 
remuneration equity for male/female peers at the same level of 
experience and contribution across all global jurisdictions. 

Culture of Inclusion

Our Company magazine – globALScene - extended its global reach 
by adding two new languages during the year. It is now available 
in 8 languages. Our core learning programs including our global 
online Induction (6 languages) are also undergoing a program of 
translation into additional languages.

Policy & Reporting

Our Diversity Policy, implemented in 2011 is available on the 
Corporate Governance section of our website as is our Workplace 
Gender Equity Report for 2012-13.

Welcoming New Team Members
This year we again experienced the challenge of integrating new 
team members from the year’s acquisitions. 

The purchase of Advanced Micro Services (Ireland), Analytical 
Solutions (Brazil), Artek (Turkey), Corplab (Argentina, Brazil, Peru, 
Ecuador), Eclipse Scientific (UK), Milana (Denmark) and Severn Trent 
(UK) and the merging of those teams with existing ALS employees 
provided many opportunities for the Organisational Development 
function.

A range of integration tools have been prepared and refined 
that allow us to readily assimilate our new team members 
and have them feeling both comfortable and engaged quickly. 
Examples include the use of the EPC program to introduce new 
senior managers to their peers across the ALS group within their 
geographic region and to experience the unique ALS culture first 
hand. Our global online inductions and employee handbooks are 
other examples.

Communication is the key to our success in acquisition integration 
and our tools focus efforts heavily in this area with multiple media 
being utilised. The messages from our Code of Conduct and Core 
Values are paramount in this process. Sharing knowledge and best 
practices from both directions is also a feature of the early activities 
in the integration programs.

Our People
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Year in Review

Financial Result
Underlying net profit* after tax (attributable to equity holders of the 
Company and excluding unusual items) was $237.9 million for the 
year in line with guidance provided to the market. The result was 
up 7.0% on the previous year and was generated from revenue of 
$1,499.3 million (up 6.7% on the year to March 2012). 

Net profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the Company 
including unusual items was $227.3 million. Unusual items 
contributed a net loss after income tax of $10.6 million and relate 
to the divestment of the remaining businesses in the Campbell 
Chemicals division and write down of goodwill in the Reward 
Distribution segment.
*	Underlying net profit is a non-IFRS disclosure. It includes the results from 

operating activites of discontinued operations and excludes unusual items and 
has been presented to assist in the assessment of the relative performance of 
the Group from year to year.

Divisional Performance
All divisions within the ALS testing services business generated 
higher levels of revenue than the previous year. This translated into 
improved contribution margins for ALS Energy and ALS Industrial, 
whilst ALS Minerals and ALS Life Sciences experienced slight 
contractions in margin.

Despite flat sample flows into the geochemical laboratories, cost 
overruns in the Australian metallurgical business and restructuring 
costs in the European inspection business, the Minerals Division 
performed well to maintain full year EBIT margin of close to 
35% compared to 36.3% the previous year. The Australian coal 
business, Asian and Australian environmental businesses, Canadian 
metallurgical business and the global tribology businesses also had 
outstanding full year performances.

The Life Sciences Division’s margin was impacted by integration costs 
of acquisitions and a higher weighting of revenue to the northern 
hemisphere which is heavily impacted by the winter months.

Operating profit margins increased in the Energy and Industrial 
divisions as a result of higher work volumes in the coal laboratories 
and improved cost controls in the North American tribology 
laboratories. 

ALS Minerals division experienced softening market conditions 
across its business streams during the second half of the financial 
year as global exploration activity and mine development slowed. 
Global sample flow into the Company’s geochemical laboratories 
was 2% less than in the previous year. Samples flows in the second 
half were down 18% compared to the second half of the previous 
year, as a result of a traditional off-season this year and a decline 

in overall market activity. The resulting tightening in contribution 
margin was closely monitored and controlled by an effective cost 
management program. The South American and European regions 
of the ALS Geochemistry stream produced strong revenue and 
earnings growth, benefiting from recent capital expenditure on 
facilities and equipment. ALS Metallurgy’s North American region 
also performed well growing its revenue and contribution in 
challenging conditions.

ALS Life Sciences division delivered solid revenue improvement 
in all regions during the year. This was driven by a combination of 
increased market share in most territories and strategic acquisitions 
in Europe and Latin America. Acquisition integration expenses and 
cost pressures associated with the prolonged northern hemisphere 
winter led to a mild contraction in the division’s contribution margin.

ALS Energy division experienced strong organic growth in all 
regions which resulted in significant revenue and contribution gains 
during the financial year. In Australia, the coal business grew its 
market share and in second half of the year negotiated challenging 
market conditions that required a keen focus on both client 
service and cost management. These initiatives together with new 
project work in South Africa and Canada drove improved margin 
performance during the year.

ALS Industrial division reported revenue and contribution gains 
during the year in both the Asset Care and Tribology business units. 
Asset Care revenue growth was primarily driven by a number of 
large outage programs for long-term clients in the oil and gas, 
process and power generation industries. The Tribology business 
delivered solid revenue growth which resulted in improved margins. 
With competitive markets in North America and Australia, Tribology 
performed well at both improving market share and containing costs.

The Reward Distribution hospitality supplies business experienced 
difficult trading conditions in its key tourism and hospitality markets 
and delivered disappointing results with lower levels of revenue 
and contribution margin.

The remaining Campbell Chemicals Division businesses, Panamex 
and Deltrex Chemicals, were divested in September 2012.

The Company achieved a record financial result for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 in very challenging market conditions.

Divisional 
Revenue 

%

Divisional 
Profit 

%

	 Minerals  Life Sciences  Energy  Industrial  Reward/Chemical
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Shareholder Returns
The Company’s performance has increased shareholder returns for 
the year, with underlying earnings per share* increasing 5.5% to 
69.53 per share (up from 65.90 per share last year), on a post-share 
split basis.

*	 Underlying earnings per share is a non-IFRS disclosure. It includes the results from 
operating activites of discontinued operations and excludes unusual items and 
has been presented to assist in the assessment of the relative performance of the 
Group from year to year.

The Company’s dividend reinvestment plan will operate for the final 
2013 dividend at a 5.0% discount to the volume weighted average 
price of the Company’s shares over the 5 trading days following the 
record date.

Strategy
During the financial year, the Company continued its strategy of 
business expansion and diversification in testing and inspection 
services. The Company made further progress in building its non-
minerals businesses, as well as making significant progress in 
further diversifying its geographical base.

Specifically, the Group undertook the following major acquisitions:

•	 Eclipse Scientific Group, a food, dairy, water and pharmaceutical 
testing business servicing England and Ireland (acquired April 
2012). The acquisition gives ALS a leading position on the British 
food testing market.

•	 Milana A/S, a provider of a broad range of analytical testing 
services to the Danish environmental market (acquired July 
2012); 

•	 An 80% holding in the Corplab environmental testing group 
in Latin America with operations in Peru, Brazil, Argentina and 
Ecuador (acquired December 2012).

Other acquisitions made were: 

•	 Severn Trent Analytical Services, providing a leading market 
position in the provision of analytical services to water 
authorities in the UK;

•	 Analytical Solutions, provider of environmental testing services 
in Brazil; and

•	 Artek, leader in the provision of environmental analysis and 
sampling in Turkey.

ALS’s target is to reach A$2 billion in revenue in FY2017 based on 
becoming more diversified and gaining market share in the global 
testing, inspection and certification markets via further acquisitions 

in the Oil & Gas and Life Sciences sectors, organic growth via 
entering new geographies and a progressive increase in service 
offering. 

Outlook for 2013/14
It is expected that the acquisitions finalised during the financial 
year will contribute strongly to the Company’s result in the 2013/14 
financial year.

The Company expects to see growth in its environmental business 
across all regions with perhaps the exception of Australia. Growth 
is expected to be strongest in Asia and the USA. Further significant 
growth is also expected in the global food laboratories; both 
organically and via acquisitions.

The Industrial Division will see organic growth across the Tribology 
laboratories and margin improvement in the Asset Care businesses.

The ALS coal business, which is predominantly Australian-based, 
will likely come under considerable cost pressures. Whilst export 
tons are likely to increase, the Company expects to see a sharp 
reduction in both exploration and pre-production drilling, with 
conditions not expected to improve in the near future. The Energy 
Division’s focus will be on laboratory rationalisation, cost cutting, 
and productivity improvements to ensure EBIT margins are 
maintained above 20%.

The Company expects to see an improved performance from the 
Metallurgy and Inspection businesses in a flat market, due to 
the benefits from cost cutting measures implemented during the 
2012/13 year and the commissioning of the new metallurgical 
facility in Chile and the Iron Ore Technical Centre in Perth. As 
the global exploration industry moves further into a cyclical 
downturn, most pronounced in North America, sample flows into 
the Company’s geochemical laboratories will continue to decline 
through the year. However, ALS’ strict adherence to its “hub and 
spoke” model through the up cycle of the last decade will provide 
flexibility in maintaining margins and will create market share gain 
opportunities as was seen in the cyclical downturns in 1991, 1998 
and more recently during the GFC in 2008.

The 2013/14 year will see the Company aggressively pursue its 
longer term diversification strategy whilst reducing CAPEX in its 
traditional businesses. The operating focus will be on cost controls, 
productivity, and maintaining margin.

The investment in diversified industry sectors and new facilities 
over the last ten years has strongly positioned the Company and 
the Board remains positive about the prospects for earnings growth 
in the medium and longer term.

Directors have declared a final partly franked (50%) dividend for the year of 27 cents per share on a post-
share split basis (2012: 26 cents partly franked on a post-share split basis) bringing the total partly franked 
(50%) dividend for the year to 48 cents per share (2012: 45 cents partly franked). 
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The ALS Minerals Division 
provides an extensive service 
offering to the resources sector 
via the provision of world class 
Geochemical & Metallurgical 
Testing, Inspection Services, and 
Mine Site laboratory solutions. 

2013
$m

2012 
$m

Increase/ 
(Decrease)

Revenue 608.4 591.3 2.9%

Segment contribution 211.3 214.7 (1.6%)

Margin (segment contribution to revenue) 34.7% 36.3%
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Geochemistry
The strong start to the year was followed by a slower second half 
as a result of global market softening. The contrast from ‘expansion 
phase’ to ‘control phase’ midyear introduced challenges for the 
business. South America and Europe were standout performers in 
terms of EBIT growth, leveraging the investment decisions made 
in the rising market. Robust profit margins prevailed across the 
regions as a result of excellent cost base management.

All non-financial metrics showed marked improvement (Quality, 
Safety, Service Turnaround Times, and Client Satisfaction).
Momentum continued with expansion initiatives as 12 new 
laboratories were added to the network and major expansions were 
completed in Lima (Peru) and Reno (USA). Opened in November 
2012, the Johannesburg laboratory is the largest and best equipped 
geochemistry facility in all of Africa.

Technical leadership, evident via strategic alliance announcements 
with web based data and mapping analysis specialists Maptek and 
Micromine to add to the existing alliance with Leapfrog, further 
complementing the industry leading CoreViewerTM offering in 
WebtreiveTM. 

A new Mine Site Group was built to specifically focus on term 
contracts, on-site work, and downstream opportunities. The 
group had immediate success securing a long term contractual 
engagement in North Africa with a global miner, Kinross. This Mine 
Site Group has established a credible pipeline of significant projects 
with expectations of further success in FY2014.

Metallurgy
In a similar trend to the Geochemistry Group, slower conditions 
were experienced in the second half. Cost base management 
minimized the impact of the market conditions. The North American 
(Kamloops) business proved most resilient and maintained strong 
growth for the full year.

The Group built and commissioned a world first Iron Ore Technical 
Centre in the Perth suburb of Wangara. With a 7,000m2 footprint, the 
Iron Ore Technical Centre uniquely combines the service offerings 
of advanced metallurgy specific to the iron ore sector and analytical 
capabilities with scalable capacity to 10,000 samples per day. The 
site houses expanded hematite and magnetite sections along with 
new beneficiation pilot facilities and state of the art automated 
fusion/TGA units for preparing samples for XRF analyses. Further 
technical services will be added to this facility in coming years.

A new 2,500m2 metallurgical laboratory was constructed as part of 
the Santiago (Chile) Mineral Services Centre with overall under roof 
footprint of 6,000m2 and is nearing completion. Commissioning of 
the metallurgy laboratory will be completed in June 2013.

At the Perth hub facility a new ambient temperature Acid Leach 
(AL) pilot plant was commissioned; both the Heavy Liquid 
Separation (HLS) business and Gold department were relocated and 
expanded; the comminution section was expanded; and two new 
QEMSCAN automatic mineralogy analyzers and a new XRD were 
installed and commissioned.

The Adelaide metallurgy laboratory facility was expanded from 
900m2 to approximately 2,000m2 with inclusion of upgraded 
comminution and new hydrometallurgy capabilities. This 
Adelaide facility is part of the combined ALS geochemistry and 
environmental technical centre. 

A major expansion of the existing metallurgical facility at Kamloops 
was completed at the commencement of the year. The expansion 
involved renovation of the old unused assay laboratory area into 
a new mineralogy laboratory and to accommodate a new XRD. In 
addition to this, an adjacent property purchase will permit further 
expansion in the FY2014.

The Division completed the integration of the Inspection Services Group and launched a new focused Mine Site 
Services Group in 2012/13. With over 100 branch locations and 4,000 staff globally the ALS Minerals Division 
provides sector leading service coverage in terms of scope, expertise and geography. 
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Inspection
The Inspection Group returned a much improved financial 
performance in 2012/13. Inspection Group revenue was up 
27 percent and margins were improved. Definitive action and 
rationalization undertaken in underperforming Continental European 
and Sub Saharan African businesses produced a more streamlined 
and robust Inspection Group.

The UK operation continued as the standout performer in the group. 
This operation acts as the technical, analytical and administrative 
hub for the global Inspection business. As a result of rationalization 
in Continental Europe, back office, finance, QHSE, support services, 
management and business development functions formerly from 
within a European management structure were centralized within 
the UK operation. The UK business was restructured and the 
management team strengthened with a focus on creating a strong 
growth platform. Restructure objectives were to facilitate premium 
technical and customer services, and develop a young and dynamic 
team to secure succession and growth opportunities. 

The UK hub laboratory continued to operate as a world class facility 
and performed extremely well, processing record sample numbers 
underpinned by a combination of a strong technical performance, 
competitive turnaround times, and proactive, targeted business 
development activity.

A stand-alone precious metals team created to focus and take 
advantage of buoyant market conditions resulted in a significant 
increase in test work received from global mining and smelter 
customers requiring gold bullion and gold dore´analysis. 

A formal Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) was executed with the 
Chinese government to create an inspection business in Tianjin.

Rebranding from Stewart Inspection and Analysis (SIA) to ALS 
Inspection was completed in October 2012. The ALS Inspection 
brand is now fully accepted within (party/umpire) inspection 
markets with customers fully embracing the changes.

Outlook FY2014
Geochemistry

Exploration expenditure is expected to remain under pressure for 
much of FY2014. The Geochemistry Group’s extensive client portfolio 
of Major and Intermediate Miners, Mine Site and Brownfields 
operations and new focus on Mine Site Services is expected to buffer 
the impact of lower activity levels from Junior Explorers. 

Competition in the sector has increased as a result of slower market 
activity, placing some pressure on pricing. ALS’ track record of 
excellent cost base management, continued delivery of technology 
led solutions, and value based marketing will secure market 
leadership and market share growth. 

Although capacity will not drive the business for at least the next 12 
months, expansion projects will be completed in Santiago (Chile), 
Ouagadougou (Burkina Faso, West Africa) and Loughrea (Ireland). Post 
commissioning of these new major facilities, ALS’unrivalled global 
coverage of strategically placed hubs, together with a network of 
spoke facilities varying from locally placed preparation laboratories, to 
‘select service’ mini hubs will be further strengthened. 

Metallurgy

Market conditions are expected to remain challenging with clients 
focused on cost base management and/or resorting to project 
rescheduling. Process optimization/cost base management, service 
excellence, technology leadership, and new offerings out of the 
Perth Iron Ore Technical Centre and the Santiago Mineral Services 
Centre are expected to secure market share growth. 

The Santiago Metallurgy laboratory – part of the Minerals Service 
Centre - will be commissioned in June 2013. This facility will offer 
specialist expertise to the robust Latin American copper and gold 
sectors. The centre will be expanded to include Mineralogical (MLA/
QEMSCAN/XRD) and piloting services in response to local market 
demand.

The Iron Ore Technical Centre will provide unrivalled beneficiation 
capabilities for both iron ore and mineral sands. 

The relocation of some existing capabilities to the Iron Ore Technical 
Centre will provide the opportunity to install High Pressure Acid 
Leach (HPAL) piloting capabilities on site at the Perth facility – a 
further market differentiator. The reconfigured work area will also 
be used to enhance sample archival/logistic capabilities, and 
expand the sample preparation allocation, thereby reducing sample 
processing time. 

Inspection

FY2014 will be characterised as a transition from the former 
emphasis on rationalisation and repair, to one of growth. Greater 
attention will be directed to developing regions of the world which 
demonstrate stronger economic performance and activity (e.g. 
China & South America).

The Minerals Division focus is on process optimisation and technical innovation, and strives to transfer value to 
its client base. There is a strong emphasis on the development of techniques and methodologies that provide 
innovative services to clients, enhance deliverables, and control the cost base. 
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ALS Minerals services cover the entire resource life-cycle 
from exploration, feasibility, production, design, development 
through to trade, and finally rehabilitation.
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ALS Life Sciences is 
comprised of four 
primary businesses: 
Environmental, 
Food and Pharmaceutical, 
Electronics and 
Animal Health. 

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 454.4 360.7 26.0%

Segment contribution 89.3 78.1 14.3%

Margin (segment contribution to revenue) 19.7% 21.7%
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Global Performance
ALS Life Sciences further improved its market leadership position 
globally and delivered strong revenue and EBIT across all regions.

2012/13 was a record financial year for the Division, with the 
business growing 26% in revenue and 14% in EBIT.

During the year, the division successfully completed the following 
acquisitions:

•	 Eclipse Scientific Group in the UK and Ireland

•	 Artek in Turkey

•	 Milana Laboratory Group in Denmark

•	 Corplab Group in Latin America

•	 Analytical Solutions in Brazil

•	 Severn Trent Laboratories in the UK

Performance from the businesses is as follows:

Environmental
In Australia, revenue was up 8% on last year albeit much of 
that in a very strong first quarter due to heavy seasonal rains 
on the east coast. The majority of the growth occurred in the 
traditional compliance monitoring business, as well as in Material 
and Technical Services. The Sydney hub laboratory underwent 
a significant refurbishment to add capacity, and the Brisbane 
operation relocated into a new Company-owned purpose built 
2,200 square metre laboratory.

The Asian Life Sciences business delivered a strong financial 
result for the 2012/13 financial year, demonstrating 19% organic 
revenue growth and strong EBIT growth. Strong growth was 
seen in Thailand, China, Hong Kong and Indonesia due to total 
market growth, market share growth, and increasing operational 
disciplines. The Taiwan business also demonstrated revenue growth 
although was significantly impacted by market developments over 
the final quarter.

The financial results for the European Environmental businesses 
were a positive compared to the previous year due to very 
rigid cost controls put in place over the latter six months of the 
year, especially in the Nordic region. Acquisitions in the region 
contributed to performance in line with expectations.

In mainland Europe, overall revenue and EBIT were strong, including 
contributions from the Turkish acquisition and in Portugal and the 
Czech Republic. 

The business in the United Kingdom and Ireland was boosted 
by the acquisition of Severn Trent in January 2013. The entry into 
the UK Water Market sector will continue to enhance our market 
position in the future.

With our expansive worldwide footprint, ALS Life Sciences is the leader in global, comprehensive analytical 
testing services. We are experts in microbiological, physical and chemical testing services. 

Our industry-leading technical expertise, performance 
excellence and dedication to customer service make us the most 
reliable and trusted analytical service provider in the world.
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Environmental continued

The acquisition of the Corplab Group and Analytical Solutions were 
positive for the division and there is a strong demand for our 
services across South America. This business is the largest provider 
of environmental analytical services in the region and further 
expansion plans are in progress.

The North American business ended the year below expectations 
due to poor economic conditions, especially in the USA. Strong 
cost management led to a good EBIT performance. The business in 
Canada continued to perform well especially in British Columbia and 
Ontario.

Food and Pharmaceutical
The Australian Food and Pharmaceutical business consolidated 
from four antiquated laboratories to two new laboratories; one 
in Sydney and one in Melbourne. A facility will be operational in 
Brisbane during the new financial year to provide full coverage 
along the eastern seaboard.

The acquisition of the Eclipse Group in the United Kingdom 
and Ireland had a positive impact on the business. UK revenue 
reflected a continuing strong performance in contaminants test 
work undertaken due to the high levels of meat speciation testing. 
Pharmaceutical sample volumes were higher over the latter 
months of the financial year due to an increase in volumes from a 
competitor following a fire at their facility. 

Outlook
There are many challenges ahead for the Division in 2013/14 but 
we are confident that our business strategy will navigate us through 
the year with positive results. 

Our primary focus this coming financial year is productivity 
improvements, exceptional service delivery to our clients and 
business development to improve our market share. We also 
anticipate further acquisition activity in several countries. The 
division plans to add new facilities to organically expand its global 
footprint.

The Division employs over 4,000 staff and has a worldwide footprint of over 80 laboratories, offices and 
service centres.

We expect to see a recovery in the USA market and strong growth in 
South America and Asia. Further significant development in building 
a global food analytical business is in progress.



	 ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013   |   19



20   |	  ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013

The Energy Division of 
ALS is the world leader 

in coal sampling, quality 
testing, shipping and 
certification services.

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 105.0 87.8 19.6%

Segment contribution 32.6 23.7 37.6%

Margin (segment contribution to revenue) 31.1% 27.0%
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Performance for 2012/13
The Energy Division enjoyed its sixth straight year of record financial 
results.

The result was fuelled entirely by organic growth, with the 
Division’s revenue and EBIT for the year growing by 19% and 37% 
respectively, outperforming the underlying energy market and all 
ALS’ competitors. 

The Division’s return on sales margin grew by 410 bps to 31%, 
in a year that saw a very challenging second half that required 
exceptional cost-management awareness. The excellent result was 
testament to the resolve of the entire Energy team in maintaining 
strategic focus with a passion, quickly adapting to change, 
identifying and embracing cost reduction initiatives and finding 
ways to uncompromisingly do things better in servicing clients in a 
volatile market.

All regions substantially outperformed the previous year’s EBIT 
performance: Africa by 23%, Australia by 33%, Asia by 51% and 
North America by 100%.

Outlook
The 2013/14 year is likely to present numerous challenges to the 
Energy Division team. Earnings pressure for clients will continue 
to be a challenge for the coal business with further cost-cutting 
measures and service industry price pressure to be expected. The 
combination of softening demand for coal and the likelihood of 
prevailing strong exchange rates will mean producers will have no 
choice but to continue their campaign of cost cutting.

Low cost, on-site laboratory solutions will be a focus for 2013/14, 
with the Division already delivering several of these operations for 
clients in Australia and Mongolia. 

While acknowledging intensifying price competition, ALS Energy 
anticipates that there will be opportunities to participate in 
tenders for work programs that were previously held long-term by 
competitors. 

Having enjoyed a long and successful run based on organic growth, 
acquisitions in both coal and oil & gas services will be imperative 
for the Energy Division to maintain its growth record.

Continuing with its culture of uncompromised customer focus and value for money, ALS Energy aims to provide 
a comprehensive range of data acquisition and information management services to the conventional and 
unconventional oil and gas industries. 

ALS Energy has the expertise, equipment, laboratory capacity 
and desire to deliver quality outcomes for our clients.

Energy 
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ALS Industrial is a leading 
provider of diagnostic 
testing and engineering 
solutions for the energy, 
resources, transportation 
and infrastructure sectors.

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 168.6 152.5 10.6%

Segment contribution 30.6 24.5 24.9%

Margin (segment contribution to revenue) 18.1% 16.0%
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Performance for 2012/13
The Industrial Division delivered solid growth in revenue and EBIT in 
all regions during 2012/13.

Asset Care
Revenue growth was primarily driven from several large outage 
programs for long-term clients in the oil and gas, process and 
power generation industries. Due to the weakening Australian 
economic environment, the business experienced a softening in 
the welding and fabrication market and deferral of projects in the 
power generation sector late in the year.

The business secured two large construction non-destructive testing 
projects at Curtis Island, Queensland. While these projects will 
be significant revenue contributors in 2013/14, mobilisation of 
personnel has been slower than expected in 2012/13. The business 
also delivered continued growth with the major asset operators in 
the Queensland coal seam gas sector. 

The Power Services business, acquired in October 2011, met 
performance expectations. The geographic and industry sector reach 
of this business unit is expanding to better leverage its technical 
capability and offset the impact of the soft power generation sector.

Mechanical testing revenues were particularly strong in 2012/13 
and the company has continued to invest in automated equipment 
to improve turnaround time and efficiency. 

The advanced non-destructive testing business unit continues to 
grow rapidly as the client cost savings generated by using non-
intrusive inspection techniques is highly attractive to the oil and gas 
and process industries.

Tribology
The Tribology business across all regions delivered solid revenue 
growth which resulted in improved margins. With competitive 
markets in North America and Australia, the business performed 
well at both improving market share and containing costs. 

While the Australian Tribology business was heavily exposed to the 
weakening mining sector, sample volumes increased through the 
second half. The business also renewed global services agreements 
with major mining companies. 

In the second quarter, the Tribology business released a new 
version of Webtrieve™, its global internet portal. The new site 
provides clients with increased reporting capability and more 
intuitive tools to analyse data. 

Outlook for 2013/14 financial year

The divisional target market sectors are expected to remain focused 
on cost cutting throughout 2013/14. Modest revenue growth will 
be driven from ALS gaining market share in the mining sector in 
Western Australia and the LNG construction-related projects. 

Development and implementation of IT systems is a key operational 
target for the division in 2013/14. The Tribology business will 
build new generation IT systems including a global Laboratory 
Information Management Systems (LIMS) and Webtrieve™ system. 
The Asset Care business will implement the centralised work 
management and reporting system developed in 2012/13.

Renewal of several strategic long-term contracts and delivering cost 
effective engineering-led reliability and integrity service offerings 
remain the divisional strategic focus.

Our international client base includes asset owners, operators, constructors and equipment manufacturers in 
the power, oil & gas / petrochemical, minerals processing, mining, water, infrastructure and transportation 
industries. The Industrial Division is made up of two complementary business streams: Asset Care and Tribology.

We work with a range of sectors to evaluate and monitor asset 
health and provide solutions to maximise production, extend 
asset life and ensure safe and reliable plant operation. 
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Reward Distribution is the 
largest non-food distributor 
of Hospitality and Catering 
products in Australia.

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Decrease

Revenue 119.2 123.2 (3.2%)

Segment contribution 0.9 3.7 (75.7%)

Margin (segment contribution to revenue) 0.7% 3.0%
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Performance for 2012/13
Overall, a disappointing result after a good turnaround year in 
2011/12. On the back of that result we were quite bullish on the 
year ahead, but the underlying downturn in the mining sector and 
subdued conditions in major hospitality markets meant we failed 
to deliver on increased revenue targets we had anticipated. This 
in turn had a marked impact on our profit result. Revenue for the 
full year was $119.2 million with an EBIT of $889k prior to minority 
holdings.

The mining downturn did impact on our ability to fit out a number 
of new sites and continue the on-going strong daily supply of 
items. We did see impacts in our Mackay and Perth branches on 
the back of this. Queensland being a key hospitality market traded 
poorly in the last quarter on the back of severe weather conditions, 
particularly in the South East.

In the second half of the year the business embarked on a 
restructure to realign its selling teams with new business initiatives 
and to ramp up the progress on its import program to include a 
number of new lines. This restructure did result in a number of staff 
changes which did disrupt the business for a number of months. 
The additional costs of bringing forward some sourcing activities 
means we are now well positioned to reap the benefits of this 
work in the new year. To complement the new structure we have 
implemented a centralised Tele-sales department to increase our 
sales coverage across key markets.

Additionally, Reward has recently signed some exclusive 
agreements to distribute a number of premium products into the 
Hospitality sector. These will be fully realised in 2013/14.

Outlook
The actions taken in the latter half of 2012/13 will be fully realised 
in the coming year. We have factored in growth in all key markets 
over last year, which we believe to be quite achievable. We have 
already secured a number of new projects which have also been 
factored into our forward plans. 

Our new products and exclusive brands are already showing strong 
sales and will form a significant part of our sales growth this year. 
We are seeing strong growth in key capital city markets, as well as 
Darwin and North Queensland. The most pleasing factor is that such 
growth is not reliant solely on growth in the mining sector.

We sell and distribute a number of major brands in a number of categories and import a range of products 
sold under our own Brands being: Hospitality Essentials, in packaging and catering items; Essentials 
Collection and Echelon in crockery, table top items; Soft Clean in paper/washroom products and Kleaning 
Essentials in janitorial items.

On the back of these changes and actions we have undertaken 
we believe the Reward business will return to a stronger profit 
position this year and beyond.
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Board of Directors

Nerolie Withnall BA, LLB, FAICD

Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director Age 69

Nerolie Withnall became a non-executive director of the Company 
in 1994 and was appointed Chairman on 31 July 2012. She is 
a director of PanAust Limited (appointed May 1996), Alchemia 
Limited (appointed Oct 2003) and Computershare Limited 
(appointed July 2008). She was previously a director of Redcape 
Property Fund Limited (formerly Hedley Leisure and Gaming 
Property Partners Limited (June 2007 - November 2010), QM 
Technologies Limited (Sept 2003 – April 2008) and the Major Sports 
Facilities Authority. She is a former member of the Takeovers Panel, 
the Corporations and Markets Advisory Committee, the Senate 
of the University of Queensland and the Council of the Australian 
National Maritime Museum. She is a former partner of Minter 
Ellison Lawyers. She was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee effective 1 April 2012 and is a member of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee. 

Greg Kilmister B Sc (Hons), FRACI, MAIG, CCEO

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Age 57

Greg Kilmister was appointed Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company effective 1 September 2005. He 
joined the Company in 1981 and was the General Manager of the 
Company’s highly successful ALS Laboratory Services Group from 
1992 through to 2005. 

Ray Hill FAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director Age 71 

Ray Hill was appointed a non-executive director of the Company 
in 2003. He retired in July 2002 after a career spanning thirty 
years with Queensland dairy company Parmalat Australia Ltd 
(formerly Pauls Limited) including the last 8 years as Group General 
Manager/Managing Director. He retired from the board of Parmalat 
Australia Ltd (unlisted public company), effective 7 December 2012. 
He is a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee.

Bruce Brown B Com, AAUQ, FAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director Age 68

Bruce Brown was appointed a non-executive director of the 
Company on 1 October 2005. He retired as Managing Director and 
Chief Executive of the Company on 31 August 2005 after 30 years 
service. He is a director of RedFlow Limited (appointed March 2012) 
and was previously a director of Transpacific Industries Group Ltd 
(March 2005 – March 2013). He is a member of the Remuneration 
Committee.
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Board of Directors

Mel Bridges B AppSc, PhD, FAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director Age 63

Mel Bridges was appointed a non-executive director of the 
Company in 2009. He has over 30 years experience in the life 
science, technology and healthcare industries. During this period, 
Mel founded and managed successful diagnostics, biotechnology 
and medical device businesses. He is currently Chairman of 
Alchemia Limited (appointed director in September 2003) and 
is a non-executive director of ImpediMed Limited (appointed 
director in September 1999), Benitec Limited (appointed October 
2007), and Tissue Therapies Limited (appointed March 2009). He 
was previously Chairman of Genetic Technology Group Limited 
(January 2012 - November 2012), Leaf Energy Limited (August 
2010 - September 2012), Incitive Limited (November 2007 – June 
2010) and a non-executive director of Genera Biosystems Limited 
(December 2008 – November 2010). He was appointed as a 
member of the Audit and Compliance Committee effective 
1 April 2012.

Grant Murdoch M COM (Hons), FAICD, FCA

Independent Non-Executive Director Age 61

Grant Murdoch was appointed a non-executive director of the 
Company in 2011. He was formerly a Partner of Ernst & Young 
and Divisional Director of Ernst & Young Transaction Advisory 
Services Limited in Queensland. He is a director of Cardno 
Limited (appointed January 2013) and is a director of Queensland 
Investment Corporation (QIC) and UQ Holdings Ltd. He is Chairman 
of the Endeavour Foundation and a senator of the University 
of Queensland, and an Adjunct Professor at the University of 
Queensland Business School. He has more than 37 years of 
chartered accountancy experience, specialising in mergers, 
acquisitions, takeovers, corporate restructures and share issues. 
He was appointed Chairman of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee on 1 July 2012.

John Mulcahy PhD, BE (Civil Eng) (Hons), FIE Aust

Independent Non-Executive Director Age 63

John Mulcahy was appointed a non-executive director of the 
Company in 2012. He is Chairman of Coffey International Limited, 
a non-executive Director of GWA Group Limited and Mirvac Group 
Limited, and a Guardian of the Future Fund of Australia. He is a 
former Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Suncorp-
Metway Limited. Prior to Suncorp, John held a number of senior 
executive roles at the Commonwealth Bank and Lend Lease 
Corporation. He was appointed as a member of the Remuneration 
Committee effective 1 April 2012.

Left to right:

Nerolie Withnall

Greg Kilmister

Ray Hill

Bruce Brown

Mel Bridges

Grant Murdoch

John Mulcahy
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Group Management

ALS Limited
Richard Stephens B Com, CA 

Chief Financial Officer

Richard is responsible for the overall financial management of the 
Group, including treasury and taxation.

Greg Affleck B Bus (Accounting), CPA 

Financial Controller ALS

Greg is responsible for the financial management of ALS’s global 
operations.

Tim Mullen B Bus (Accounting), M Com Law, FCPA, FCIS, FCLA 
Group Company Secretary

Tim is responsible for corporate governance of the Group, 
incorporating company secretarial, legal management and investor 
relations. 

Michael Burcham B Sc, Grad Dip Env Qual, Grad Cert Risk Management, 

Grad Dip AppCorpGov, MRACI, ACIS 
Group Compliance and Risk Manager

Michael is responsible for the overall risk management of the 
Group, encompassing the development and implementation of a 
global corporate compliance program to meet relevant legislation, 
industry standards and codes of practice. 

Susan Putters B Bus (Strategic Human Resources Management), MBA 

(Occupational Health & Safety), GAICD 

Group Organisational Development Manager

Susan is responsible for workforce planning, human resources and 
remuneration strategy for the Group. Key areas of focus currently 
include merger integration, process automation, organisational 
development, acceleration of talent and culture perpetuation. 

Mike Munro MAICD 

Group Chief Information Officer

Mike is responsible for the global IT network, IT security and 
infrastructure operations of the Group.

ALS Divisions
Brian Williams B Sc (Aust Environmental Studies), Grad Dip Mgmt 

(Gen Mgmt), RACI 

Group General Manager, Minerals Division

Brian is responsible for the strategic management and development 
of the global ALS Minerals Division. He was previously the Group 
General Manager, Environmental (Australia and Asia) and Industrial 
Divisions. 

Raj Naran B Sc (Chemistry), B A (Mathematics) 

Group General Manager, Life Sciences Division

Raj is responsible for the strategic management of the global Life 
Sciences Division. He was owner of e-Lab Analytical, Inc. group 
headquartered in Houston, Texas, which was acquired by ALS in 
October 2007.

Paul McPhee B Economics, AIMM 

Group General Manager, Energy Division

Paul is responsible for the strategic management of ALS’ global 
Energy Division. He has over 20 years of coal and industry-
related experience. Paul was previously CEO of ACIRL prior to ALS’ 
acquisition of the company in October 2007. 

Kristen Walsh MBA, B Sc (Hons) (Civil and Environmental Engineering) 

Group General Manager, Industrial Division

Kristen is responsible for the strategic management of the Industrial 
Division. She was Chief Operating Officer of PearlStreet prior to ALS’ 
acquisition of the company in 2009.

Reward Distribution
Andrew Ross B Bus (Marketing),GAICD 

Group General Manager, Reward Distribution

Andrew is responsible for overall management, strategy and 
development of Reward’s hospitality, cleaning and catering supply 
business, headquartered at Yatala, Queensland. 
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Principle 1: Board and management
A summary of the Company’s board charter is posted on 
the Company’s website which sets out the role, powers and 
responsibilities of the Board.

Principle 2:	 Board structure
The Board comprises of six independent non-executive directors 
(including the Chairman) and one executive director (the Managing 
Director). 

Geoff McGrath retired from the Board at the close of the 2012 AGM 
held 31 July 2012, with Deputy Chairman Nerolie Withnall, taking 
over as Chairman. 

The names, skills and experience of the directors in office at the 
date of this Statement, and the period of office of each director, are 
set out in the Directors’ Report and in the Annual Report.

Independent professional advice

Each director has the right, at the Company’s expense, to seek 
independent professional advice in relation to the execution of 
Board responsibilities. Prior approval of the Chairman, which will 
not be unreasonably withheld, is required. Where appropriate, 
directors share such advice with the other directors.

Independence of directors

The Board considers that all directors, other than the Managing 
Director, Greg Kilmister, to be independent of management 
influence. The Board distinguishes between the concept of 
independence, and the issues of conflict of interest or material 
personal interests which may arise from time to time. Wherever 
there is an actual or potential conflict of interest or material 
personal interest, the Board’s policies and procedures ensure that:

•	 the interest is fully disclosed and the disclosure is recorded in 
the register of 

	 directors’ interests and in the Board minutes;

•	 the relevant director is excluded from all considerations of the 
matter by the Board; and

•	 the relevant director does not receive any segment of the Board 
papers or other documents in which there is any reference to 
the matter.

The chairman of the Company is an independent non-executive 
director.

The roles of chairman and chief executive are exercised by separate 
individuals.

Nomination Committee

The full Board is the Nomination Committee and regularly reviews 
Board membership. This includes an assessment of the necessary 
and desirable competencies of Board members, Board succession 
plans, evaluation of the Board’s performance and consideration of 
appointments and removals.

When a Board vacancy occurs, the Nomination Committee identifies 
the particular skills, diversity, experience and expertise that will 
best complement Board effectiveness, and then undertakes a 
process to identify candidates who can meet those criteria. 

Directors are not appointed for specific terms and are subject to 
rotational requirements for re-election. Criterion for continued 
office is effective contribution, which is regularly reviewed in the 
processes referred to above.

A summary of the role, rights and responsibilities of the Nomination 
Committee, as well as the committee’s policy for appointment of 
directors, is available on the Company’s website.

Board performance

The Board undertakes an annual review of its performance together 
with an assessment of the Group’s executive management.

The Board provides an appropriate induction program for new 
directors, permits directors to obtain independent professional 
advice, have access to the Company Secretary and has procedures 
for the provision of information, including requests for additional 
information.

The policies and practices developed and implemented by the Board over many years meet or exceed the 
Principles and Recommendations set out in ASX’s 2nd Edition Corporate Governance Council guidelines 
(ASX guidelines) which were amended in June 2010 and became effective from 1 January 2011. 

This statement and information identified therein are available on the Company’s website at 
www.alsglobal.com under the Corporate Governance section.

for the year ended 31 march 2013
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Principle 3:	 Ethical standards
Code of Conduct

Through established practices and policies the Board supports the 
need for directors and employees to observe the highest standards 
of behaviour and business ethics. All directors, managers and 
employees are expected to act with integrity, striving at all times to 
enhance the reputation and performance of the Group. The Board’s 
policies conform with the ASX guidelines.

Appropriate training programs on the Group’s internal policies 
including workplace health and safety, environmental law 
compliance, trade practices legislation and affirmative action 
programs support this process.

The Board recognises that managing “natural, human, social 
and other forms of capital” may also assist in creating value 
for shareholders. To this end the Board seeks, by the individual 
contributions of directors and by encouraging activities of its 
executives, to uphold community standards and to maintain good 
relations with community and government organisations. However, 
the Board seeks to balance these considerations in order to ensure 
that the claims of legitimate stakeholders do not prejudice or 
diminish the legitimate expectations of shareholders. The Board 
does not support a process by which companies are regulated in 
their dealings in these areas, beyond the consideration of their 
programs to ensure compliance with legal and ethical standards.

A Code of Conduct which draws together all of the Company’s 
policies and codes was reviewed during the year and is available on 
the Company’s website.

Trading in company securities by directors, officers and 
employees

The Board has established written guidelines, set out in its 
Securities Trading Policy, that restrict dealings by directors and 
relevant employees in the Company’s shares.

The Securities Trading Policy identifies certain periods when 
directors and relevant employees are prohibited from trading in 
the Company’s securities. These blackout periods are from 1 April 
and 1 October until the close of business on the day full year and 
half year results respectively are announced, and any other period 
as determined by the Board from time to time. Outside of these 
periods, in the absence of knowledge of unpublished price-sensitive 
information, directors and relevant employees may buy or sell 
shares in the Company. 

All Company personnel are bound by a duty of confidentiality 
in relation to information obtained in the course of their duties. 
Company personnel must not trade in securities of other companies 
if they possess unpublished price-sensitive information in relation 
to that other company. 

The policy was updated in October 2012 to account for the change 
in trading periods and posted on ASX’s Announcements platform as 
provided by ASX’s Listing Rules. The policy aligns with requirements 
under ASX’s Listing Rules, including provisions relating to prohibiting 
trading by directors and senior executives in the Company’s 
securities during blackout periods, hedging arrangements in relation 
to any unvested securities of the Company and the requirement to 
disclose to the Board any securities in the Company that are held as 
security in a margin loan arrangement.

The updated Securities Trading Policy is published on the Company’s 
website.

Diversity

The Company recognises that a diverse and inclusive workforce is 
not only good for our employees, it is also good for our business. 

The Company has established a Diversity Policy that has been 
reviewed and approved by the Board which contains measurable 
objectives for key diversity categories, and is published on the 
Group’s website.

The Company’s Diversity Policy is based on the following key 
principles, reflective of the Revised ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations on diversity issued in June 2010:

1.	 Treat others with respect, value differences and maintain 
privacy;

2.	 Value diversity and it will bring opportunities to enhance our 
businesses;

3.	 Women and minority cultural groups will not be disadvantaged 
in gaining employment and accessing the benefits and privileges 
that other persons in the company enjoy in their employment 
with the Company;

4.	 Transparency will be exercised in all recruitment decisions from 
Board level to entry level;

5.	 Workforce composition statistics will be reviewed annually to 
determine if there are any areas that warrant an increased focus 
on diversity; and

6.	 Public reporting of progress against the Company’s diversity 
objectives.

A summary of the matters required to be reported each year is 
contained in the Our People section of the Annual Report.

Principle 4:	 Financial reporting
Certification of financial reports

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer state in writing 
to the Board each reporting period that the Company’s financial 
reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of 
the Company’s financial condition and operational results and are 
in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The statements 
from the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer are based on 
a formal sign off framework established throughout the Company 
and reviewed by the Audit and Compliance Committee as part of 
the six-monthly financial reporting process.

Audit and Compliance Committee

The Company has an established Audit and Compliance Committee 
operating under written terms of reference approved by the Board 
which are reviewed annually.

The Audit and Compliance Committee comprises four independent 
non-executive directors with an independent chairman who is 
not also chairman of the Board. During the financial year, Grant 
Murdoch replaced Nerolie Withnall as chairman of the Committee 
and Mel Bridges was appointed to the Committee as replacement 
for Geoff McGrath who retired from the Board on 31 July 2012 
following the 2012 AGM. The names and qualifications of members 
of the Audit and Compliance Committee are set out in the 
Directors’ Report and in the Annual Report. Other non-executive 
directors of the Board are entitled to be present at all meetings 
of the Committee. Meetings of the Committee are attended, by 
invitation, by the Managing Director, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Group Compliance & Risk Manager, the lead audit partner from the 
Company’s external auditor and such other senior staff or
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Principle 4:	 Financial reporting continued

Audit and Compliance Committee continued

professional people as may be appropriate from time to time. The 
number of meetings of the Committee held during the year is set 
out in the Directors’ Report.

Minutes of all Committee meetings are provided to the Board and 
the Chairman of the Committee also reports to the Board after each 
Committee meeting.

Principle 5:	 Material disclosure
The Company has established policies and procedures for timely 
disclosure of material information concerning the Company. This 
includes internal reporting procedures in place to ensure that any 
material price sensitive information is reported to the Company 
Secretary in a timely manner. These policies and procedures are 
regularly reviewed to ensure that the Company complies with its 
obligations at law and under the ASX Listing Rules. The Company 
undertook a review of its Continuous Disclosure policy following 
ASX’s update to Guidance Note 8 relating to continuous disclosure of 
companies, due to come into effect on 1 May 2013.

The Company Secretary is responsible for communications with the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) including responsibility for 
ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements 
in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing information going to the 
ASX, shareholders and other interested parties. The matter of 
continuous disclosure is a permanent item on the agenda for all 
Board meetings and is specifically addressed by each director at 
those meetings.

On 1 August 2012, following approval from shareholders at the 
2012 AGM, the Company changed its name to ALS Limited (from 
Campbell Brothers Limited) to more fully reflect the Company’s 
predominant business, that of analytical laboratory testing services 
carried out under the ALS brand. 

Also during the year, following approval of shareholders at the 
2012 AGM, the Company undertook a 5 for 1 share split effective 9 
August 2012, in order to provide better affordability and liquidity of 
the Company’s shares.

The directors have obligations under a Disclosure of Interests 
and Transactions in Securities Agreement entered into with the 
Company to inform the Company of any securities trading in the 
Company. 

The directors have made disclosure that they have no material 
margin lending terms in relation to their holding of Company 
securities. 

Announcements made to the ASX by the Company are published on 
the Company’s website. 

A copy of the Company’s Continuous Disclosure policy is published 
on the Company’s website.

Principle 6:	 Shareholder communication
Communications strategy

The Company aims to keep shareholders informed of the Company’s 
performance and all major developments in an ongoing manner. 
Information is communicated to shareholders through:

•	 the annual report which is published on the Company’s website 
and distributed to shareholders where specifically requested;

•	 the half-year shareholders’ report which is published on the 
Company’s website and distributed to shareholders where 
specifically requested, containing summarised financial 
information and a review of the operations during the period 
since the annual report; and

•	 other correspondence regarding matters impacting on 
shareholders as required.

All material documents that are released publicly are made 
available on the Company’s web site.

Shareholders are also encouraged to participate in the Annual 
General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Company’s strategies and goals. Important 
issues are presented to shareholders as separate resolutions. 

Availability of auditor at AGM

The senior engagement partner (or his representative) of the 
Company’s external auditor, KPMG, attends the Company’s 
annual general meetings and is available to answer questions 
from shareholders about the audit. The Chairman advises the 
shareholders of this at the commencement of each annual general 
meeting.

Principle 7:	 Risk management
Oversight of the risk management function

The Company places a high priority on risk management and 
identification throughout the Group’s operations and regularly 
reviews its adequacy in this regard. Under the guidance of the Audit 
and Compliance Committee, a comprehensive risk control program 
has been developed which includes legislative compliance, property 
protection and health, safety and environment audits using risk 
assessors, self audits, engineering and professional advisers.

The Company has a qualified Compliance and Risk Manager 
who oversees the design and implementation of the risk control 
program, monitors performance and develops appropriate programs 
to enhance awareness and compliance. These programs include 
training for employees, using both internal and external experts. 
Regular review meetings are held with divisional general managers 
and senior personnel to provide guidance and strategies for 
implementation of risk mitigation measures in their businesses.

During the year, the Audit & Compliance Committee reviewed and 
the Board adopted the Risk Management Program presented by the 
Group Compliance and Risk Manager, which outlined the Group’s 
overall risk profile and the Group’s management of its material 
business risks. 

The Group Compliance and Risk Manager reports in writing to the 
Board each month and personally to meetings of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and supervises not only the six-monthly 
sign off process but also the follow up of any non-compliances or 
identified areas requiring further training or risk management.
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Principle 7:	 Risk management continued

Internal financial controls

The Company has an established internal audit function under the 
control of the Group Compliance and Risk Manager. Internal audits 
are carried out in regular consultation with the external auditors but 
are independent of them.

The Chief Financial Officer reports in writing and personally to each 
Board meeting, attends all meetings of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee and provides written reports to that Committee.

Certification of risk management controls

In conjunction with the certification of financial reports under 
Principle 4, the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer state 
in writing to the Board each reporting period that:

•	 the statement is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the Board.

•	 the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and 
control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all 
material respects.

The statement from the Managing Director and Chief Financial 
Officer is based on a formal sign off framework established 
throughout the Group and reviewed by the Audit and Compliance 
Committee as part of the six-monthly financial reporting process.

The Company’s Risk Management Policy and internal compliance 
and control system were reviewed and re-affirmed during the year 
and are available on the Company’s website.

Principle 8:	 Remuneration
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is 
responsible for reviewing and recommending compensation 
arrangements for the directors, the chief executive officer and the 
senior management team. The Remuneration Committee assesses 
the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration 
of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant 
employment market conditions with the overall objective of 
ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high 
quality Board and management team. Executives, other than the 
non-executive directors, are given the opportunity to receive their 
base remuneration in the form of cash and non-cash benefits. To 
assist in achieving these objectives, the Company’s remuneration 
policy links the nature and amount of senior executives’ 
remuneration to the Company’s financial and operational 
performance. All key senior executives have the opportunity to 
qualify for participation in the Company’s Short Term Incentive (STI) 
and Long Term Incentive (LTI) Plans which currently provide benefits 
where specified performance criteria are met.

Key executives are those who are directly accountable and 
responsible for the operational management and strategic direction 
of the Company and the consolidated entity.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has an established Remuneration Committee, comprising 
three independent non-executive directors with an independent 
chairman. During the financial year, John Mulcahy was appointed to 
the Committee as replacement for Geoff McGrath who retired from 
the Board on 31 July 2012 following the 2012 AGM.

Names of members and their attendance at meetings of the 
Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The Remuneration Committee Charter was reviewed during the year 
and is available on the Company’s website.

Structure of remuneration

The structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration and that of 
executives is set out in the ‘Remuneration Report’ section of the 
Directors’ Report.

During the reporting period, a review was conducted of the 
Company’s remuneration strategy and tools as part of its annual 
governance program. Material adjustments were made to executive 
remuneration, director fees and the LTI Plan. The format of the 
Remuneration Report was updated to improve readability and to 
demonstrate more closely the link between executive remuneration 
and shareholder wealth creation.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the 
remuneration of each director of the Company and each key 
executive of the Company and the consolidated entity having 
responsibility for its operational performance for the financial year 
are disclosed in the ‘Remuneration Report’ section of the Directors’ 
Report. The current non-executive directors’ (NED) fee pool of $1.5 
million (inclusive of statutory superannuation) was approved by 
shareholders at the 2012 AGM. At the 2013 AGM, shareholders will 
be asked to adopt, as a non-binding vote, the Remuneration Report 
as contained in the Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 
March 2013.

Directors’ retirement benefits

There are no Directors’ retirement benefits other than statutory 
superannuation. Details are set out in the ‘Remuneration Report’ 
section of the Directors’ Report.

Share-based plans

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing 
recommendations with respect to issues or grants under the 
Company’s share-based plans. Directors approve issues or grants 
under the plans only after being satisfied that this is in accordance 
with the terms of shareholders’ approval.

Employee Share Plan

This Plan is closed to new recipients. There were no new issues of 
shares under the plan during the year. As at 31 March 2013, the 
share loan outstanding under the Plan had been repaid in full.

Long Term Incentive Plan

Shareholders approved the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan 
(LTIP) at the 2008 AGM. Under the plan, key employees may be 
granted conditional performance rights to receive ordinary shares 
in the Company at no cost to the employees (or in limited cases, to 
receive cash-settled awards). During the financial year 2012-13, there 
were 268,090 Performance Rights granted under the Company’s LTIP, 
of which 61,185 Performance Rights were granted to the Managing 
Director, Greg Kilmister in accordance with terms approved at the 
2012 AGM (all Performance Rights granted have been adjusted to 
reflect the Company’s 5 for 1 share split in August 2012).
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Efficiencies and lessons learnt in one ALS site location are shared 
and welcomed by other ALS businesses across the globe resulting 
in many initiatives being adopted. Operation Sustainability is about 

thinking globally and acting locally. 

ALS believes managing 
its corporate social 
responsibility and 
considering the social, 
ethical and environmental 
aspects in all that we do 
is critical to our long term 
success. 

Waste Management
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Corporate Social Responsibility

During the 2012/13 period, this continued focus across all our 
site locations has helped us achieve our key performance target 
of no significant environmental incidents or events reported that 
impacted the local community in which we operate.

Efficiencies and lessons learnt in one ALS site location are shared 
and welcomed by other ALS businesses across the globe resulting 
in many initiatives being adopted. Operation Sustainability is about 
thinking globally and acting locally. 

The ALS Limited Foundation Standard
ALS Limited has implemented 13 goals for Health, Safety and 
Environmental Management.

Having a common Standard across all business activities irrespective 
of the country or the type of work activity provides a clear strategic 
direction and minimises our impact on the environment. Since 2005 
when the foundation standard was first introduced, all established 
businesses within ALS Limited have been actively striving to ensure 
compliance with all 13 goals, but with a particular focus on the 
following three:

•	 Life Saving Rules
•	 Environmental Sustainability
•	 Loss-control measures.

The standard also provides new and growing businesses that 
have joined the ALS group through acquisition with a performance 
benchmark they must work towards.

Our Communication and Reporting Systems 
ALS Limited has developed a global online communications tool 
known as the Compliance portal to communicate, deliver, record, 
monitor and share group standards, operational procedures, incident 
information, and to track key metrics and statistics. The portal was 
established in 2003, and in 2012 underwent a major redevelopment 
to accommodate changing needs of our expanding business. 

Our Global HSE Team
The ALS Group employs Health, Safety and Environment 
professionals throughout all divisions and regions to assist 
management in delivering corporate requirements.

These resources operate directly within respective businesses to 
hone and deliver local HSE requirements while aligning with ALS 
Limited’s Global HSE Program. Technical risk assessments, auditing, 
and systems development are just some areas where advice and 
guidance is regularly provided.

ALS continued to invest in HSE resources in line with the growth of 
the company to ensure we meet our corporate responsibilities. 

Energy management
Ensuring ALS’ energy usage is as efficient as possible has both 
economic and environmental benefits. Energy usage, either 
electricity or gas, is the company’s biggest carbon emission source. 
Pleasingly several notable examples of initiatives in energy 
efficiencies were seen throughout 2012/13. 

•	 T5 energy efficient lights and building insulation specifications 
are now part of the ALS laboratory fit out standard used for 

constructing new site locations.

•	 Studies were completed into a pilot program to implement solar 
energy panels across our main site locations in NSW. 

•	 Fuel usage was monitored to assess the impact of the group’s 
motor vehicle fleet. One ALS business trialed an innovative 
program, known as “Lightfoot”, with good success. Lightfoot 
provided real time feedback (through visual and audible 
warnings) to our van drivers on their fuel consumption, which in 
turn trained them to drive in a more fuel efficient manner. The 
initial trial indicated a reduction of around 10-15% in fuel usage. 
The business is now in the process of rolling the system out across 
their entire van fleet.

Waste management
ALS has actively promoted simple waste initiatives in all regions 
focusing on the importance of separating waste streams and seizing 
opportunities for recycling and waste reduction where possible. 
In our main Minerals Laboratory in Vancouver, during the first six 
months of implementing a new waste recycling program, 48 tonnes 
of waste had been diverted away from landfill which equates to 84 
metric tonnes of carbon credits. 

Our Environmental Testing Laboratory at Burnaby in Canada 
developed new laboratory methodologies that greatly reduced 
the sample container/volume requirements. The improved 
methodologies for analysis of groundwater for cyanide reduced 
the 1 litre HDPE sample bottle to 145mL HDPE, and for analysis of 
groundwater for Total and Dissolved Metals, a 250mL HDPE bottle 
reduced to 125mL HDPE bottle. This led to savings of approximately 
680kg less waste being introduced into the waste stream annually 
as a direct result of smaller bottles and fewer laboratory materials; 
and 18.5 tonnes of CO2 emissions avoided annually due to reduced 
bottle manufacturing and reduced shipping ‘wet’ weights.

Water Conservation
Water conservation measures are also a focus of ALS. During the 
year the Australian minerals business reviewed its core cutting 
operations. Savings in water volume in one location alone was 
achieved in the order of 6,500 to 7,500 litres per 8 hour shift. In 
Vancouver, modifications to the washdown of the site’s fume hoods 
reduced the total waste water discharge from 7 litres per second to 
4.35 litres per second during the operating hours of the site. 

Supporting the Community
ALS continued its tradition of being involved in the community it 
works within, with numerous examples of active engagement and 
charity work being reported. 

The major recipients of ALS community mindedness include 
children’s charities, orphanages, cancer research and support groups, 
and other health related charities. 

ALS does not confine its community endeavours to charitable work. 
Many ALS businesses have developed strong relationships with local 
high schools and tertiary institutions where students can participate 
in work experience programs. These programs are seen as valuable 
in keeping an interest in the sciences and allowing students to 
see how the study of science and related subjects has real world 
application. 

Under the ALS group program “Operation Sustainability”, we continue to focus on reducing our carbon footprint 
and improving our energy usage, waste management practices, and supporting the community.
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Directors
The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of 
the financial year are:

NEROLIE WITHNALL BA, LLB, FAICD 
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director Age 69

GREG KILMISTER B Sc (Hons), FRACI, MAIG 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Age 57

RAYMOND G HILL FAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director Age 71 

BRUCE R BROWN B Com, AAUQ, FAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director Age 68

MELVYN J BRIDGES B AppSc, PhD, FAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director Age 63

GRANT B MURDOCH M COM (Hons), FAICD, FCA 
Independent Non-Executive Director Age 61

JOHN F MULCAHY PhD, BE (Civil Eng) (Hons), FIE Aust 
Independent Non-Executive Director Age 63

GEOFFREY J McGRATH MIIE.  
Former Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director, retired 
on 31 July 2012.

Full directors’ profiles are set out on page 26 of the Annual Report.

Company Secretary
TIM MULLEN B Bus, M Com Law, FCPA, FCIS, FCLA

Tim Mullen was appointed Company Secretary of the Company on 
27 February 2007. He is a Chartered Secretary and a member of 
CPA Australia. He has a background in financial and commercial 
management and company secretarial practice. He has been 
with the Company for sixteen years. His main responsibilities are 
corporate governance and legal management of the Group.

Corporate actions
Change of name

Effective 1 August 2012, the Company changed its name from 
Campbell Brothers Limited to ALS Limited having received 
shareholder approval at the annual general meeting (AGM) on 
31 July 2012.

Five-for-one share split

At the same AGM shareholders also voted in favour of a resolution 
to split the Company’s shares on the basis of five new shares for 
every one share held. The split took effect on 9 August 2012.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group during the course of the 
financial year were:

•	 Provision of technical testing and inspection services 
specifically supporting mining and mineral exploration, 
commodity certification, environmental monitoring, equipment 
maintenance, food and pharmaceutical quality assurance and 
industrial operations.

•	 Distribution of non-food consumables to the healthcare, building 
services, hospitality and leisure industries.

•	 Distribution of cleaning agents and chemicals for both domestic 
and industrial customers (these businesses were divested in 
September 2012 – refer below and notes 9 and 35).

During the year the Group expanded and diversified its testing and 
inspection service capabilities through the acquisitions of:

•	 Eclipse Scientific Group, a food, dairy, water and pharmaceutical 
testing business servicing England and Ireland;

•	 Milana A/S, a provider of a broad range of analytical testing 
services to the Danish environmental market; and

•	 An 80% holding in the Corplab environmental testing group 
in Latin America with operations in Peru, Brazil, Argentina and 
Ecuador.

The Group divested the two remaining business units of the 
Campbell Chemicals segment, namely Panamex Pacific and Deltrex 
Chemicals, in September 2012.

Otherwise there were no significant changes in the nature of the 
activities of the Group during the year.

Review and results of operations
Net profit

Directors are pleased to report that the Group achieved a record 
financial result in the year to March 2013. Underlying net profit 
after tax (attributable to equity holders of the Company, including 
the results from operating activities of discontinued operations and 
excluding unusual items) was $237.9 million for the year in line 
with guidance provided to the market. The result was up 7.0% on 
the previous year and was generated from revenue of $1,499.3 
million (up 6.7% on the year to March 2012). 

Net profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the Company 
including unusual items was $227.3 million. Unusual items 
contributed a net loss after income tax of $10.6 million and relate 
to the Campbell Chemicals and Reward Distribution segments (refer 
summary below).

All divisions within the ALS technical services business generated 
higher levels of revenue than the previous year. This translated into 
improved contribution margins for ALS Energy and ALS industrial, 
whilst ALS Minerals and ALS Life Sciences experienced slight 
contractions in margin (refer Divisional contributions below). The 
Reward Distribution hospitality supplies division suffered falling 
revenues and profit margin during the year. The two remaining 
business units of the Campbell Chemical segment were divested in 
September 2012.

Directors have declared a final partly franked (50%) dividend for 
the year of 27 cents per share on a post-share split basis (2012: 
26 cents partly franked on a post-share split basis) bringing the 
total partly franked (50%) dividend for the year to 48 cents per 
share (2012: 45 cents partly franked). The Company’s dividend 
reinvestment plan will operate for the final 2013 dividend at a 
5.0% discount to market price.

The directors present their report together with the financial report of the Group, comprising ALS Limited (formerly Campbell 
Brothers Limited) (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries, for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the auditor’s report thereon.
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Divisional contributions

Contributions from business segments were as follows:

ALS Minerals

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Increase/ 
(Decrease)

Revenue 608.4 591.3 2.9%

Segment contribution 211.3 214.7 (1.6%)

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

34.7% 36.3%

ALS Minerals division experienced softening market conditions 
across its business streams during the second half of the financial 
year as global exploration activity slowed. The resultant tightening 
in contribution margins was closely monitored and controlled 
by an effective cost management program. In particular, the 
South American and European regions of the ALS Geochemistry 
stream produced strong revenue and earnings growth, benefiting 
from recent capital expenditure on facilities and equipment. ALS 
Metallurgy’s North American region also performed well growing its 
revenue and contribution in challenging conditions.

ALS Life Sciences 

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 454.4 360.7 26.0%

Segment contribution 89.3 78.1 14.3%

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

19.7% 21.7%

ALS Life Sciences delivered solid revenue improvement in all its 
various regions during the year. This was driven by a combination of 
increased market share in most territories and strategic acquisitions 
in Europe and Latin America. Acquisition integration expenses and 
cost pressures associated with the prolonged northern hemisphere 
winter led to a mild contraction in the division’s contribution 
margin.

Directors’ report
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Review and results of operations continued

The consolidated result is summarised: Note
2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Revenue 1,499.3 1,405.6

Underlying profit* before financing costs, income tax and unusual items 350.3 327.6

Net financing costs (19.6) (15.6)

Income tax expense relating to underlying profit* before unusual items (89.6) (87.3)

Underlying profit* before unusual items 241.1 224.7

Net profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests before unusual items (3.2) (2.3)

Underlying profit* before unusual items attributable to equity holders of the Company 237.9 222.4

Unusual items net of income tax attributable to equity holders of the Company 9

Gain on sale of Campbell Chemicals segment 5.7 -

Write-down to recoverable amount of goodwill in Reward Distribution segment (16.1) -

Income tax effect (0.2) -

Effect of unusual items after income tax (10.6) -

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 227.3 222.4

*	Underlying profit is a non-IFRS disclosure. It includes the results from operating activities of discontinued operations and 
excludes unusual items and has been presented to assist in the assessment of the relative performance of the Group 
from year to year. The calculation of underlying profit is based on information extracted from the Group’s audited financial 
statements.

Basic underlying earnings per share* 69.53c 65.90c

Diluted underlying earnings per share* 69.44c 65.76c

Basic earnings per share 66.44c 65.90c

Diluted earnings per share 66.35c 65.76c

*	Underlying earnings per share is a non-IFRS disclosure. It includes the results from operating activities of discontinued operations and excludes unusual items and has 
been presented to assist in the assessment of the relative performance of the Group from year to year. Refer note 13 to the financial statements for amounts used in the 
calculation of underlying earnings per share.
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Review and results of operations continued

Divisional contributions continued

ALS Energy 

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 105.0 87.8 19.6%

Segment contribution 32.6 23.7 37.6%

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

31.1% 27.0%

Strong organic growth in all regions of ALS Energy division resulted 
in significant revenue and contribution gains during the financial 
year. In Australia, the coal business grew its market share and in the 
second half of the year negotiated challenging market conditions that 
required a keen focus on both client service and cost management. 
These initiatives together with new project work in South Africa and 
Canada drove improved margin performance during the year.

ALS Industrial 

2013 
$m

2012 
$m Increase

Revenue 168.6 152.5 10.6%

Segment contribution 30.6 24.5 24.9%

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

18.1% 16.0%

Both the Asset Care and Tribology business units within ALS Industrial 
division reported revenue and contribution gains during the year. 
Asset Care revenue growth was primarily driven by a number of 
large outage programs for long-term clients in the oil and gas, 
process and power generation industries. The Tribology business 
delivered solid revenue growth which resulted in improved margins. 
With competitive markets in North America and Australia, Tribology 
performed well at both improving market share and containing costs.

Reward Distribution 

2013 
$m

2012 
$m (Decrease)

Revenue 119.2 123.2 (3.2%)

Segment contribution 0.9 3.7 (75.7%)

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

0.7% 3.0%

The Reward Distribution hospitality supplies business experienced 
difficult trading conditions in its key tourism and hospitality markets 
and delivered disappointing results with lower levels of revenue 
and contribution margin.

Campbell Chemicals 
(discontinued) 2013 

$m
2012 
$m (Decrease)

Revenue 43.7 90.1 (51.5%)

Segment contribution 3.8 8.2 (53.1%)

Margin (segment 
contribution to revenue)

8.7% 9.1%

Results for Campbell Chemicals comprise five months of earnings 
for the Panamex consumables trading business and six months for 
Deltrex Chemicals. Both businesses were divested during the year 
(refer notes 9 and 35).

Dividends
Dividends paid or declared by the Company since the end of the 
previous financial year are (all dividends are shown on a post 5-for-1 
share split basis):

	 Cents per	 Franked	 Total 
	 share	 amount	 $m 
		  (cents) 

Ordinary dividends declared 
and paid during the year:	

Final 2012, paid 2 July 2012	 26.0	 13.0	 87.8

Interim 2013, paid 18 December 2012	 21.0	 10.5	 71.5

Total amount			   159.3

Ordinary dividend declared after 
the end of the financial year:

Final 2013, to be paid 2 July 2013	 27.0	 13.5	 92.8

The financial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account 
in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 and 
will be recognised in subsequent financial reports. The franked 
components of all dividends paid or declared since the end of the 
previous financial year were franked based on a tax rate of 30%.

State of affairs
Changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial 
year resulted from its continued strategy of business expansion and 
diversification in testing and inspection services. Specifically, the 
Group undertook the following major acquisitions:

•	 Eclipse Scientific Group, a food, dairy, water and pharmaceutical 
testing business servicing England and Ireland (acquired April 
2012);

•	 Milana A/S, a provider of a broad range of analytical testing 
services to the Danish environmental market (acquired July 
2012); and

•	 An 80% holding in the Corplab environmental testing group 
in Latin America with operations in Peru, Brazil, Argentina and 
Ecuador (acquired December 2012).

In September 2012, the Group divested the two remaining business 
units of the Campbell Chemicals segment, namely Panamex Pacific 
and Deltrex Chemicals.

In the opinion of the directors there were no other significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or 
the consolidated financial statements.
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Remuneration report
Executive Summary

The directors present the remuneration report for the Group’s Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) including executive management, 
the Managing Director & CEO (the “Executives”) and its Non-
Executive Directors (the “Directors”).

During the reporting period, a review was conducted of the 
company’s remuneration strategy and tools as part of its annual 
governance program. Detailed in this report are some material 
adjustments that were made this year to Executive remuneration, 
Director’s fees and the LTI Plan as a result of the significant 
evolution and growth of ALS over the last two years.

The adjustments were made following external benchmarking. 
This year fixed remuneration review processes included the use of 
two external specialist remuneration consultancies (both engaged 
directly by the Chairman) who each independently provided 
Executive remuneration benchmarks. The Directors pay was 
reviewed against relevant Ernst & Young benchmarks. The Chairman 
also discussed remuneration related proposals with shareholder 
advisory groups to gather their input. The Board is confident that 
fixed remuneration changes are based on sound and relevant 
comparisons.

The format of the remuneration report has also been updated 
to improve readability and to demonstrate more closely the link 
between Executive remuneration and shareholder wealth creation.

The STI Plan key performance indicators (KPI) and group performance 
are included in this report to show the link between executive 
performance and reward.

The LTI Plan hurdles were adjusted for the 2012-13 awards to reflect 
the change in the Group from one focused heavily on the resources 
sector to a group that has diversified into new stable and growth 
industries.

We believe that the remuneration outcomes for 2012-13 
demonstrate that there is a close alignment of shareholders’ 
interests and Executive incentive rewards, with Executives only 
rewarded for the delivery of sound financial performance and 
achievement of strategic plan milestones.

Finally, the outlook for next year’s remuneration is provided at the 
conclusion of this report.
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Remuneration Strategy - audited

Remuneration Committee Role

The Board operates a Remuneration Committee (committee) which 
consists of 3 independent non-executive directors and which 
considers all aspects of remuneration strategy, policy and process 
for executive key management personnel and non-executive 
directors. Remuneration changes are approved by the Board after 
receiving recommendations from the committee.

The committee conducts annual reviews of its charter, the Group 
remuneration policies and plans, the structure and details of 
all Director’s fees, remuneration packages, market trends and 
commentary in relation to Director and executive remuneration 
practices and quantum, as well as legislative and regulatory 
requirements. 

These reviews take into consideration Group and individual 
business unit financial performance, the scope of the Group’s 
global operations and the Group’s longer term strategic and 
annual business plans. When reviewing remuneration, the market 
capitalisation of the Company and its place in various public indices 
(for example the S&P/ASX 100) are factors when gathering macro 
level market-based data as well as specific individual comparator 
benchmarks. When such data suggests that a re-alignment is 
required to remuneration quantum, structure or strategy, the 
committee takes into consideration the ability of the Company to 
fund, over the longer term, any changes proposed.

The committee meets regularly each year to keep these matters 
under review. The committee’s charter is published on the 
Company’s website.

Remuneration policy

The Board aims to set remuneration for all KMPs at levels which 
are reasonable but designed to attract and retain appropriately 
qualified people in a competitive market. In addition the aim is 
to provide both incentive and reward to executives, and to align a 
significant proportion of executive reward to growth in shareholder 
value, with a focus on both the short term (one year) and longer 
term (three years).

How does the Company’s remuneration strategy 
take into account shareholders’ interests?

Linking Remuneration Strategy to Creating Shareholder Value

The Group’s five year plan drives all activities in the business. The 
plan is translated to the remuneration strategy that will assist the 
Group in achieving its financial and other business goals. Each 
year an annual business plan is prepared which examines the 
components that will need to be achieved during the year. The 
Short Term Incentive Plan (STI) is then used to provide incentive and 
reward to the annual components of the business plan. Similarly to 
provide incentive and reward over the longer period of the five year 
plan, the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI) is the vehicle used to drive 
sustained performance and financial growth. 

Globally, managers and senior operational staff in a position 
to influence the financial performance of the Group are on the 
Company’s STI plan. Every year these managers and senior 
operational staff are set key performance indicators (KPIs) that 
are to be achieved in order to receive a payment from the plan. 
70 – 90% of their STI payment is linked to financial goals for the 
business under their control / influence. 

External Remuneration Consultants

ALS has engaged Hay Group and Ernst & Young (Australia) to 
provide benchmark data as well as market practice input to 
remuneration strategy and mechanisms. Both consultants were 
engaged after a comprehensive review of the remuneration 
consulting firm market and both as a result of their reputations for 
quality and for their global reach.

Hay Group provides job evaluation and global remuneration data 
at middle manager to chief executive officer level. Ernst & Young 
provides global remuneration data at Director and executive KMP 
level as well as providing data for our LTI plan (calculating of TSR 
and EPS calculations and market based design information for the 
LTI Plan). Fees paid for Executive job evaluation and remuneration 
advice during the financial year were: Hay Group - $43,050 (2012: 
nil) and Ernst & Young (Australia) - $33,990 (2012: nil). Total fees 
paid for other services during the year: Hay Group – $40,525 and 
Ernst & Young (Australia) - $387,989.

These consultants are engaged directly by the Chairman and all 
information is provided directly back to the Chairman for discussion 
by the committee. The committee and the Board are satisfied that 
the services of these consultants are provided free from undue 
influence by any KMP.
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Remuneration report continued

How is executive pay structured at ALS?

Remuneration Structure - audited

Key Components of Remuneration 

1.		 Fixed Remuneration – aligned to market and to individual 
performance and contribution; includes superannuation and 
salary sacrifice items and fringe benefits tax or equivalent 
charges related to the executive’s non-cash benefits.

2.		 STI – ‘at risk’ pay for performance, STI is based on an annual 
scorecard, listing the executives’ annual targets and related 
yields from achieving them.

3.		 LTI – ‘at risk’ equity based with growth and return targets to 
align executives’ reward with shareholder value creation.

How does ALS ensure that executives, like 
shareholders, benefit in good times but that 
executives also receive less financial benefit when the 
Company does not perform as well?

At Risk versus Fixed Remuneration & Cash versus Equity

Fixed remuneration for each individual executive is set having 
regard to that executive’s duties and responsibilities, the scope 
of their business unit, individual performance, contribution and 
experience, and comparable market information. 

Variable remuneration for each individual executive is set to 
encourage excellent performance, to focus effort on key business 
drivers, and to reward performance and contribution.

The graph below shows a breakdown of the potential fixed 
remuneration to at risk remuneration for different levels of 
executives, depicting maximum potential eligibility for STI and LTI. 
The high percentage of at risk pay provides strong evidence that 
executives will benefit from strong company performance but less 
so for commensurately weaker company performance.

Managing 
Director CASH 73% EQUITY 27%

2012-13 FY FIXED PAY 46% STI 27% LTI 27%

Executive KMPs 
(average) CASH 83% EQUITY 

17%

2012-13 FY FIXED PAY 64% STI 19% LTI 17%

Other senior 
executives 
(average)

CASH 88% EQUITY 
12%

2012-13 FY FIXED PAY 71% STI 18% LTI 11%

Service Contracts

The Group has not entered into any formal service contracts with 
its non-executive directors. Executives have appropriate contractual 
arrangements. In the event of termination without cause, the Group 
is required to pay between three and twelve months of salary.

How is non-executive director pay structured and 
how is their input related to company performance?

Non-Executive Directors

During the last three years, the Board has undertaken a renewal 
process in the light of the retirements of two of our long serving 
directors. The retirements gave the Board the opportunity to 
review emerging Board skill requirements and ensure the two 
new Directors enhanced these skills for the Board as a whole. 
The selection process was comprehensive, ensuring that the new 
Directors were chosen on merit, specifically with the abilities 
required to perform strongly on a global company’s Board. Director 
experience, talent, technical skills and ability to commit the time 
required were all important search criteria.

In order to assist in maintaining a consistently high performing 
Board over the longer term, the Board has implemented an annual 
Board performance review process. In addition, ahead of the 
annual re-election process, the Board reviews the performance 
and contribution of the individual Directors who are coming up for 
re-election and decides whether to support their re-election. It is 
the Board’s policy that directors should serve only for as long as 
they have the confidence of their fellow Board members. With two 
Directors appointed in the last three years, the Company is satisfied 
that independence has been achieved.

No element of Director remuneration is ‘at risk’, that is, fees are 
not based on the performance of the Company or equity-based. 
Directors have set fees, which are reviewed annually and increased 
if appropriate. Directors are paid base fees and if applicable, a fee 
for membership of a committee. The Chairman receives only a base 
fee which includes all committee memberships.

Key Management Personnel

Non-executive directors are listed with details of their committee 
membership below. 

Nerolie Withnall	 Chairman (effective 31 July 2012) 
	 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
	 Member of the Audit and Compliance Committee

Ray Hill		 Member of the Audit and Compliance Committee

Bruce Brown 	 Member of the Remuneration Committee

Mel Bridges		 Member of the Audit and Compliance Committee 

Grant Murdoch	 Chairman of the Audit and Compliance 
	 Committee (effective 1 July 2012)

John Mulcahy 	 Member of the Remuneration Committee

Former director: 
Geoff McGrath 	 Retired 31 July 2012

Directors’ report
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Remuneration report continued

Executive KMPs 

The following people were Executive KMPs during the reporting 
period and unless otherwise stated were Executives for the whole 
of the period:

Executive director:

Greg Kilmister	 Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director (CEO)

Executives:

Brian Williams	 Group General Manager, ALS Minerals

Raj Naran	 Group General Manager, ALS Life Sciences

Paul McPhee	 Group General Manager, ALS Energy

Kristen Walsh	 Group General Manager, ALS Industrial 
	 (became a KMP effective April 2012)

Andrew Ross	 Group General Manager, Reward Distribution

Richard Stephens	Chief Financial Officer 
	 (became a KMP effective April 2012)

Former executive KMPs:

Bruce McDonald	 (Executive VP Geochemistry. Following the 
	 restructure of ALS into four global divisions 
	 effective April 2012, Mr McDonald no longer 
	 meets the definition of a KMP.)

David Brown 	 (former Group General Manager, 
	 Chemical Division – resigned August 2012)

Note: references in this remuneration report to “Executives” are references to 
those executives who are KMPs as listed above, including where relevant the CEO.

Are there any changes in approach this year that 
shareholders should be aware of?

Key Changes this year impacting Remuneration - audited

Restructure of ALS

Given the substantial share price and revenue growth of ALS over 
the past two years coupled with an increase of more than 25% 
in headcount during 2011-12 financial year, at the time of the 
remuneration review the Company had moved towards the centre 
of the S&P/ASX100 Index. Effective 1 April 2012, the ALS Group 
was restructured into four Divisions and ten Business Streams to 
facilitate the achievement of the new five year ALS strategic plan.

The responsibility and scope of the Company’s key leadership roles 
were substantially changed as a result of the redefined focus for 
ALS. The restructure created four global Divisional Head roles and a 
number of other role changes were made at the Business Stream 
level. Two senior executives relocated to Brisbane during the year 
to take up their new Divisional Head roles in recognition of the 
increased synergy, cross selling opportunities and team benefits of 
having all senior executives in the one location.

The restructure overhaul also took into account the fact that the 
Company’s business is no longer dominated by resource sector clients 
but has been consciously grown into a broader based business with 
the majority of acquisitions in the last two years focused on sectors 
outside of the resources industry. With particular emphasis now on 
Life Sciences and the inspection and industrial areas growing rapidly, 
old paradigms and structures needed to be rethought.

During the reporting period the committee engaged our external 
remuneration consultants to provide market information and 
analysis to assist in the remuneration review of the substantially 

changed roles within ALS of the Executive group. 

Hay Group provided initial remuneration data for the restructured 
Executive roles and given the scope and size of the restructure, 
Ernst & Young was also contracted separately to provide 
remuneration data for the same roles. 

Both consultants were appointed by the Chairman and reported 
directly to the committee. Ernst & Young benchmarks for the 
ASX100 index were used to set Director remuneration.

It was found that our Executives required a step change in their 
remuneration to bring them closer in alignment with peers in the 
middle of the ASX100 index. The increases also recognised the 
fierce competition for senior executive talent in the industries 
in which the Company operates as once ALS became an ASX100 
company its visibility increased substantially. 

For similar reasons, Directors’ remuneration also required a step 
change to approach levels of remuneration found in Board fees of 
companies in the same index.

Long Term Incentive Plan Hurdles – Total Shareholder Return 
Peer Group and Earnings Per Share thresholds

The growth and globalisation of ALS was also a stimulus for changes 
to the Long Term Incentive (LTI) Plan hurdles for rights issued during 
the March 2013 financial year. In the context of the annual review 
of the LTI Plan, the vehicle’s purpose, components and performance 
were compared to their original goals. 

The key goals of the LTI Plan are to:

(a)		Act as a retention tool for key, high performing executives

(b)		Align executives’ financial reward more closely with 
shareholders reward by encouraging share ownership in ALS 

(c)		Maintain fixed remuneration at a stable market level by 
minimising temporary remuneration fluctuations to ensure ALS 
continues to be a sustainable business; and 

(d)		Drive teamwork and increased performance of ALS through the 
use of the company performance hurdles of Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) and Earnings per Share (EPS).

The review included a comprehensive market analysis of the LTI 
Plan Hurdles and approaches of ALS’ market cap peers in the 
ASX100 Index. As the Company has moved away from being a 
business that has its major focus on the resources sector to a 
diversified testing and inspection business, it became obvious that 
more relevant LTI Plan hurdles were necessary to properly reflect 
the Company’s performance. 

As a result of the review, the TSR comparator group for performance 
rights issued during the year was split into two components 
to introduce peers in the ASX100 index, replacing the previous 
comparator companies from the resources sector (in relation to 
the April 2012 to March 2015 performance period). 50% of rights 
granted during the year with a TSR hurdle have a comparator group 
of companies in the ASX100 Index at 1 April 2012. The remaining 
50% of rights with a TSR hurdle continue to have a peer group of 
direct global competitors as it did in previous performance periods.

An updated EPS hurdle was adopted for the April 2012 to March 
2015 performance period. The historical growth trajectory of the 
Company was based on harnessing the benefits of the high point 
of the cyclical resources sector which is now in the past. Unlike 
some peers solely focused on the resources sector, the Company 
has the ability to and has sought to diversify into more stable and 
consistent growth markets within the Life Sciences and Industrial 
markets. This planned diversification has been executed over 
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Remuneration report continued

the past five years in anticipation of the resources boom ending. 
The EPS change therefore recognised that initially ALS will need 
to embed and grow the new businesses sectors ahead of fully 
realising the benefit of the diversification.

Update to approach in Remuneration Report

The Chairman works closely with shareholders’ advisory groups 
and their input as well as a desire to improve the readability of the 
remuneration report have resulted in an updated format this year.

Key changes from the previous year are clearer descriptions to 
demonstrating the direct link between Executives’ remuneration 
and company performance and most importantly more information 
on how that links to driving shareholder value.

Actual Remuneration – FY 2012-13 - audited

Non-Executive directors

The total amount of remuneration, including superannuation, for 
all non-executive directors must not exceed the limit approved 
by shareholders. The last approval was for $1,500,000 per annum 
approved at the 2012 AGM.

Directors are paid base and committee membership fees only, 
which are fixed by the Board. The Directors are entitled to be 
reimbursed for all travel and related expenses properly incurred in 
connection with the business of the Company. 

The levels of Directors’ remuneration are set having regard to 
independent survey data and publicly available information about 
fees paid to non-executive directors in a range of comparable 
companies. Given the substantial growth and increase in global 
complexity of ALS noted above, Directors’ fees also required an 
appropriate uplift to reflect their increased workload and the 
Company’s extended global scope during the year.

The structure current for the reporting period for annual payments, 
inclusive of mandatory superannuation contributions, was:

Chairman of the Board:        $330,000 

(Covers all responsibilities as Chairman of the Board and the 
Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee)

Other non-executive directors:

Board membership:               $165,000

Committee membership:

	 Audit and Compliance	 Remuneration 
	 Committee	 Committee 
	 $	 $

Chairman	 25,000	 n/a *
Member	 12,500	 12,500

* currently filled by the Chairman of the Board

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of 
remuneration of each Director are set out below:

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

In AUD Short-term 
(Salary & fees) $

Long term 
(D&O insurances)

$

Post employment 
(Superannuation benefits)

$

Total
$

Directors:

Non-executive directors

Nerolie Withnall 2013 250,442 615 22,540 273,597

2012 130,000 619 11,700 142,319

Ray Hill 2013 151,508 615 13,636 165,759

2012 116,250 619 10,463 127,332

Bruce Brown 2013 149,008 615 13,411 163,034

2012 35,833 619 79,979 116,431

Mel Bridges 2013 148,383 615 13,354 162,352

2012 103,750 619 9,338 113,707

Grant Murdoch 2013 160,109 615 14,410 175,134

(appointed 1 Sep 2011) 2012 69,583 361 6,263 76,207

John Mulcahy 2013 149,008 615 13,411 163,034

(appointed 1 Feb 2012) 2012 17,500 103 1,575 19,178

Geoff McGrath 2013 77,729 205 6,300 84,234

(retired 31 Jul 2012) 2012 157,500 619 68,675 226,794

Martin Kriewaldt 2013 - - - -

(retired 26 Jul 2011) 2012 38,750 206 4,388 43,344

Total compensation: 2013 1,086,187 3,895 97,062 1,187,144

Non-executive directors 2012 669,166 3,765 192,381 865,312
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Remuneration report continued

Executive KMPs

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Executive KMP are set out below:

In AUD

Short-term Long-term Post- employment

Termination 
benefits

$
Total

$
Salary & fees

$

STI cash 
bonus (a)

$

Non- monetary 
benefits (b) 

$

Value of share-
based awards 

(c) $

(D&O 
insurances)

$

Superannuation & 
pension benefits 

$

Executive Director:

Greg Kilmister 2013 1,337,500 422,500 3,423 399,575 615 31,250 - 2,194,863

2012 1,056,250 675,000 11,753 483,485 619 50,000 - 2,277,107

Executives: 

Brian Williams 2013 590,288 110,000 - 84,775 304 24,998 - 810,365

2012 397,738 200,000 7,754 89,423 347 24,866 - 720,128

Raj Naran 2013 498,929 106,558 - 72,180 304 13,256 - 691,227

2012 341,525 161,290 - 147,510 347 11,913 - 662,585

Paul McPhee 2013 537,226 200,000 74,446 304 15,494 - 827,470

2012 411,675 182,000 - 83,861 347 20,058 - 697,941

Kristen Walsh (d) 2013 401,391 75,000 16,924 23,356 304 35,744 - 552,719

2012 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Andrew Ross 2013 285,093 - - - 304 25,658 - 311,055

2012 269,265 30,000 - - 347 24,234 - 323,846

Richard Stephens (e) 2013 377,737 62,500 18,059 32,270 304 22,954 - 513,824

2012 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Bruce McDonald (f) 2013 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

2012 441,693 191,626 4,510 154,309 347 - - 792,485

David Brown (g) 2013 122,324 - - (7,679) 127 11,009 - 125,781

2012 291,258 50,000 - 12,258 347 24,992 - 378,855

Peter Jordan (h) 2013 - - - - - - - -

2012 227,482 - - (40,868) 231 20,560 18,102 225,507

Total Compensation: 2013 4,150,488 976,558 38,406 678,923 2,566 180,363 - 6,027,304

Executives 2012 3,436,886 1,489,916 24,017 929,978 2,932 176,623 18,102 6,078,454

(a)		 STI cash bonuses are paid annually following the end of the financial year. 

(b)		 Non-monetary benefits include payment of allowances, provision of other benefits such as motor vehicles, fringe benefits tax thereon and an amount representing 
commercial interest that would have been charged during the period on the executive’s outstanding employee loan balances owed to the Company had these loans not 
been interest free.

(c)		  The LTI Plan was introduced in April 2008. Performance rights are granted annually to executives earning an STI payment in the previous financial year. Refer to note 37 
for details. The fair value of performance rights granted is calculated using Binomial Tree (EPS hurdle) and Monte-Carlo Simulation (TSR hurdle) valuation methodologies 
and allocated to each financial year evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.

(d)		 Ms Walsh became a KMP effective April 2012.

(e)		 Mr Stephens became a KMP effective April 2012.

(f)		  Following the restructure of ALS into four global divisions effective April 2012, Mr McDonald no longer meets the definition of a KMP.

(g)		 Mr Brown resigned from the Group in August 2012 in connection with the disposal of the Campbell Chemicals segment. The negative value allocated to share-based 
awards represents the reversal of expense recorded in previous years in relation to performance rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.

(h)		 Mr Jordan resigned from the Group in November 2011. The negative value allocated to share-based awards represents the reversal of expense recorded in previous years 
in relation to performance rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.

Directors’ report
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Remuneration report continued

How is ALS’ bonus program structured and how 
does it drive value for shareholders?

Short Term Incentive Plan - audited

The Board sets the maximum amounts which can be earned as a 
cash bonus for each executive, annually, and also approves their STI 
Plan scorecards. 

Payments to the CEO may not exceed 60% of his total fixed 
remuneration and payments for other Executives are between 
20% and 40% of their total fixed remuneration. Bonus payments 
are contingent on the achievement of specified financial and other 
performance indicators (KPIs) for the financial year, as follows:

Financial KPIs

•	 for the CEO 80% of the possible STI amount depends on 
achievement of KPIs based on Group net profit after tax; 

•	 for other executives 35-70% depends on achievement of KPIs 
based on earnings before interest and tax and 20-35% on ROS 
targets for individual business units under their direct control. 

Non-Financial KPIs

•	 the balance of the STI amounts for the CEO and other executives 
depends on achievement of KPIs measuring performance in 
health, safety and the environment and risk management as 
well as specific KPIs tailored to strategic plan delivery. Such 
specific KPIs for the year included but were not limited to – 
process automation implementations, customer service focus, 
new or upgraded facilities and quality related improvements. 

Payments are not made to executives found to have 
misrepresented their financial and non-financial KPI results; 
misrepresentations discovered after an STI payment has been made 
will result in the executive having to return the payment to the 
Company.

All KPIs are therefore structured so that they aim to deliver 
shareholder value, whether it be via superior financial performance 
or by motivational KPIs that drive current or future value from 
strategic initiatives.

What were the performance goals for 2012-13 
financial year?

Directors’ report
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5 Year Strategic Plan 
Objectives

Key Performance 
Indicator 

Scorecard  
Weighting Comments Outcome for 

Shareholders

Examples of 2012-13 financial KPIs

Grow Revenue and 
Operating Profit

Operating Profit Target 35-70%
The targets for FY2012-13 were set 
against the previous year’s results and 
the FY2012-13 budget.

At risk remuneration 
is heavily weighted to 
financial performance, 
all executives have at 
least 70% of their at risk 
payment contingent on 
financial targets.

ROS Target 20-35%
ROS targets are based on continuous 
improvement of ROS at each of our 
global facilities.

Examples of 2012-13 non-financial KPIs

Core Value –  
“Safety as a Priority”

Health, safety & 
environment Targets

10%
May be targeted to a specific 
improvement initiative or based 
on ALS’ PPI Index* 

Protection and growth of 
the ALS Brand

Expansion of the range 
of services across all 
geographies

New Mongolian site 
operational

7.5%
Access to the growing 
Mongolian markets

Expansion of the range 
of services across all 
geographies

Complete the integration 
of all new acquisitions 
on time and in budget 
(Eclipse, AMS, Artek & 
Milana)

10%
Growth of the Life 
Sciences Division, 
diversification

Expansion of the range 
of services across all 
geographies

Have operational new 
Santiago, Chile facility.

5%
Access to the growing 
South American markets

Systemisation and 
superior information 
management systems

Rollout OSPrey system 
to Australian Asset Care 
Services Business Units.

10%
Faster access to data, greater efficiency 
for field operatives

Efficiency leading to cost 
savings

Develop and promote 
from within

Succession Plan approved 
for the Sub Saharan 
African Region

5%
Knowledge and skills 
grown within, and talent 
retained

*PPI – Positive Performance Indicator Scorecard – proactive performance targets set by the Company’s Corporate Compliance Group that include a balanced scorecard of health, 
safety and environmental lead indicators. A minimum score of 80% is required to achieve the HSE KPI.
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How is ALS’ long term incentive program structured 
and how does it drive value for shareholders?

Long Term Incentive Plan - audited

Remuneration under the Long Term Incentive (LTI) Plan is in the 
form of equity-settled performance rights; and in jurisdictions 
where securities legislation does not permit this, the rights are 
cash settled. The performance rights are granted each year to 
senior managers and executives, who being entitled to receive STI 
payments, are invited to participate in the LTI plan by the CEO with 
the Board’s approval.

The number of performance rights granted to an executive is 
calculated by dividing the amount of the executive’s STI payment by 
the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares 
over the 20 trading days following the date of announcement of the 
final full year results for the financial year preceding the period to 
which the grant of performance rights relate. The vesting of rights is 
subject to the Company’s achievement of cumulative performance 
hurdles over the three year performance period.

The performance hurdles are based on earnings per share (EPS) 
and on relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) measures over 
the performance period. The cumulative performance hurdles 
are assessed at the end of the performance period and the 
performance rights become exercisable, in whole or in part, or are 
forfeited from 1 July following the end of the performance period.

Each equity-settled performance right which vests and is exercised 
converts to an ordinary share in the Company at nil exercise price; 
the amount payable per cash-settled performance right which 
vests is the VWAP of the Company’s shares over the 20 trading days 
following the release of the Company’s full year results for the final 
year of each performance period.

The LTI plan rules prohibit those who are granted performance 
rights from entering into arrangements that limit their exposure 
to share price decreases and the executive must be employed in 
the Group on the vesting date to be eligible for issue of the shares 
(equity-settled rights) or receipt of payment (cash-settled rights).

Remuneration report continued

How does company performance impact on executives’ remuneration?

Executive STI Performance vested / forfeited 

As noted above, KPI performance at the 100% level is required for the executive to achieve a financial payment for that KPI. Below are details 
of the vesting profile, for 2012-13 and the previous year, of the STI cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to each of the named Executives:

Included in remuneration $ (a)  % vested % forfeited (b)

Executives

Greg Kilmister 2013 422,500 50 50

2012 675,000 100 -

Brian Williams 2013 110,000 50 50

2012 200,000 100 -

Raj Naran 2013 106,558 50 50

2012 161,290 100 -

Paul McPhee 2013 200,000 100 -

2012 182,000 91 9

Kristen Walsh (c) 2013 75,000 50 50

2012 n/a n/a n/a

Andrew Ross 2013 - - 100

2012 30,000 50 50

Richard Stephens (d) 2013 62,500 50 50

2012 n/a n/a n/a

Bruce McDonald (e) 2013 n/a n/a n/a

2012 191,626 100 -

David Brown (f) 2013 n/a n/a n/a

2012 50,000 100 -

Directors’ report
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a)		  Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represent the amounts that vested in the financial year based on the achievement of personal goals and 
satisfaction of specified performance criteria. 

(b)		 The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the financial year.

(c)		  Ms Walsh became a KMP effective April 2012.

(d)		 Mr Stephens became a KMP effective April 2012.

(e)		 Following the restructure of ALS into four global divisions effective April 2012, Mr McDonald no longer meets the definition of a KMP.

(f)		  Mr Brown resigned from the Group in August 2012 in connection with the disposal of the Campbell Chemicals segment.
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Remuneration report continued

Long Term Incentive Plan - audited continued

What are the performance hurdles for the LTI Plan? 
Why were they chosen and how do they enhance 
company performance?

Half of the performance rights are measured against an earnings 
per share (EPS) hurdle. EPS was chosen because it provides a good 
indicator of the shareholder value derived from earnings growth.

The other half is measured against a total shareholder return (TSR) 
hurdle. TSR was chosen because it provides a good indicator of the 
value derived from capital growth and distributions to shareholders.

The comparator companies for the 2011 and earlier awards 
measure ALS against a mix of direct competitors and as this is a 
small group, a basket of services companies in the resources sector 
were included as historically the company has traded heavily within 
the resources sector.

In early 2012 following the full review and restructure of ALS, a 
consequent adjustment was required to the LTI Plan hurdles for 
future performance periods to align them with the diversified 
analytical and testing company ALS has now become. During this 
review, analysis was conducted of the LTI plan hurdles currently 

being used by ALS’ peers within the ASX100 index to gain a better 
understanding of the types of hurdles and approaches being used 
by other large companies.
As a result of the analysis, a revised EPS hurdle was introduced 
for rights issued during the year subject to the April 2012 to 
March 2015 performance period to reflect a more realistic growth 
target, with the upper level to achieve a grant of shares (or cash 
equivalent payment) remaining at the same level as 2011-12. The 
lower threshold level growth target was reduced. The reasoning 
was that ALS had ridden the resources boom and experienced 
very high EPS returns throughout the boom period. With the boom 
fading and the Company now concentrating on more stable and 
consistent industries as well as harnessing new growth areas, the 
EPS hurdle’s growth needed to be representative of this change.

The TSR hurdle was similarly adjusted for rights issued during 
the year subject to the April 2012 to March 2015 performance 
period. The ASX100 index was introduced as a more relevant peer 
group than the resources sector services companies used in prior 
performance periods. 50% of the rights granted during the year 
with a TSR hurdle have a peer group in the ASX100 Index at 1 April 
2012. The remaining 50% of rights with a TSR hurdle continue to 
have a peer group of direct global competitors as it did in previous 
performance periods (with two further competitors added).

The performance hurdles and vesting proportions for each criterion 
are as follows:

Directors’ report
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Proportion of total performance rights 
that may be exercised if EPS growth 

hurdle is met

Compound annual diluted EPS growth

2010 issue 2011 issue 2012 issue

0% Less than 13% per annum Less than 10% per annum Less than 8% per annum

25% 13% per annum 10% per annum 8% per annum

Straight line vesting between 
25% and 50%

Between 13% and 20% per 
annum

Between 10% and 14% per 
annum

Between 8% and 14% per 
annum

50% (i.e. 50% of total grant) 20% or higher per annum 14% or higher per annum 14% or higher per annum

Performance period 1 Apr 10 – 31 Mar 13 1 Apr 11 – 31 Mar 14 1 Apr 12 – 31 Mar 15

Proportion of total performance rights that may be 
exercised if TSR hurdle is met

TSR of ALS Ltd relative to TSRs of comparator companies

2010 issue 2011 issue

0% Less than the 50th percentile Less than the 50th percentile

25% 50th percentile 50th percentile

Straight line vesting between 25% and 50%
Between 50th percentile and 75th 

percentile
Between 50th percentile and 75th 

percentile

50% (i.e. 50% of total grant) 75th percentile or higher 75th percentile or higher

Performance period 1 Apr 10 – 31 Mar 13 1 Apr 11 – 31 Mar 14

Comparator companies

International companies: Bureau Veritas (France), Core Laboratories (USA), 
Eurofins (France & Germany), Intertek (UK), SGS (Switzerland).

Australian companies: Ausdrill, Ausenco, Boart Longyear, Cardno, Clough, 
Coffey International, MacMahon Holdings, Monadelphous, Orica, Sedgman, 

Servcorp, Transfield Services, WorleyParsons.
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Proportion of total performance rights that may be 
exercised if TSR hurdle is met

TSR of ALS Ltd relative to TSRs of industry peer 
companies over the period 1 April 2012 to 31 

March 2015

TSR of ALS Ltd relative to TSRs of companies in the 
ASX100 Index over the period 1 April 2012 to 31 

March 2015

2012 issue 2012 issue

0% Less than the 50th percentile Less than the 50th percentile

12.5% per comparator group 50th percentile 50th percentile

Straight line vesting between 12.5% and 
25% per comparator group

Between 50th percentile and 75th percentile Between 50th percentile and 75th percentile

25% (i.e. 25% of total grant) per 
comparator group

75th percentile or higher 75th percentile or higher

Performance period 1 Apr 12 – 31 Mar 15 1 Apr 12 – 31 Mar 15

Comparator companies

Listed peers involved in the commercial testing 
and inspection services industry: 

Bureau Veritas (France), Core Laboratories 
(USA), Eurofins (France & Germany), Intertek 
(UK), Mistras (USA), SGS (Switzerland) and 

Team Industrial Services (USA).

Companies included in the ASX 100 Index as 
at 1 April 2012

How is EPS growth calculated?

The growth in earnings per share is calculated by comparing the diluted earnings per share (EPS) achieved by the Group in the base year (e.g. 
year to March 2010) with that achieved in the final year of the performance period (e.g. year to March 2013).

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the underlying net profit after tax attributable to shareholders of ALS Ltd by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares on issue for the year being measured (diluted for outstanding equity-settled performance rights). 

Following finalisation of ALS’ financial results for FY2012-13 the compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in the Company’s diluted EPS over the 
three year period to March 2013 was 39% (from 26 cents to 69 cents). Thus 100% of rights subject to the EPS hurdle will vest on 1 July 2013 
and be available to executives who are employed on the vesting date.

How is did ALS perform against its TSR peers?

The Table below contains the TSR rankings for the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2013. The Company’s performance was marginally 
below the 75th percentile required to achieve full vesting. Thus 94.44% of rights subject to the TSR hurdle will vest on 1 July 2013, and be 
available to executives who are employed on the vesting date.

Rank Company Name TSR Percentile Level of Vesting

1 Eurofins Scientific SE 399.10% 100.00 100.00%

2 Bureau Veritas SA 167.38% 94.44 100.00%

3 Intertek Group Plc 152.77% 88.89 100.00%

4 Core Laboratories NV 116.27% 83.33 100.00%

5 Cardno Limited 107.62% 77.78 100.00%

6 ALS Limited 104.97% 72.22 94.44% 75th Percentile

7 Monadelphous Group Limited 78.52% 66.67 83.33%

8 SGA SA 77.46% 61.11 72.22%

9 Clough Limited 71.40% 55.56 61.11%

10 Ausdrill Limited 55.28% 50.00 50.00% Median

11 Servcorp Limited 21.44% 44.44 0.00%

12 Orica Limited 17.14% 38.89 0.00%

13 Worley Parsons Limited 9.17% 33.33 0.00%

14 Ausenco Limited -1.94% 27.78 0.00%

15 Sedgman Limited -30.59% 22.22 0.00%

16 Transfield Services Limited -44.18% 16.67 0.00%

17 Boart Longyear Limited -51.76% 11.11 0.00%

18 Macmahon Holdings Limited -54.86% 5.56 0.00%

19 Coffey international Limited -74.14% 0.00 0.00%

Source: The information presented in the table above has been obtained from Ernst & Young (12 April 2013) and is unaudited.

Remuneration report continued

Long Term Incentive Plan - audited continued
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Remuneration report continued

What proportion of the performance related remuneration did the Executives actually earn?

Proportion of performance related and equity based remuneration

Details of each of the named Executives’ performance related and equity based remuneration as a proportion of their total remuneration is 
detailed below.

Proportion of all at risk remuneration 
(STI & LTI) as a percentage of total 

remuneration %

Proportion of performance rights (LTI) 
as a percentage of total 

remuneration %

Executives

Greg Kilmister 2013 37.5 18.2

2012 50.9 21.2

Brian Williams 2013 24.0 10.5

2012 40.2 12.4

Raj Naran 2013 25.9 10.4

2012 46.6 22.3

Paul McPhee 2013 33.2 9.0

2012 38.1 12.0

Kristen Walsh (a) 2013 17.8 4.2

2012 n/a n/a

Andrew Ross (b) 2013 - n/a

2012 9.3 n/a

Richard Stephens (c) 2013 18.4 6.3

2012 n/a n/a

Bruce McDonald (d) 2013 n/a n/a

2012 43.7 19.5

David Brown (e) 2013 - (6.1)

2012 16.4 3.2

Peter Jordan (f) 2013 n/a n/a

2012 (18.1) (18.1)

(a)		 Ms Walsh became a KMP effective April 2012.

(b)		 Mr Ross is not a participant in the LTI plan.

(c)		  Mr Stephens became a KMP effective April 2012.

(d)		 Following the restructure of ALS into four global divisions effective April 2012, Mr McDonald no longer meets the definition of a KMP.

(e)		 Mr Brown resigned from the Group in August 2012 in connection with the disposal of the Campbell Chemicals segment. The negative value above represents the reversal 
of expense recorded in previous years in relation to performance rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.

(f)		  Mr Jordan resigned from the Group in November 2011. The negative values above represent the reversal of expense recorded in previous years in relation to 
performance rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.

Directors’ report
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Remuneration report continued

Performance rights over ordinary shares granted as remuneration

Details of vested and outstanding performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as remuneration to each KMP 
under the LTI Plan are presented in the table below. All numbers, values and prices included in the table have been adjusted to reflect the 
Company’s 5-for 1-share split in August 2012.

Grant date
Number of 

rights granted 
(a)

Fair value per 
right at grant 

date (b)

Issue price 
used to 

determine no. 
of rights 

granted (b)

Vesting date
Number of 

rights vested 
and exercised

Number of 
rights lapsed 

(c)

% of rights 
lapsed (c)

Executives

Greg Kilmister

31 July 12 61,185 $5.28 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 67,975 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

27 Jul 10 53,380 $5.01 $5.62 1 Jul 13 - - -

24 Nov 09 148,515 $4.71 $3.84 1 Jul 12 148,515 - -

Brian Williams

5 Sep 12 18,130 $3.66 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 14,565 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

27 Jul 10 16,015 $5.01 $5.62 1 Jul 13 - - -

30 Jun 09 28,560 $3.46 $3.84 1 Jul 12 28,560 - -

Raj Naran

5 Sep 12 14,890 $3.66 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 12,525 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

27 Jul 10 19,535 $5.01 $5.62 1 Jul 13 - - -

Paul McPhee

5 Sep 12 16,495 $3.66 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 10,790 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

27 Jul 10 16,015 $5.01 $5.62 1 Jul 13 - - -

30 Jun 09 29,055 $3.46 $3.84 1 Jul 12 29,055 - -

Kristen Walsh
5 Sep 12 6,525 $3.66 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 7,555 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

Richard Stephens

5 Sep 12 6,120 $3.66 $11.03 1 Jul 15 - - -

26 Jul 11 5,935 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 - - -

27 Jul 10 5,340 $5.01 $5.62 1 Jul 13 - - -

30 Jun 09 14,005 $3.46 $3.84 1 Jul 12 14,005 - -

David Brown (d) 26 Jul 11 4,585 $7.20 $9.27 1 Jul 14 1,528 3,057 67%

(a)		 Performance rights granted to Mr Naran in July 2010 and July 2011 are cash-settled rights. Rights granted to Mr Naran in September 2012 and rights granted to all other 
executives named above are equity-settled rights.

(b)		 The issue price used to determine the number of rights offered in each year to all participants, including Mr Kilmister and other key management personnel, was the 
volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares during the twenty trading days following the announcement of the Group’s annual financial results. The grant 
dates and corresponding fair values per right in the above table have been determined in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and are dependent on the 
dates on which individual executives are deemed to have received their offers to participate in the Plan. Fair values have been calculated using Binomial Tree (EPS 
hurdle) and Monte-Carlo Simulation (TSR hurdle) valuation methodologies.

(c)		  The number of rights lapsed represents rights lapsed due to performance hurdles not being met and/or rights lapsed on cessation of employment.

(d)		 In accordance with the partial vesting provisions of the LTI Plan, 1528 rights issued to Mr Brown vested upon his resignation.
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Remuneration report continued

Company Performance and link to Shareholder Wealth - audited

Consequences of performance on shareholders’ wealth

The Board considers that the previous and current remuneration 
strategy including the recent adjustments to ALS structure, its LTI 
Plan hurdles and increases in fixed remuneration are providing a 
strong and sustainable benefit for shareholders now and into the 
future. 

In considering the Group’s performance and creation of shareholder 
wealth, the Board invites shareholders to review the following 
financial data in respect of the current financial year and the 
previous four financial years:

Year ended 31 March 2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2011 
$m

2010 
$m

2009 
$m

Underlying profit 
(excluding unusual items) 
attributable to equity 
holders of the Company 237.8 222.4 132.2 75.3 106.2

Profit attributable to equity 
holders of the Company 227.2 222.4 132.4 75.3 106.2

Dividends paid or payable 164.3 151.9 94.2 62.8 52.8

Share price at balance 
date (all shown on a 
post-share split basis) $10.47 $13.45 $9.27 $5.91 $2.72

Outlook for 2013-14FY Remuneration - unaudited

We will continue to seek ways to improve the approach and 
documentation of our communications to shareholders. As times 
change and markets evolve, the Company will adjust its annual 
plans to ensure that our long term strategy is achieved. 

ALS has proven itself to be agile and able to harness the benefits 
of the economy in its many global locations. As trends emerge and 
markets shift, the Company will continue to monitor how better 
returns may be achieved for shareholders. Consequently, the annual 
review of remuneration strategy will continue and adjustments 
will continue to be made as and when it makes sense. Having 
been comprehensively reviewed this reporting period, it has been 
resolved that both fixed remuneration and the maximum potential 
STI quantum for Executives and fees for Directors will be unchanged 
for the 2013-14 FY.

As the company continues to grow and evolve, it is expected 
that further adjustments may be required to the LTI Plan hurdles 
for future performance periods. Such changes will recognise the 
continuing role the LTI Plan plays in motivating growth and robust 
financial performance.

Consultation with shareholder advisory groups and use of external 
specialist consultants will continue to be a strong feature of 
our remuneration strategy and process to ensure that fair and 
affordable remuneration continues into the future.

Environmental regulation
The Group is committed to complying with environmental 
legislation, standards, and codes of practice relevant to the 
particular business in the areas in which it operates. A number of 
hub laboratories are regulated under State and local government 
legislation predominately for their hazardous waste generation and 
disposal. Each hub laboratory holds a current licence and or consent 
from the relevant environment protection authority or local council 
where required.

Environmental management

As part of the Group’s compliance program, environmental matters 
are reported on monthly by all divisional managers. In addition, 
internal sign-offs are completed by all managers on a yearly 
basis, reporting on performance against relevant environmental 
legislation and key environmental risks in their area of operations. 
Apart from complying with local legal requirements each site 
location across the world operates under the corporate health 
safety and environment minimum standard which sets out 13 
key standards including identification and management of key 
environmental risks, emergency planning, reporting environmental 
incidents, and conducting monthly audits.

Initiatives

There were a number of environmental initiatives implemented 
during the year across the Group. These are explained in detail under 
the Corporate Social Responsibility section of the annual report.

Performance against environmental compliance requirements

There were no material breaches of environmental statutory 
requirements and no fines, penalties or prosecutions launched 
against the Group during the year. Internal and external audits and 
internal reporting and monitoring have indicated a high level of 
compliance with site licence conditions, relevant legislation and 
corporate minimum standards.

Events subsequent to reporting date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 
directors of the company, to affect significantly the operations of 
the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group, in future financial years.

Likely developments
The Group’s objective during the next financial year will be to 
maximise earnings and investment returns across all the business 
units in its diversified portfolio.
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Directors’ interests
The relevant interest of each director in the share capital of the 
Company as notified by the directors to the Australian Securities 
Exchange in accordance with section 205G(1) of the Corporations 
Act 2001 as at the date of this report is:

	 No. of Ordinary shares

Nerolie Withnall	 13,426

Greg Kilmister	 871,510

Ray Hill	 50,000

Bruce Brown	 152,833

Mel Bridges	 19,205

Grant Murdoch	 40,250

John Mulcahy	 40,000

Refer to the Remuneration Report above for details of performance 
rights held by Mr Kilmister.

Directors’ meetings
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of 
committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by each 
of the directors of the Company during the financial year are:

Board Meetings
Audit & Compliance 

Committee 
Meetings (1)

Remuneration 
Committee
Meetings

A B A B A B

Nerolie Withnall 9 9 4 4 2 2

Greg Kilmister 9 9 - - - -

Ray Hill 9 9 4 4 - -

Bruce Brown 9 8 - - 2 2

Mel Bridges 9 8 4 4 - -

Grant Murdoch 9 9 4 4 - -

John Mulcahy 9 9 - - 2 2

Geoff McGrath (2) 4 4 - - - -

A – Number of meetings held during the time the director held 
		 office during the year

B – Number of meetings attended

(1)		Although not members of the Audit & Compliance Committee, Messrs Brown, 
Mulcahy and Kilmister attend meetings of the Committee as permitted by the 
Committee’s Charter.

(2)	Mr McGrath retired from the Board following the AGM on 31 July 2012.

Indemnification and insurance 
of directors and officers
Indemnification

Under its Constitution, and by resolution of the Board, the Company 
has agreed to indemnify to the extent permitted by law and the 
Corporations Act 2001:

•	 every person and employee who is or has been an officer of the 
Company or of a Group entity where requested to do so, including 
a director or secretary, against any liability (other than for 

	 legal costs) incurred by that person or employee as an officer of 
the Company or of a Group entity (including liabilities incurred 
by that person or employee as an officer of the Company or of 
a Group entity where the Company requested that person or 
employee to accept that appointment).

•	 every person and employee who is or has been an officer of 
the Company or of a Group entity where requested to do so, 
including a director or secretary, against reasonable legal costs 
incurred in defending an action for a liability incurred by that 
person or employee as an officer of the Company or of a Group 
entity (including such legal costs incurred by that person or 
employee as an officer of the Company or of a Group entity 
where the Company requested that person or employee to 
accept that appointment).

Insurance premiums

During the financial year the Company paid insurance premiums 
in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and personal accident 
insurance contracts, for current and former directors and senior 
executives, including senior executives of its subsidiaries. The 
current directors are listed elsewhere in this report. The insurance 
relates to:

•	 costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending 
proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever their 
outcome; and

•	 other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the 
exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or 
improper use of information or position to gain a personal 
advantage.

It is a condition of the policies that premiums paid and terms and 
conditions of the policies are not to be disclosed.

Non-audit services
During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed 
certain other services in addition to statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during 
the year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice 
provided by resolution of the Audit and Compliance Committee, is 
satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the 
year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance 
procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed 
by the Audit and Compliance Committee to ensure they do not 
impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general 
principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not 
involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in 
a management or decision making capacity for the Company, 
acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and 
rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, 
and its related practices for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below. In addition, amounts paid to 
other auditors for the statutory audit have been disclosed:
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Non-audit services continued

Consolidated

In thousands of AUD 2013 2012

Audit services  

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

Audit and review of consolidated and company financial reports* 521 484

Audit of subsidiary’s financial report 28 40

Other regulatory audits 5 5

Other KPMG member firms:

Audit and review of financial reports* 633 673

1,187 1,202

Other auditors 67 107

Audit and review of financial reports 1,254 1,309

Other services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

Other assurance and investigation services 13 22

Other KPMG member firms:

Taxation services 189 136

Other assurance and investigation services 26 72

228 230

* Includes impact of acquisitions during the financial year.

Lead auditor’s independence declaration
The Lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 105 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 
31 March 2013.

Rounding off
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the 
financial report and directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest one hundred thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Nerolie Withnall	 Greg Kilmister 
Chairman	 Managing Director

Brisbane	 Brisbane 
27 May 2013	 27 May 2013
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 Restated 2012*

Continuing operations

Revenue from sale of goods  119.2 123.2

Revenue from rendering of services  1,336.4 1,192.4

 1,455.6 1,315.6

Other income 7  1.9 1.9

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 6.7 13.7

Raw materials and consumables purchased (192.4) (183.2)

Employee expenses (588.8) (512.5)

Warehousing and distribution costs (34.3) (30.7)

Amortisation and depreciation (55.4) (45.5)

Selling expenses (12.8) (12.4)

Impairment losses 21 (16.1) -

Administration and other expenses (235.6) (228.9)

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 18 1.6 1.4

Profit before financing costs and income tax 330.4 319.4

Finance income 11 1.9 1.8

Finance expense 11 (21.5) (17.4)

Net finance expense (19.6) (15.6)

Profit before income tax 310.8 303.8

Income tax expense 12 (88.5) (84.8)

Profit from continuing operations 222.3 219.0

Discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) of discontinued operations (net of income tax) 35 8.2 5.7

Profit for the year 230.5  224.7

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 227.3 222.4

Non-controlling interest 3.2 2.3

Profit for the year 230.5 224.7

Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders (post 5-for-1 split basis) ** 13 66.44c 65.90c

Diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders (post 5-for-1 split basis) ** 13 66.35c 65.76c

Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders from continuing operations 
(post 5-for-1 split basis) **

13 64.05c 64.21c

Diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders from continuing operations 
(post 5-for-1 split basis) **

13 63.96c 64.08c

Dividends per share ** 26 $0.48 $0.45

* See discontinued operations – note 35
** Comparative information for basic and diluted earnings per share and dividends per share has been restated for the impact of the share split undertaken in August 2012.

The profit and loss statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Profit for the year 230.5 224.7

Other comprehensive income *

Foreign exchange translation (33.2) (3.5)

Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investments in foreign subsidiaries 3.2 (2.7)

Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity (0.4) (0.9)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax (30.4) (7.1)

Total comprehensive income for the year 200.1 217.6

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company 196.9 215.3

Non-controlling interest 3.2 2.3

Total comprehensive income for the year 200.1 217.6

* All movements in comprehensive income are disclosed net of applicable income tax.

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14 115.9 133.4

Trade and other receivables 15 257.0 263.6

Inventories 16 74.0 80.5

Other assets 17 34.7 28.6

Total current assets 481.6 506.1

Non-current assets

Receivables 15 2.6 2.1

Investments accounted for using the equity method 18 7.9 10.9

Investment property 23 11.0 11.1

Deferred tax assets 19 16.3 13.1

Property, plant and equipment 20 397.2 324.6

Intangible assets 21 805.0 767.7

Other assets 17 13.1 0.2

Total non-current assets 1,253.1 1,129.7

Total assets 1,734.7 1,635.8

Liabilities

Bank overdraft 14 3.0 1.2

Trade and other payables 22 113.5 123.2

Loans and borrowings 24 3.9 4.0

Income tax payable 15.1 28.5

Employee benefits 41.2 39.0

Total current liabilities 176.7 195.9

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 24 521.9 498.8

Deferred tax liabilities 19 2.1 1.7

Employee benefits 3.4 2.9

Other 25 33.5 6.3

Total non-current liabilities 560.9 509.7

Total liabilities 737.6 705.6

Net assets 997.1 930.2

Equity

Share capital 26 667.9 610.4

Reserves (97.9) (37.0)

Retained earnings 415.4 351.2

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 985.4 924.6

Non-controlling interest 11.7 5.6

Total equity 997.1 930.2

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note
Share 

Capital

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation

Other 
reserves

Employee 
share-
based 
awards

Retained 
earnings

Total
Non-

controlling 
Interest

Total 
Equity

Balance 1 April 2012 610.4 (39.2) - 2.2 351.2 924.6 5.6 930.2

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss - - - - 227.3 227.3 3.2 230.5

Other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange translation differences - (33.2) - - - (33.2) - (33.2)

Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investments 
in foreign subsidiaries

- 3.2 - - - 3.2 - 3.2

Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity - - (0.4) - - (0.4) - (0.4)

Total other comprehensive income - (30.0) (0.4) - - (30.4) - (30.4)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (30.0) (0.4) - 227.3 196.9 3.2 200.1

Transactions with equity holders, 
recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Dividends to equity holders 26 - - - - (159.3) (159.3) (0.9) (160.2)

Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 

(600,633 ordinary shares at $51.01 per share*) 30.6 - - - - 30.6 - 30.6

Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 

(3,036,729 ordinary shares at $9.00 per share) 27.3 - - - - 27.3 - 27.3

Other reserve arising from put option over 
non-controlling interest

25,36 - - (30.0) - - (30.0) - (30.0)

Treasury shares purchased and held in trust (0.4) - - - - (0.4) - (0.4)

Share-settled performance rights awarded during 
 the year

39 - - - 1.1 - 1.1 - 1.1

Share-settled performance rights vested during 
the year

39 - - - (1.6) (2.5) (4.1) - (4.1)

Non-controlling interest ownership of subsidiary 
acquired/(disposed)

- - - - (1.3) (1.3) 3.8 2.5

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 57.5 - (30.0) (0.5) (163.1) (136.1) 2.9 (133.2)

Balance at 31 March 2013 667.9 (69.2) (30.4) 1.7 415.4 985.4 11.7 997.1

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
* Pre-share split 

Statement of changes in equity 
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note
Share 

Capital

Foreign 
Currency 
Transla-

tion

Other 
reserves

Employee 
share-
based 
awards

Retained 
earnings

Total
Non-

controlling 
Interest

Total 
Equity

Balance 1 April 2011 610.4 (33.0) 0.9 1.8 244.0 824.1 1.5 825.6

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss - - - - 222.4 222.4 2.3 224.7

Other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange translation differences - (3.5) - - - (3.5) - (3.5)

Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investments 
in foreign subsidiaries

- (2.7) - - - (2.7) - (2.7)

Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity - - (0.9) - - (0.9) - (0.9)

Total other comprehensive income - (6.2) (0.9) - - (7.1) - (7.1)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (6.2) (0.9) - 222.4 215.3 2.3 217.6

Transactions with equity holders, 
recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Dividends to equity holders 26 - - - - (114.8) (114.8) (0.9) (115.7)

Share-settled performance rights awarded 
during the year

39 - - - 1.2 - 1.2 - 1.2

Share-settled performance rights vested during year 39 - - - (0.8) (0.4) (1.2) - (1.2)

Non-controlling interest ownership of subsidiary 
acquired/(disposed)

- - - - - - 2.7 2.7

Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - 0.4 (115.2) (114.8) 1.8 (113.0)

Balance at 31 March 2012 610.4 (39.2) - 2.2 351.2 924.6 5.6 930.2

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash receipts from customers 1,659.4 1,488.8

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1,292.0) (1,170.8)

Cash generated from operations 367.4 318.0

Interest paid (21.5) (17.4)

Interest received 1.9 1.8

Income taxes paid (100.5) (73.4)

Net cash from operating activities 34 247.3 229.0

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments for property, plant and equipment (114.5) (83.0)

Repayments/(loans) joint venture entity (0.2) (0.4)

Payments for net assets on acquisition of businesses and subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 36 (105.4) (197.5)

Proceeds from sale of business operations 35 39.4 4.5

Dividend from associate - 0.5

Proceeds from sale of other non-current assets 3.9 1.5

Net cash from investing activities (176.8) (274.4)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from borrowings 188.3 376.5

Repayment of borrowings (169.2) (162.9)

Lease payments (2.9) (2.6)

Dividends paid (102.1) (115.6)

Net cash from financing activities (85.9) 95.4

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (15.4) 50.0

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 132.2 84.0

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (3.9) (1.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 14 112.9 132.2

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 102.
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1.	Reporting entity 
ALS Limited (the “Company”) is a for-profit company domiciled 
in Australia. The consolidated financial report of the Company for 
the year ended 31 March 2013 comprises the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s 
interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.

2.	Basis of preparation 
(a)	Statement of compliance

	 The financial report is a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (“AASBs”) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated financial report of the Group also complies with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by 
the International Accounting Standards Board.

	 The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 
27 May 2013.

(b)	Basis of measurement

	 The financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis 
except that derivative financial instruments and liabilities for 
cash-settled share based payments are measured at fair value.

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

	 The financial report is presented in Australian dollars which is 
the Company’s functional currency. The Company is of a kind 
referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in 
accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the financial report 
have been rounded off to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, 
unless otherwise stated.

(d)	Use of estimates and judgements

	 The preparation of a financial report requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the 
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

	 In particular the most significant uses of estimates and 
judgements are described in note 21 – Intangible assets and 
note 36 – Acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controlling 
interests.

3.	Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in the consolidated financial report.

(a)	Basis of consolidation

	 Business combinations

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group 
takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are 
exercisable.

	 The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree; plus if the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the 
acquiree; less

•	 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

	 When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is 
recognised immediately in profit and loss. The consideration 
transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement 
of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

	 Transaction costs related to the acquisition, other than those 
associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred.

	 Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration 
is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised 
in profit and loss. When share-based payment awards 
(replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards 
held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and 
relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of 
the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring 
the consideration transferred in the business combination. 
This determination is based on the market-based value of the 
replacement awards compared with the market-based value of 
the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement 
awards relate to past and/or future service.

	 In determining the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired, 
the Group considers the existence of identifiable intangible 
assets such as brandnames, trademarks, customer contracts 
and relationships and in process research and development 
intangible assets. Where material, these items are recognised 
separately from goodwill.

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries



	 ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013   |   61

3.	Significant accounting policies continued

	 Subsidiaries

	 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists 
when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into 
account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to 
align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

	 Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition 
in the Company’s financial statements.

Associates and joint ventures

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant 
influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies. Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities 
the Group has joint control, established by contractual 
agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic 
financial and operating decisions. The consolidated financial 
statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised 
gains and losses of associates and joint ventures on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that significant influence or joint 
control commences until the date that significant influence or 
joint control ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds 
its interest in an associate or joint venture, the Group’s carrying 
amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 
an associate or joint venture.

Non-controlling interests

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for 
as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 
and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such 
transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are 
based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the 
subsidiary.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners. Adjustments to non-
controlling interest are based on a proportionate amount of 
the net assets of the subsidiary. No adjustments are made to 
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Where the Group enters a written put option in relation to 
a non-controlling interest in a controlled entity, the Group 
recognises a liability initially at its fair value (being the present 
value of the exercise price) with a corresponding amount 
recognised in equity within other reserves. All subsequent 
changes to the liability are also recognised in equity. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates 
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 

Group’s interest in the entity with adjustments made to the 
“Investments accounted for using the equity method” and 
“Share of net profit of associates and joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method” accounts.

(b)	Foreign currency

	 Foreign currency transactions

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
balance sheet date are translated to Australian dollars at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit 
and loss statement, except for differences arising on the 
translation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the 
net investment in a foreign operation or qualifying cash flow 
hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that 
are stated at fair value are translated to Australian dollars at 
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was 
determined.

	 Financial statements of foreign operations

	 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, 
are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
retranslation are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR). 
When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the 
relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to profit or loss as 
part of the profit or loss on disposal. When the settlement 
of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign 
operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, 
foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary 
item are considered to form part of a net investment in a 
foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, and are presented within equity in the FCTR.

	 Hedge of net investment in foreign operations

	 The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency 
differences arising between the functional currency of the 
foreign operation and the parent entity’s functional currency 
regardless of whether the net investments are held directly or 
through an intermediate parent. Foreign currency differences 
arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated 
as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, in the foreign 
currency translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is 
effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such 
differences are recognised in the profit and loss statement. 
When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed of, the 
associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to the 
profit and loss statement as an adjustment to the gain or loss 
on disposal.
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3.	Significant accounting policies continued

(c) Derivative financial instruments

	 The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising 
from operational, financing and investment activities. In 
accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold 
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are accounted for as trading instruments.

	 On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally 
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) 
and hedged item(s), including the risk management objectives 
and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together 
with the methods that will be used to access the effectiveness 
of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, 
both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an 
ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to 
be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value 
or cash flows of the respective hedged items during the period 
for which the hedge is designated, and whether the actual 
results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent. 
For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction 
should be highly probable to occur and should present an 
exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect 
reported net income.

	 Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair 
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial 
instruments are stated at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised immediately in the profit and loss statement. 
However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, 
recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature 
of the item being hedged (see note 3(d)).

(d) Hedging

	 Cash flow hedges

	 Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a 
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or 
liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective 
portion of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in 
the hedging reserve in equity. When the forecast transaction 
subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset or non-financial liability, or the forecast transaction for 
a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated 
cumulative gain or loss is transferred from other comprehensive 
income and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount 
of the non-financial asset or liability. In other cases the amount 
recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred to the 
profit and loss statement in the same period that the hedged 
item affects profit or loss.

	 The ineffective portion of any change in fair value is recognised 
immediately in the profit and loss statement.

	 When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge 
relationship, but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in 
equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy 
when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no 
longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain 
or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised 
immediately in the profit and loss statement.

	 Fair value hedges

	 Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument 
designated as a fair value hedge are recognised in the profit 
or loss. The hedged item also is stated at fair value in respect 
of the risk being hedged; the gain or loss attributable to the 
hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss with an adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the hedged item.

	 Economic hedges

	 Where a derivative financial instrument is not designated in 
a qualifying hedge relationship, all changes in fair value are 
recognised in the profit and loss statement.

(e)	Property, plant and equipment

	 Owned assets

	 Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses 
(see note 3(j)).

	 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition 
for its intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located, 
and capitalised borrowing costs (see below). Cost also may 
include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying 
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, 
plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 
that equipment.

	 Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
of property, plant and equipment.

	 Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant 
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment and are recognised net within “other expenses” in 
the profit and loss statement. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred 
to retained earnings.

	 Borrowing costs

	 The Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in the profit and loss using the effective interest 
method.

	 Reclassification to investment property

	 When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to 
investment property, the property is held at cost and reclassified 
as investment property.

	 Investment property

	 Investment property is property held either to earn rental 
income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment 
property is measured at cost and is depreciated on a straight 
line basis over the estimated useful life of 80 years.

	 Leased assets

	 Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Lease payments are accounted for as described in note 3(q).
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3.	Significant accounting policies continued

(e)	Property, plant and equipment continued	

	 Subsequent costs

	 The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of 
such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other costs are recognised in the profit and loss statement as an 
expense as incurred.

	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, which is 
the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less 
its residual value. Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss 
statement on a straight-line or diminishing value basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant 
and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful 
lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

	 •	Buildings	 20-40 Years

	 •	Plant and equipment	 3-10 Years

	 •	Leasehold improvements	 3-20 Years

	 •	Leased plant and equipment	 4-5 Years

	 The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method 
applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually and adjusted 
if appropriate.

(f)	 Trade and other receivables

	 Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less 
impairment losses (see note 3(j)).

(g)	Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses. 

	 The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average 
method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in 
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based 
on normal operating capacity.

	 Costs for sample testing commenced but not yet completed 
in the analytical laboratory business are recognised as work 
in progress and measured at the lower of cost to date and net 
realisable value.

(h)	Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call 
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(i)	 Intangible assets

	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or business 
is included in intangible assets. For the accounting policy on 
measurement of the goodwill at initial recognition, refer below.

	 Subsequent measurement

	 Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying 
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment.

	 Other intangible assets

	 Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are 
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below) and 
impairment losses (see note 3(j)).

	 Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is 
recognised in the profit and loss statement as an expense as 
incurred.

	 Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is 
capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other 
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

	 Amortisation

	 Amortisation is calculated on the cost of an asset less its 
residual value. Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss 
statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. 
Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are 
systematically tested for impairment at each balance sheet date. 
Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are 
available for use. The estimated useful lives in the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

	 •	Capitalised computer software	 3-10 Years

	 The residual value, the useful life and the amortisation method 
applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually and adjusted 
if appropriate.

(j)	 Impairment

	 Financial assets

	 A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A 
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

	 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial 
asset is calculated by reference to its fair value.

	 Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment 
on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk 
characteristics.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies continued

(j)	 Impairment continued

	 Financial assets continued

	 All impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss 
statement. 

	 An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
reversal is recognised in the profit and loss statement.

	 Non-financial assets

	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, 
other than inventories (see note 3(g)) and deferred tax assets 
(see note 3(s)), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated (see “Calculation of recoverable amount” below). 
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

	 An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
profit and loss statement, unless an asset has previously been 
revalued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as 
a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any 
excess recognised through the profit and loss statement.

	 Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and 
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

	 Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an 
investment in equity accounted investees is not recognised 
separately, and therefore is not tested for impairment 
separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment is 
tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective 
evidence that the investment may be impaired.

	 Calculation of recoverable amounts

	 Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective 
evidence is available that a loss event has occurred. Receivables 
are individually assessed for impairment.

	 The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, 
for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.

(k)	Share capital

	 Transaction costs

	 Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a 
deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

	 Dividends

	 Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 
they are declared.

(l)	 Loans and borrowings

	 Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair 
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost with any difference between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the profit and loss statement over the 
period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(m)	Employee benefits

	 Defined contribution superannuation funds

	 Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the 
profit and loss statement as incurred.

	 Long-term service benefits

	 The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term service 
benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior 
periods. The obligation is calculated using expected future 
increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs 
and expected settlement dates, and is discounted using the 
rates attached to government bonds at the balance sheet date 
which have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
Group’s obligations.

	 Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

	 Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave that are expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date represent present obligations 
resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date, 
are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration 
wage and salary rates that the Group expects to pay as at 
reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers 
compensation insurance and payroll tax.

	 Share-based payment transactions

	 The fair value at grant date of equity-settled share-based 
awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to 
the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share awards that vest, except 
for those that fail to vest due to market vesting conditions not 
being met.

	 The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of 
cash-settled share-based awards is recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period 
in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to 
payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date 
and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the 
liability are recognised as employee expenses in profit or loss.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies continued

(n)	Provisions

	 A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits that can be estimated reliably will be required to 
settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a 
finance cost.

(o)	Trade and other payables

	 Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally 
settled on 60-day terms.

(p)	Revenue

	 Goods sold and services rendered

	 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the profit 
and loss statement when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from 
services rendered is recognised in the profit and loss statement 
in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at 
the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed 
by reference to surveys of work performed. No revenue is 
recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding 
recovery of the consideration due, the costs incurred or to be 
incurred cannot be measured reliably, there is a risk of return of 
goods or there is continuing management involvement with the 
goods.

	 Transfers of risk and rewards vary depending on the individual 
terms of the contract of sale. For the majority of the Group’s 
sale of goods, transfer usually occurs when the product is 
delivered.

	 Dividend Income

	 Dividend income is recognised in profit and loss on the date 
that the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(q)	Expenses

	 Operating lease payments

	 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
profit and loss statement on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
profit and loss statement as an integral part of the total lease 
expense and spread over the lease term.

	 Finance lease payments

	 Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

	 Finance income and finance expense 

	 Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested 
and is recognised in the profit and loss statement as it accrues, 
using the effective interest method.

	

	 Finance expense comprise interest expense on borrowings 
calculated using the effective interest method and gains and 
losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in the profit 
and loss statement (see note 3(d)). The interest expense 
component of finance lease payments is recognised in the profit 
and loss statement using the effective interest method.

	 Foreign currency costs

	 Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(r)	 Determination and presentation of operating segments

	 The Group determines and presents operating segments based 
on information that is reported internally to the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO), who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker.

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that 
engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that 
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. 
An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the CEO to make decisions about resources to be allocated 
to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available.

	 Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items 
directly attributed to the segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment contribution is 
calculated as earnings before interest, foreign currency gains 
and losses, unusual items (refer note 9) and income tax. 
Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, head 
office expenses, finance costs, income tax expense and taxation 
assets and liabilities. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an 
arms length basis.

	 Non-current assets disclosed in note 6 – Operating Segments 
- are comprised of the Group’s non-current assets excluding 
receivables and deferred tax assets.

(s)	 Income tax

	 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the profit and 
loss statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, 
in which case it is recognised in equity or other comprehensive 
income, respectively.

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at 
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

	 Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following 
temporary differences are not provided for: initial recognition of 
goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred 
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation 
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies continued

(s)	 Income tax continued

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

	 Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of 
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to 
pay the related dividend.

	 Tax consolidation

	 The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities 
have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 April 
2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. 
The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is ALS Limited. 

	 Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the 
members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the 
separate financial statements of the members of the tax-
consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ 
approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate 
financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying 
under tax consolidation.

	 Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries is assumed 
by the head entity in the tax consolidated group and are 
recognised as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other 
entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any 
tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below). Any difference 
between these amounts is recognised by the Company as an 
equity contribution or distribution.

	 The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-
consolidated group will be available against which the asset 
can be utilised.

	 Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised 
assessments of the probability of recoverability is recognised by 
the head entity only.

	 Nature of tax funding arrangements 

	 The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-
consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement 
which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-
consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding 
arrangements require payments to/from the head entity equal 
to the current tax liability (asset) assumed by the head entity 
and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head 
entity, resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity 
payable (receivable) equal in amount to the tax liability (asset) 
assumed. The inter-entity payables (receivables) are at call.

	 Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as 
per the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of the 
head entity’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to 
the relevant tax authorities.

(t)	 Goods and services tax

	 Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

	 Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or 
liability in the balance sheet.

	 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

(u)	Discontinued operations

	 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s 
business that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations that has ceased or been 
disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued 
operation occurs upon cessation or disposal. When an operation 
is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative profit 
and loss statement and statement of comprehensive income 
are restated as if the operation had been discontinued from the 
start of the comparative period.

(v)	Earnings per share

	 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) 
data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, which comprise performance rights granted to 
employees.

(w)	Removal of parent entity financial statements

	 The Group has applied amendments to the Corporations Act 
(2001) that remove the requirement for the Group to lodge 
parent entity financial statements. Parent entity financial 
statements have been replaced by the specific parent entity 
disclosures in note 32.

(x)	New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

	 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 April 2012, and have not been applied in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements. None of these is 
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group, except for IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which will 
become mandatory for the Group’s 2014 and 2016 consolidated 
financial statements respectively and could change the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. The Group 
does not plan to adopt this standard early and the extent of the 
impact has not been determined.
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4.	 Financial and capital risk management
Risk management framework

Identification, measurement and management of risk is a 
strategic priority for the Group. The provision of goods and 
services carries a number of diverse risks which may have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial position and 
performance. Consequently, the Board has established a 
comprehensive framework covering accountability, oversight, 
measurement and reporting to maintain high standards of risk 
management throughout the Group.

The Group allocates specific roles in the management of 
risk to executives and senior managers and to the Board. 
This is undertaken within an overall framework and strategy 
established by the Board.

The Audit and Compliance Committee obtains assurance about 
the internal control and risk management environment through 
regular reports from the Risk and Compliance team.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of 
financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk
•	 Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to 
each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s 
management of capital.

Credit risk

The Group has an established credit policy and the exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations 
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain 
amount. The Group does not require collateral in respect 
of financial assets. There is no single customer making up 
a material percentage of the Group’s revenue. Geographic 
concentrations of trade receivables are - Australia 45% (2012: 
46%), Canada 11% (2012: 12%), USA 11% (2012: 11%), and 
other countries 33% (2012: 31%). The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each 
financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the 
balance sheet.

Goods are sold subject to retention of title clauses, so that in 
the event of non-payment the Group may have a secured claim. 
The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and 
other receivables.

Counterparties to transactions involving derivative financial 
instruments are large Australian and international banks with 
whom the Group has a signed netting agreement. Management 
does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Group policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee are 
provided in note 31.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity position of the Group is continuously managed 
using cash flow forecasts to ensure sufficient liquid funds 
are available to meet its financial commitments in a timely 
and cost-effective manner. The Group is party to a number of 
bilateral debt facility and long term note agreements which 
provide funding for acquisitions and working capital (refer 
note 24).

Note 27 details the repayment obligations in respect of the 
amount of the facilities and derivatives utilised.

Market risk 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Group’s financial position 
and performance will be adversely affected by movements in 
interest rates. Interest rate risk on cash and short term deposits 
is not considered to be a material risk due to the short term 
nature of these financial instruments.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term debt. 
Floating rate debt exposes the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk and fixed rate debt exposes the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is managed by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate debt. The Group 
enters into interest rate swaps to manage the ratio of fixed 
rate debt to floating rate debt. Hedging is undertaken against 
specific rate exposures only, as disclosed in note 27.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and are exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future purchase and sales 
commitments and assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
a currency that is not the functional currency of the respective 
Group entities. Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange risk 
is achieved by regularly monitoring and performing sensitivity 
analysis on the Group’s financial position. 

The Group may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts 
(FECs) to hedge certain forecast purchase commitments 
denominated in foreign currencies (principally US dollars). The 
terms of these commitments are generally less than three 
months. The amount of forecast purchases is estimated based 
on current conditions in foreign markets, customer orders, 
commitments to suppliers and experience.

The Group borrows funds in foreign currencies to hedge its 
net investments in foreign operations. The Group’s Canadian 
dollar and Great British pound denominated borrowings 
are designated as hedges of the Group’s net investments in 
subsidiaries with those functional currencies.

The Group has also entered into cross currency interest 
rate swaps which have been designated as hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations whose functional currencies 
are Canadian dollars, Czech koruna, Danish krone and Euros.

Capital management

Capital comprises equity attributable to equity holders, loans 
and borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. 

Capital management involves the use of corporate forecasting 
models which facilitates analysis of the Group’s financial 
position including cash flow forecasts to determine the future 
capital management requirements. Capital management is 
undertaken to ensure a secure, cost-effective and flexible 
supply of funds is available to meet the Group’s operating and 
capital expenditure requirements. The Group monitors gearing 
and treasury policy breaches and exceptions. The gearing ratio 
as at balance date is 29% (2012: 28%).

The Group maintains a stable capital base from which it can 
pursue its growth aspirations, whilst maintaining a flexible 
capital structure that allows access to a range of debt and 
equity markets to both draw upon and repay capital.

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries
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5.	 Determination of fair value
	The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies 
are consistent with those disclosed in the consolidated financial 
report as at and for the year ended 31 March 2012.

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions 
used in estimating the fair values for measurement and 
disclosure purposes:

Fair value hierarchy

In valuing financial instruments, the Group uses the following 
fair value measurement hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements:

•	 Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active 
market for an identical instrument.

•	 Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices).

•	 Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable 
inputs. This category includes all instruments where the 
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable 
data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation.

Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts are marked to market using 
publicly available forward rates. Interest rate contracts are 
marked to market using discounted estimated future cash 
flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and 
using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the 
measurement date.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated 
future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates 
and the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar 
instrument at the balance sheet date. Where other pricing 
models are used, inputs are based on market related data at 
the balance sheet date.

Loans and borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the measurement date.

Trade and other receivables / payables

For receivables / payables with a remaining life of less than 
one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair 
value. All other receivables / payables are discounted to 
determine the fair value.

Finance leases

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash 
flows, discounted at market interest rates for homogenous 
lease agreements. The estimated fair value reflects changes in 
interest rates.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of share-based awards to employees is measured 
using Binomial Tree (Earnings per Share hurdle) and Monte-
Carlo Simulation (Total Shareholder Return hurdle) valuation 
methodologies. Measurement inputs include the Company’s 
share price on measurement date, expected volatility thereof, 
expected life of the awards, the Company’s expected dividend 
yield and the risk-free interest rate. Service and non-market 
performance conditions attached to the transactions are not 
taken into account in determining fair value. Refer note 39 for 
details.

Contingent consideration

The fair value of contingent consideration is calculated using the 
income approach based on the expected payment amounts and 
their associated probabilities. When appropriate, it is discounted 
to present value.

6.	 Operating Segments
The Group has 6 reportable segments, as described below, 
representing 6 distinct strategic business units each of which is 
managed separately and offers different products and services. 
For each of the strategic business units, the CEO reviews internal 
management reports on at least a monthly basis. The following 
summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s 
reportable segments:

•	 ALS Minerals - provides assaying and analytical testing 
services and metallurgical services for mining and mineral 
exploration companies.

•	 ALS Life Sciences - provides analytical testing data to assist 
consulting and engineering firms, industry, and governments 
around the world in making informed decisions about their 
environmental projects.

•	 ALS Energy - provides specialist services to the coal industry 
such as coal sampling and analysis and certification of export 
cargoes.

•	 ALS Industrial – provides the energy, resources and 
infrastructure sectors with testing, inspection and asset care 
services.

•	 Reward Distribution - distribution of non-food consumables 
to the healthcare, building services, hospitality and leisure 
industries.

Discontinued segment:

•	 Campbell Chemicals - manufacture and distribution of cleaning 
agents and chemicals for both domestic and industrial 
customers. This segment was sold in September 2012 – refer 
note 35.

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries
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6.	 Operating Segments continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

In millions of AUD
ALS 

Minerals
ALS 

Life Sciences
ALS 

Energy
ALS 

Industrial
Reward 

Distribution
Campbell 

Chemicals (c)
Consolidated

2013

Revenue from external customers 608.4 454.4 105.0 168.6 119.2 43.7 1,499.3

Total revenue 608.4 454.4 105.0 168.6 119.2 43.7 1,499.3

Segment contribution (a) 211.3 89.3 32.6 30.6 0.9 3.8 368.5

Segment margin (b) 34.7% 19.7% 31.1% 18.1% 0.7% 8.7% 24.6%

Segment assets 647.7 528.9 136.0 193.3 34.7 - 1,540.6

Segment liabilities 63.5 67.8 18.7 21.2 9.9 - 181.1

Amortisation and depreciation 22.0 23.8 3.5 4.7 0.7 0.3 55.0

(a) Segment contribution represents the segment’s profit before unusual items, financing costs, net foreign exchange gains and losses and income tax.

(b) Segment margin is calculated as segment contribution as a percentage of segment revenue.

(c) The Campbell Chemicals segment was divested during September 2012 (refer note 35).

In millions of AUD
ALS 

Minerals
ALS 

Life Sciences
ALS 

Energy
ALS 

Industrial
Reward 

Distribution
Campbell 

Chemicals (c) Consolidated

2012

Revenue from external customers 591.3 360.7 87.8 152.5 123.2 90.1 1,405.6

Total revenue 591.3 360.7 87.8 152.5 123.2 90.1 1,405.6

Segment contribution (a) 214.7 78.1 23.7 24.5 3.7 8.2 352.9

Segment margin (b) 36.3% 21.7% 27.0% 16.0% 3.0% 9.1% 25.1%

Segment assets 640.7 382.0 138.3 189.1 52.4 44.9 1447.5

Segment liabilities 56.3 41.7 17.1 24.2 13.2 7.6 160.0

Amortisation and depreciation 18.6 17.8 2.9 4.3 0.8 0.7 45.1

(a) Segment contribution represents the segment’s profit before unusual items, financing costs, net foreign exchange gains and losses and income tax.

(b) Segment margin is calculated as segment contribution as a percentage of segment revenue.

(c) The Campbell Chemicals segment was divested during September 2012 (refer note 35).
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6.	 Operating Segments continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

i) Segment revenue reconciliation to the profit and loss statement

Total segment revenue 1,499.3 1405.6

Elimination of discontinued operation (43.7) (90.0)

Total revenue per the profit and loss statement 1,455.6 1,315.6

ii) Segment contribution reconciliation to the profit and loss statement

Total segment contribution 368.5 352.9

Unusual items 9 (10.4) -

Corporate expenses (21.0) (24.8)

Acquisition expenses (1.8) (3.4)

Net financing costs (19.6) (15.6)

Net gain on foreign exchange 8 4.6 2.9

Elimination of discontinued operation (before tax) (9.5) (8.2)

Profit before tax per the profit and loss statement 310.8 303.8

iii) Segment assets reconciliation to the balance sheet

Total segment assets 1,540.6 1,447.5

Corporate assets 14.5 13.1

Cash and cash equivalents 115.9 133.4

Fair value derivatives 20.2 4.0

Other current assets 27.2 24.6

Deferred tax assets 16.3 13.2

Total assets per the balance sheet 1,734.7 1,635.8

iv) Segment liabilities reconciliation to the balance sheet

Total segment liabilities 181.1 160.0

Corporate liabilities 10.5 11.3

Bank overdraft 3.0 1.2

Fair value derivatives - -

Income tax liability 15.1 28.5

Loans and borrowings 525.8 502.8

Deferred tax liabilities 2.1 1.7

Total liabilities per the balance sheet 737.6 705.5

v) Segment amortisation and depreciation reconciliation to the profit and loss statement

Total segment amortisation and depreciation 55.0 45.1

Corporate amortisation and depreciation 0.7 1.1

Elimination of discontinued operation (0.3) (0.7)

Total amortisation and depreciation 55.4 45.5
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6.	 Operating Segments continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Geographical segments

In presenting information on a geographical basis segment revenue from external customers is by geographical location of customers. Segment 
assets are attributed based on geographic location of the business unit.

Consolidated Consolidated

In millions of AUD
2013 

Revenues
2013 

Non-current assets
2012 

Revenues
2012 

Non-current assets

Australia 679.9 568.5 658.7 587.8

Canada 240.7 238.2 236.5 240.3

USA 140.6 96.9 123.2 99.8

Other countries 438.1 336.8 387.1 201.7

Total 1,499.3 1,240.4 1,405.6 1,129.6

7.	 Other income from continuing operations
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Investment property rental income 1.5 1.5

Other income 0.4 0.4

1.9 1.9

8.	 Expenses from continuing operations
Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Cost of goods sold 79.4 81.2

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 39 1.1 1.2

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions 39 - 1.0

Contributions to defined contribution post-employment plans 32.4 30.1

Impairment loss in relation to the Reward Distribution segment 9,21 (16.1) -

Loss/(gain) on sale of property plant and equipment 0.3 (0.1)

Transaction costs related to business combinations 3(i) 1.8 3.4

Net loss/(gain) on foreign exchange (4.6) (2.9)

9.	 Unusual items recorded in profit for the year
Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Gain on sale of Campbell Chemicals segment 35 5.7 -

Impairment loss in relation to the Reward Distribution segment 8,21 (16.1) -

(10.4) -

Income tax effect (0.2) -

Effect of unusual items after income tax (10.6) -
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10. Auditors’ remuneration

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

In thousands of AUD 2013 2012

Audit services 
Auditors of the Company 

KPMG Australia:

Audit and review of consolidated and company financial reports* 521 484

Audit of subsidiary’s financial report 28 40

Other regulatory audits 5 5

Other KPMG member firms:

Audit and review of financial reports* 633 673

1,187 1,202

Other auditors

Audit and review of financial reports 67 107

1,254 1,309
Other services 
Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

Other assurance and investigation services 13 22

Other KPMG member firms:

Taxation services 189 136

Other assurance and investigation services 26 72

228 230

* Includes impact of acquisitions during the financial year.

11. Net financing costs
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Interest income 1.9 1.8

Financial income 1.9 1.8

Interest expense 21.2 17.1

Finance charges on capitalised leases 0.3 0.3

Financial expenses 21.5 17.4

Net financing costs 19.6 15.6
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12. Income tax expense

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 Restated 2012

Recognised in the profit and loss statement

Current tax expense from continuing operations

Current year 90.7 80.8

Adjustments for prior years (0.5) (1.0)

90.2 79.8

Deferred tax expense 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1.7) 5.0

(1.7) 5.0

Total income tax expense in profit and loss statement 88.5 84.8

Reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit

Profit before tax from continuing operations 310.8 303.8

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%) 93.2 91.2

Difference resulting from different tax rates in overseas countries (8.9) (5.9)

Increase in income tax expense due to:

Non-deductible expenses 2.1 0.7

Non-deductible equity settled performance rights expense 0.3 0.1

Non-deductible new market expansion and acquisition related costs 0.2 0.4

Tax losses of subsidiaries not recognised 3.7 1.5

Non resident withholding tax paid upon receipt of distributions from foreign related parties 2.6 3.4

Non-deductible goodwill impairment losses 4.8 -

Non-deductible unrealised foreign exchange amounts 0.4 1.0

Decrease in income tax expense due to:

Previously unrecognised tax losses utilised during the year (1.0) (0.7)

Deductible WIP balances acquired - -

Share of associate entities net profit (0.5) (0.4)

Foreign statutory tax exemptions granted (0.6) (0.9)

Tax exempt revenues (1.5) (1.1)

Other deductible items (5.4) (4.1)

Under/(over) provided in prior years (0.9) (0.4)

Income tax expense on pre-tax net profit 88.5 84.8

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity

Relating to foreign currency translation reserve (1.2) (1.2)

Relating to hedging reserve 0.2 -

(1.0) (1.2)
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13. Earnings per share

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

Cents per share 2013 2012 Restated*

Basic earnings per share 66.44c 65.90c

Diluted earnings per share 66.35c 65.76c

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 64.05c 64.21c

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 63.96c 64.08c

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 2.39c 1.69c

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 2.39c 1.68c

Basic underlying earnings per share 69.53c 65.90c

Diluted underlying earnings per share 69.44c 65.76c

* Post 5-for-1 split basis

Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculations of both basic and diluted earnings per share were based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of 
$227.3m (2012: $222.4m).

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

The calculations of both basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations were based on the profit attributable to equity holders 
of the Company from continuing operations of $219.1m (2012: $216.7m).

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

The calculations of both basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations were based on the profit attributable to equity 
holders of the Company from discontinued operations of $8.2m (2012: $5.7m).

Basic and diluted underlying earnings per share

The calculations of both basic and diluted underlying earnings per share were based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the 
Company, including the results from operating activities of discontinued operations and excluding unusual items, of $237.9m (2012: $222.4m) 
as reconciled below:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 227.3 222.4

Add back effect of unusual items after income tax 9 10.6 -

Underlying profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 237.9 222.4

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Basic and diluted)

Consolidated

In millions of shares Note 2013 2012

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April (restated for 5 for 1 share split August 2012) 26 337.5 337.5

Effect of shares issued July 2012 (DRP) 2.9 -

Effect of shares issued December 2012 (DRP) 1.7 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 March (Basic) 342.1 337.5

Effect of performance rights granted to employees as compensation 0.5 0.7

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 March (Diluted) 342.6 338.2
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14. Cash and cash equivalents

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 Restated 2012

Bank balances 115.9 92.0

Cash held in trust* - 41.4

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 115.9 133.4

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand (3.0) (1.2)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 112.9 132.2

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 27.
* Held in trust in connection with the Group’s acquisition of Eclipse Scientific Group Limited and Advanced Micro Services, in the prior financial period.

15. Trade and other receivables
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Current

Trade receivables 236.0 245.9

Other receivables 21.0 17.7

257.0 263.6

Non-current

Security deposits 0.9 0.8

Loans owing by associates and joint venture 1.7 1.3

2.6 2.1

Ageing of trade receivables

Current 117.2 128.3

30 days 58.4 62.2

60 days 20.0 22.7

90 days and over 45.3 38.2

Total 240.9 251.4

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

Opening balance 5.5 7.6

Impairment loss recognised/(reversal of impairment loss) (0.6) (2.1)

Closing balance 4.9 5.5

Based on historical rates of default, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not overdue or past 
due not more than two months. The allowance for impairment of trade receivables is in respect of trade receivables past due for more than two months.

Exposures to currency risks related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 27.

16. Inventories
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Raw materials and consumables (testing and inspection) 31.1 20.6

Work in progress (testing and inspection) 25.5 29.7

Testing and inspection inventory 56.6 50.3

Finished goods 17.4 30.2

74.0 80.5
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17. Other assets

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Current

Prepayments 19.7 14.5

Fair value derivatives 7.5 4.0

Other 7.5 10.1

34.7 28.6

Non-current

Fair value derivatives 12.7 -

Other 0.4 0.2

13.1 0.2

18. Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investments in associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and a joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. The Group has investments in the follwing 
equity-accounted entities:

Name Principal activities Reporting date Ownership interest 
Consolidated

2013 2012

Associates:

ALS Technichem (Malaysia) Snd Bhd Laboratory services 31 December 40% 40%

Joint ventures:

Australian Laboratory Services, Arabia Co. Laboratory services 31 December 42% 42%

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Movements in carrying amount of investments in associates and joint ventures:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 10.9 17.1

Share of associates’ and joint venture’s net profit 1.6 1.4

Dividends received - (0.5)

Adjustment in carrying value to reflect foreign currency translation (4.6) -

Reduction in carrying value upon becoming a wholly owned subsidiary - (7.1)

7.9 10.9
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19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Consolidated Assets Liabilities Net

In millions of AUD 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Property, plant and equipment 3.6 3.1 2.8 2.5 0.8 0.6

Land and buildings - - 1.0 0.7 (1.0) (0.7)

Intangible assets - - - 1.0 - (1.0)

Unrealised FX losses/(gains) 2.0 1.3 0.2 0.4 1.8 0.9

Provisions and other payables 16.5 17.5 - - 16.5 17.5

Undeducted equity raising costs 0.4 0.7 - - 0.4 0.7

Undeducted capital expenditure 1.0 1.5 - - 1.0 1.5

Fair value derivatives - - 2.2 1.2 (2.2) (1.2)

Accrued revenue - - 2.1 0.9 (2.1) (0.9)

Inventories 0.7 0.1 3.1 5.8 (2.4) (5.7)

Other items 1.1 1.4 1.3 1.9 (0.2) (0.5)

Tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised 1.6 0.2 - - 1.6 0.2

Tax assets / liabilities 26.9 25.8 12.7 14.4 14.2 11.4

Set off of tax (10.6) (12.7) (10.6) (12.7) - -

Net tax assets / liabilities 16.3 13.1 2.1 1.7 14.2 11.4

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Tax losses 4.6 4.8

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the Group can utilise the benefits.
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20. Property, plant and equipment

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Freehold land and buildings: 

At cost 152.3 119.2

Accumulated depreciation (18.6) (14.4)

133.7 104.8

Plant and equipment:

At cost 530.3 445.9

Accumulated depreciation (366.9) (303.5)

163.4 142.4

Leasehold improvements: 

At cost 108.6 76.6

Accumulated depreciation (51.8) (34.4)

56.8 42.2

Leased plant and equipment: 

At capitalised cost 13.3 16.1

Accumulated depreciation (5.0) (6.8)

8.3 9.3

Capital works in progress: 35.0 25.9

Total property, plant and equipment, at net book value 397.2 324.6

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Freehold land and buildings: 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 104.8 71.4

Additions 34.8 11.1

Additions through entities acquired 8.0 6.7

Transfer from capital works in progress 0.2 18.8

Depreciation (3.3) (2.1)

Disposals (9.5) -

Effect of movement in foreign exchange (1.3) (1.1)

Carrying amount at end of year 133.7 104.8

Plant and equipment:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 142.4 116.3

Additions 54.8 48.9

Additions through entities acquired 17.0 15.5

Transfers from capital works in progress 0.6 1.7

Transfer from leased plant and equipment 0.5 (0.1)

Disposal (6.6) (2.4)

Depreciation (43.7) (35.3)

Effect of movement in foreign exchange (1.6) (2.2)

Carrying amount at end of year 163.4 142.4
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20. Property, plant and equipment continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013
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Reconciliations continued Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Leasehold improvements: 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 42.2 41.9

Additions 12.1 4.9

Additions through entities acquired 7.2 2.0

Transfer from capital works in progress 3.2 1.7

Disposal (0.2) (1.5)

Depreciation (6.9) (5.8)

Effect of movement in foreign exchange (0.8) (1.0)

Carrying amount at end of year 56.8 42.2

Leased plant and equipment: 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 9.3 10.1

Additions 0.2 0.1

Additions through entities acquired - 0.1

Transfer to plant and equipment (0.5) 0.1

Disposal (0.1) -

Depreciation (0.6) (1.1)

Effect of movement in foreign exchange - -

Carrying amount at end of year 8.3 9.3

Capital works in progress: 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 25.9 25.5

Additions 13.4 23.5

Transfers out of capital works in progress (3.9) (22.3)

Transfers to intangible assets - (0.6)

Effect of movement in foreign exchange (0.4) (0.2)

Carrying amount at end of year 35.0 25.9

21. Intangible assets
Consolidated

In millions of AUD Goodwill
Purchased trademarks 

and brandnames
Software Total

Balance at 1 April 2012 760.6 3.7 3.4 767.7

Additions through business combinations 82.1 - 0.2 82.3

Impairment (a) (16.1) - - (16.1)

Additions - - 2.0 2.0

Disposal (6.7) (3.7) - (10.4)

Amortisation - - (1.1) (1.1)

Effect of movements in foreign exchange (19.4) - - (19.4)

Balance at 31 March 2013 800.5 - 4.5 805.0

Balance at 1 April 2011 497.9 3.7 1.9 503.5

Additions through business combinations 270.0 - 0.8 270.8

Additions 0.5 - 1.6 2.1

Transfer in from WIP - - 0.6 0.6

Disposal (4.5) - (0.1) (4.6)

Amortisation - - (1.3) (1.3)

Effect of movements in foreign exchange (3.3) - (0.1) (3.4)

Balance at 31 March 2012 760.6 3.7 3.4 767.7

(a)		 The impairment loss recognised relates to the Reward Distribution reportable segment and has been included in impairment losses in the profit and loss statement. During the year ended 31 
March 2013 the Reward Distribution cash generating unit achieved earnings results well below management’s expectations. This caused management to reassess short term earnings forecasts 
used in estimating the recoverable amount of goodwill attaching to this cash generating unit. Based on this assessment a goodwill impairment loss of $16.1m was recognised (refer note 8).



80   |	  ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013

21. Intangible assets continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013
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Impairment tests for cash generating units containing goodwill

The following cash generating units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

ALS Minerals 324.3 332.5

ALS Life Sciences - Australia 48.4 50.9

ALS Life Sciences – North America 90.9 98.4

ALS Life Sciences – South America 34.5 -

ALS Life Sciences – Europe 79.4 32.9

ALS Life Sciences – Asia 9.0 9.1

ALS Coal 77.8 79.9

ALS Tribology 11.8 12.4

ALS Industrial 123.9 123.8

Campbell Chemicals - 4.1

Reward Distribution - 16.1

Other cash generating units 0.5 0.5

800.5 760.6

The recoverable amounts of goodwill in all cash-generating units exceed carrying amounts and are based on value in use calculations. Those 
calculations use cash flow projections based on actual operating results, the budget for FY2014 and forecasts drawn from years two and three 
of the Group’s three-year forecast for FY2015 and FY2016. Cash flows for a further 17 year period are extrapolated using a real growth rate of 
3.0 per cent per annum. Directors believe this growth rate is a conservative estimate of the long-term average growth rates achievable in the 
industries in which the Group participates. The following real pre-tax discount rates have been used in discounting the projected cash flows. 

Division Pre-tax (real) discount rate

2013 2012

ALS 10.0% 11.50%

Campbell Chemicals N/A 10.35%

Reward Distribution 10.0% 9.2%

The determination of the recoverable amounts of the Group’s cash generating units involves significant estimates and judgements and the 
results are subject to the risk of adverse and sustained changes in the key markets and/or geographies in which the Group operates. Note 6 
provides more information on the Group’s key operating segments and revenue by geographical location of its customers. Sensitivity analysis 
performed indicates a reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions used would not result in impairment at 31 March 2013.

Software

Software assets are considered to have finite useful lives and are amortised in line with their assessed useful lives.

22. Trades and other payables
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Trade payables 30.3 35.5

Other payables and accrued expenses 83.2 87.7

113.5 123.2
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 11.1 11.1

Additions 0.1 0.1

Depreciation (0.2) (0.1)

Carrying amount at end of year 11.0 11.1

Investment property comprises a commercial property leased to a third party. The current lease expired in September 2012 and the lessee has 
exercised their option to renew the lease for a further five years from that date. See note 28 for further information.

Fair value of the property is estimated to be $15.4m (2012:$15.4m) based on a capitalisation rate of 9.5%.

24. Loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information about 
the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 27.

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Current Liabilities

Bank loans 1.5 1.7

Finance lease liabilities 2.4 2.3

3.9 4.0

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 138.4 123.0

Long term notes 381.1 372.2

Finance lease liabilities 2.4 3.6

521.9 498.8

Bank loans

Bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, Great British pounds, Singapore dollars and US dollars. Current bank loans 
comprise the portion of the Group’s bank loans repayable within one year. Funding available to the Group from undrawn facilities at 31 March 
2013 amounted to $124.6m (2012: $116.4m).

The weighted average interest rate (incorporating the effect of interest rate contracts) for all bank loans at balance date is 3.3% (2012: 3.8%).

The term loan facilities are committed facilities and are able to be drawn in the form of bank overdrafts, loans or bank guarantees.

The Company and six of its subsidiaries, namely Australian Laboratory Services Pty Ltd, ALS Canada Limited, ALS Group General Partnership, 
ALS Technichem (Singapore) Pte Ltd, ALS Inspection UK Ltd, and ALS Testing Services Group, Inc are parties to multi-currency term loan facility 
agreements as borrowers with a number of banks.

Under the terms of the agreements, the Company and a number of its wholly-owned subsidiaries jointly and severally guarantee and 
indemnify the banks in relation to each borrower’s obligations.

Long term notes

The Company’s controlled entity ALS Group General Partnership issued long term, fixed rate notes to investors in the US Private Placement 
market in December 2010 and again in July 2011. The notes are denominated in US dollars and Canadian dollars and mature as follows - 7 
years due December 2017: $28.8m; 8 years due July 2019: $91.2m; 10 years due December 2020: $114.1m; and 11 years due July 2022: 
$134.4m. 

As the Long Term Notes are designated as part of a fair value hedge in relation to the interest rate risk (refer note 27), their carrying value 
includes a fair value adjustment uplift of $12.7m (2012: Nil) being the revaluation of the debt for the risk being hedged. This fair value loss in 
the carrying value of the Notes is offset by gains on interest rate swap instruments which are designated as an effective fair value hedge and 
recognised as a fair value derivative receivable (refer note 17).

Interest is payable semi-annually to noteholders. The weighted average interest rate (incorporating the effect of interest rate contracts) for all 
long term notes at balance date is 3.8% (2012: 3.8%).

Under the terms of the note agreements, the Company and a number of its wholly-owned subsidiaries jointly and severally guarantee and 
indemnify the noteholders in relation to the issuer’s obligations.
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Finance lease liabilities

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Included as lease liabilities are the present values of future rentals for leased assets capitalised:

Current 2.4 2.3

Non-current 2.4 3.6

4.8 5.9

Lease commitments in respect of capitalised finance leases are payable:

Within one year 2.7 2.7

Later than one year but not later than five years 2.7 3.7

Later than five years - 0.5

5.4 6.9

Future finance charges (0.6) (1.0)

Total lease liability 4.8 5.9

The Group leases plant and equipment under finance leases expiring over terms of up to seven years. At the end of the lease terms the Group 
generally has the option to purchase the equipment at a percentage of market value - a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. Lease 
liabilities are secured by the leased assets as in the event of default the assets revert to the lessor.

25. Other non-current liabilities
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Written put option over non-controlling interest (note 36) 30.0 -

Other 3.5 6.3

33.5 6.3

26. Capital and reserves
Reconciliation of movement in capital 

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Issued and paid up share capital

343,556,949 ordinary shares fully paid (2012: 337,517,055) (1) 667.9 610.4

Movements in ordinary share capital

Balance at beginning of year 610.4 610.4

3,003,165 shares (2012: Nil) issued under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan in July 2012 (1) 30.6 -

53,472 shares acquired by the Company on-market in August 2012 and held in trust (0.4) -

3,036,729 shares (2012: Nil) issued under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan in December 2012 27.3 -

Balance at end of year 667.9 610.4

(1)	 No. of shares has been restated on a 5-for-1 post share split basis.

Effective 1 July 1998, the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of par value shares and the concept of authorised capital. 
Accordingly, the Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.

Terms and Conditions

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
shareholders’ meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors and are entitled to the net 
proceeds of liquidation.
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Employee share plan

The Group has an Employee Share Plan (“the Share Plan”) which is closed to new participants. The last share loan offer under the Share Plan 
was made mid-2006. Any participation in a Company-sponsored employee incentive scheme is now via the Company’s LTI plan – refer note 39. 

Under the Share Plan, eligible employees of the Company or of its subsidiaries were able to acquire ordinary fully paid shares in the Company. 
An external third party is trustee of the Share Plan.

Participation in the Share Plan by employees was at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Board sets the conditions under which 
employees can participate having regard to length of service and salary range. The Board administers the Share Plan as a non-discriminatory 
plan within the meaning of Australian taxation legislation. The price of shares issued under the Share Plan was determined at the discretion of 
directors and may be less than the prevailing market price. Employees were offered loans from a subsidiary to finance their purchase of shares 
under the plan. Plan loans are interest free and repayable over 25 years.

Shares acquired by an employee under the Share Plan are held by a trustee for at least three years and until the whole of any related loan 
has been paid in full by the employee. Once the loan has been repaid and a period of three years has expired, the trustee transfers the shares 
to the employee. Dividends are applied by the trustee in reducing the employee’s plan loan. During the period while shares are held by the 
trustee, the employee does not have voting rights in respect of those shares. On termination of employment, an employee has thirty days in 
which to decide whether to either repay the loan and receive their shares by way of transfer from the trustee or request that the shares be 
sold by the trustee after which any proceeds in excess of the outstanding loan amount are paid to the employee.

The aggregate number of shares held by the trustee under the Share Plan at any time must not exceed 5% of the total issued capital of the 
Company. No shares were issued under the Share Plan during the financial year (2012: Nil). The market price of shares issued under the Share 
Plan as at 31 March 2013 was $10.47 (2012: $13.45*).

*Restated post 5-for-1 share split basis

Details of the movement in employee shares under the Share Plan are as follows:

2013 
No.

2012 
No.

Number of shares at beginning of year (post 5-for-1 share split basis) 250,000 250,000

Number of share issued to employees - -

Number of shares distributed to employees (250,000) -

Number of shares at end of year (post 5-for-1 share split basis) - 250,000

The amounts recognised as receivable in the financial statements of the Group in relation to employee shares at the end of the year are:

Consolidated

2013 2012

Current receivables – Other debtors - 106,300

Reserves

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity, as well as from the 
translation of liabilities or changes in fair value of derivatives that hedge the Company’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

The employee share-based awards reserve comprises the cumulative amount, recognised as an employee expense to date, of the fair value at 
grant date of share-based, share-settled awards granted to employees. Refer to notes 3(m) and 39.

Other reserves comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to 
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred. It also includes amounts arising from the accounting for a put and call option arrangement 
entered with a non-controlling interest of a controlled entity.
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Dividends

Dividends recognised in the current year by the Company are:

In millions of AUD Cents per share Franked amount (cents) Total amount Date of payment

2013

Interim 2013 ordinary 21.0 10.5 71.5 18 December 2012

Final 2012 ordinary * 26.0 13.0 87.8 2 July 2012

159.3

2012

Interim 2012 ordinary * 19.0 9.5 64.1 19 December 2011

Final 2011 ordinary * 15.0 7.5 50.7 1 July 2011

Total amount 114.8

* Restated on a 5-for-1 post share split basis.

Dividend declared after the end of the 
financial year:

Final 2013 ordinary 27.0 13.5 92.8

The financial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 and will be 
recognised in subsequent financial reports.

The franked components of all dividends paid or declared since the end of the previous financial year were franked based on a tax rate of 30%.

Dividend franking account
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

30% franking credits available to shareholders of ALS Limited for subsequent financial years 22.1 26.0

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:

(a)	 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities;

(b)	 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end;

(c)	 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax consolidated group at the year-end; and

(d)	 franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends.

The impact on the dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it 
by $19.9m (2012: $18.8m).
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Liquidity risk

Contractual maturities for financial liabilities on a gross cash flow basis are analysed below:

CONSOLIDATED 
As at 31 March 2013

In millions of AUD 6 months or less 6 to 12 months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank overdraft 3.0 - - - - 3.0

Trade and other payables 113.5 - - - - 113.5

Finance lease liabilities 1.2 1.5 1.0 1.7 - 5.4

Option liability (note 25) - - - 48.0 - 48.0

Long term notes 8.3 8.2 16.5 77.9 391.0 501.9

Bank loans 2.2 2.1 121.0 19.2 - 144.5

Derivative financial instruments (1.5) (1.6) (3.0) (6.0) (1.4) (13.5)

Total 126.7 10.2 135.5 140.8 389.6 802.8

CONSOLIDATED 
As at 31 March 2012

In millions of AUD 6 months or less 6 to 12 months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank overdraft 1.2 - - - - 1.2

Trade and other payables 123.2 - - - - 123.2

Finance lease liabilities 1.4 1.3 1.9 1.8 0.5 6.9

Long term notes 8.4 8.3 16.7 29.6 433.6 496.6

Bank loans 3.3 3.3 6.5 126.8 - 139.9

Derivative financial instruments (1.5) (1.4) (2.6) (4.5) (0.5) (10.5)

Total 136.0 11.5 22.5 153.7 433.6 757.3

The gross outflows/(inflows) disclosed in the tables above for derivative financial liabilities represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows 
of derivative financial instruments held for risk management purposes and which are usually not closed out prior to contractual maturity. The 
disclosure shows net cash flow amounts for derivatives that are net cash settled.

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional amounts:

CONSOLIDATED	 2013 

In millions of AUD USD CAD SEK CZK EUR PLN DKK GBP

Trade and other receivables 14.5 - - - 1.8 0.1 - -

Cash at bank 26.5 - - - 1.5 0.1 0.5 0.2

Bank loan - - - - - - - (32.1)

Long term notes - (61.3) - - - - - -

Trade and other payables (1.3) - - - (0.1) - - -

Gross balance sheet exposure 39.7 (61.3) - - 3.2 0.2 0.5 (31.9)

Derivative financial instruments* - (75.5) - (17.5) (9.6) - (19.6) -

Net exposure 39.7 (136.8) - (17.5) (6.4) 0.2 (19.1) (31.9)

* Amounts represent the notional amounts of cross currency interest rate swaps for hedging of net investments in foreign operations.
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Currency risk continued

CONSOLIDATED	 2012 

In millions of AUD USD CAD SEK CZK EUR PLN GBP

Trade and other receivables 12.2 - - - 1.6 0.2 -

Cash at bank 28.3 - - - 3.4 - -

Bank loan - - (14.6) - - - (34.0)

Long term notes - (62.9) - - - - -

Trade and other payables (2.1) - - - (0.2) - -

Gross balance sheet exposure 38.4 (62.9) (14.6) - 4.8 0.2 (34.0)

Derivative financial instruments* - (77.4) - (19.0) (10.0) - -

Net exposure 38.4 (140.3) (14.6) (19.0) (5.2) 0.2 (34.0)

* Amounts represent the notional amounts of cross currency interest rate swaps used for hedging of net investments in foreign operations.

The following exchange rates against the Australian dollar applied at 31 March:

31 March spot rate

2013 2012

USD 1.0420 1.034

CAD 1.0602 1.033

SEK 6.7989 6.844

CZK 20.9168 19.229

EUR 0.8129 0.7756

PLN 3.3960 3.2184

GBP 0.6856 0.646

Sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent strengthening of the Australian dollar against the above balances at 31 March would have increased (decreased) profit before 
income tax and equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

As at 31 March 2013 Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

USD (3.6) -

CAD - 12.4

CZK - 1.6

EUR (0.3) 0.9

PLN - -

GBP - 2.9

DKK 1.7 -

(2.2) 17.8

As at 31 March 2012 Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

USD (3.5) -

CAD - 12.8

SEK - 1.3

CZK - 1.7

EUR (0.4) 1.0

PLN - -

GBP - 3.0

(3.9) 19.8
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Sensitivity analysis continued

A 10 percent weakening of the Australian dollar against the above balances at 31 March would have increased (decreased) profit before 
income tax and equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

As at 31 March 2013 Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

USD 4.4 -

CAD - (15.2)

CZK - (1.9)

EUR 0.3 (1.1)

PLN - -

GBP - (3.6)

DKK (2.1) -

2.6 (21.8)

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Fixed rate instruments

Financial liabilities (385.8) (378.0)

Effect of interest rate contracts* 105.8 126.1

(280.0) (251.9)

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 115.9 133.4

Financial liabilities (142.7) (126.0)

Effect of interest rate contracts* (105.8) (126.0)

(132.6) (118.6)

* Represents the net notional amount of interest rate swaps used for hedging.

Sensitivity analysis

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group has designated interest rate contracts as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model in relation to its fixed rate 
long term notes. The interest rate contracts swap the fixed interest payable on a portion of the loan notes to variable interest rates for the 
term of the debt. In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy (refer note 3(d)) changes in fair value of the interest rate contracts together 
with the change in fair value of the debt arising from changes in interest rates are recognised in the profit and loss (to the extent the fair 
value hedge is effective). In 2013, the change in fair value of interest rate contracts was $12.7 million and was offset in the Group’s profit and 
loss statement by an equal amount relating to the change in fair value of the hedged risk. A change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the 
reporting date would not materially impact the Group’s profit and loss before income tax or equity (2012: Nil).

As at 31 March 2012 Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

USD (3.5) -

CAD - 12.8

SEK - 1.3

CZK - 1.7

EUR (0.4) 1.0

PLN - -

GBP - 3.0

(3.9) 19.8

As at 31 March 2012 Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

USD 4.3 -

CAD - (15.6)

SEK - (1.6)

CZK - (2.1)

EUR 0.5 (1.1)

PLN - -

GBP - (3.8)

4.8 (24.2)
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit before income tax and equity by 
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2012.

Consolidated

In millions of AUD Profit Equity

50 bp increase 50bp decrease 50 bp increase 50 bp decrease

As at 31 March 2013

Variable rate instruments (0.1) 0.1 - -

Interest rate contracts (0.5) 0.5 - -

Cash flow sensitivity (net) (0.6) 0.6 - -

As at 31 March 2012

Variable rate instruments - - - -

Interest rate contracts - - - -

Cash flow sensitivity (net) - - - -

Fair values of financial instruments

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are included in the balance sheet at amounts that approximate fair values with the exception of 
fixed rate debt which has a fair value of $374m (2012: $389m). The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in note 5. The fair value at 31 
March 2013 of derivative assets (2012: asset) held for risk management, which are the Group’s only financial instruments carried at fair value, 
was a net gain of $16.2m (2012: gain of $2.8m) measured using Level 2 valuation techniques as defined in the fair value hierarchy shown in 
note 5. The Group does not have any financial instruments that are categorised as Level 1 or Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

28. Operating leases
Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Less than one year  23.8 28.4

Between one and five years 52.9 65.9

More than five years 10.7 21.7

87.4 116.0

The Group leases property, plant and equipment under operating leases expiring over terms of up to six years. Leases generally provide the 
Group with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on a 
local price index. Lease commitments in respect of finance leases are disclosed in note 24.

During the year ended 31 March 2013 $47.6m was recognised as an expense in the profit and loss statement in respect of operating leases 
(2012: $36.9m).

Leases as lessor

The Group leases out its investment property held under operating lease (see note 23). The future minimum lease payments receivable under 
non-cancellable leases are as follows:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Less than one year  1.9 1.5

Between one and five years 7.0 6.6

8.9 8.1

During the year ended 31 March 2013 $1.5m was recognised as rental income in the profit and loss statement (2012: $1.5m).
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Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and equipment contracted but not provided for and payable within one year 11.4 36.1

30. Contingencies
The directors are of the opinion that there are no material contingent liabilities at 31 March 2013.

31. Deed of cross guarantee
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed below are relieved from the 
Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports, and directors’ reports.

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of the Deed 
is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event 
that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company 
is wound up.

The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are:

•	 ACIRL Proprietary Limited

•	 ACIRL Quality Testing Services Pty Ltd

•	 ALS Metallurgy Holdings Pty Ltd (formerly ALS Ammtec Holdings Pty Ltd)

•	 ALS Metallurgy Pty Ltd (formerly ALS Ammtec Pty Ltd)

•	 ALS Metallurgy Pty Ltd (formerly ALS Ammtec Pty Ltd) atf Ammtec Unit Trust

•	 ALS Industrial Australia Pty Ltd

•	 ALS Industrial Holdings Pty Ltd

•	 ALS Industrial Pty Ltd

•	 Australian Laboratory Services Pty Ltd

•	 Ecowise Australia Pty Ltd

•	 Ecowise Environmental Pty Ltd

•	 Reward Supply Co. Pty Ltd

A consolidated profit and loss statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheet, comprising the 
Company and subsidiaries which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, at 
31 March 2013 is set out below.

Summary profit and loss statement and retained profits

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Profit before tax 217.8 190.5

Income tax expense (29.8) (32.2)

Profit after tax 188.0 158.3

Retained profits at beginning of year 85.0 35.9

Retained earnings adjustment* (0.8) 5.6

Dividends recognised during the year (161.7) (114.8)

Retained profits at end of year 110.5 85.0

* Represents applicable amounts taken directly to retained earnings, together with adjustments for changes in the composition of the cross-guarantee group.
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Statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Profit for the period 190.4 160.2

Total comprehensive income for the period 190.4 160.2

Balance Sheet
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18.2 11.5

Trade and other receivables 120.6 124.1

Inventories 32.9 42.3

Other 4.5 7.1

Total current assets 176.2 185.0

Receivables 80.3 92.7

Investments accounted for using the equity method 7.9 10.9

Investment property 11.0 11.1

Deferred tax assets 12.1 10.8

Property, plant and equipment 179.4 162.3

Intangible assets 309.1 339.8

Other investments 328.7 194.9

Total non-current assets 928.5 822.5

Total assets 1,104.7 1,007.5

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 51.3 66.2

Loans and borrowings 1.3 2.2

Income tax payable 15.1 17.2

Employee benefits 30.4 29.2

Total current liabilities 98.1 114.8

Loans and borrowings 217.9 184.3

Employee benefits 2.9 2.4

Other 30.5 5.5

Total non-current liabilities 251.3 192.2

Total liabilities 349.4 307.0

Net assets 755.3 700.5

Equity

Share capital 667.9 610.4

Reserves (28.3) 2.3

Retained earnings 115.7 87.8

Total equity 755.3 700.5
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ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Result of parent entity

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Profit for the period 182.3 118.3

Total comprehensive income for the period 182.3 118.3

Financial position of parent entity at year end

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Current assets 21.6 9.2

Total assets 981.8 844.4

Current liabilities 23.8 30.2

Total liabilities 278.7 218.8

Net assets 703.1 625.6

Share capital 667.9 610.4

Reserves 1.7 2.3

Retained earnings 33.5 12.9

Total equity 703.1 625.6

Parent entity capital commitments

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Plant and equipment contracted but not provided for and payable within one year - 0.3

- 0.3

Parent entity guarantees in respect of the debts of its subsidiaries

The Company is party to a number of financing facilities and a Deed of Cross Guarantee under which it guarantees the debts of a number of its 
subsidiaries. Refer to notes 24 and 31 for details.

33. Consolidated entities
The Group’s significant controlled entities are listed below:

Country of Incorporation

Parent entity 

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) Australia

Subsidiaries 

Australian Laboratory Services Pty Ltd Australia

ACIRL Proprietary Ltd Australia

ACIRL Quality Testing Services Pty Ltd Australia

Ecowise Australia Pty Ltd Australia

ALS Industrial Australia Pty Ltd Australia

ALS Industrial Pty Ltd Australia

ALS Industrial Power Services Pty Ltd (formerly Austpower Engineering Pty Ltd) Australia

ALS Metallurgy Pty Ltd (formerly ALS Ammtec Pty Ltd) as trustee for Ammtec Unit Trust Australia

ALS South American Holdings Pty Ltd Australia
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ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Country of Incorporation

ALS Canada Ltd Canada

ALS Testing Services Group, Inc (formerly CBL Campbell Brothers USA, Inc)  USA

ALS Group General Partnership USA

ALS Group USA, Corp USA

ALS USA, Inc USA

ALS Services USA, Corp USA

ALS Technichem (Singapore) Pte Ltd Singapore

ALS Chemex South Africa (Proprietary) Ltd South Africa

Abilab Burkina SARL Burkina Faso

Group de Laboratoire ALS MALI SARL Mali

ALS Scandinavia AB Sweden

ALS Inspection UK Limited (formerly Stewart Inspection and Analysis Limited) United Kingdom

ALS Chemex de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico

ALS Patagonia S.A. Chile

ALS Peru S.A. Peru

The above entities were wholly owned in the current and comparative years, except for ALS South American Holdings Pty Ltd (incorporated 
during the current year in relation to the acquisition of the Corplab Group) in which the Group has an 80% interest.

34.	 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Profit for the period 230.5 224.7

Adjustments for:

Amortisation and depreciation 55.8 46.2

Finance charges on capitalised leases 0.3 0.3

(Profit)/loss on sale of property plant and equipment 0.3 (0.1)

Share-settled performance rights awarded during the year (2.5) 1.3

Share of associates and joint venture net profit (1.6) (1.4)

Gain on sale of Campbell Chemicals segment (5.7) -

Write-down Reward Distribution segment to fair value less costs to sell 16.1 -

Net non-cash expenses (0.5) 0.4

Operating cashflow before changes in working capital and provisions 292.7 271.1

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 7.1 (49.8)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (4.4) (11.0)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (33.8) 4.2

(Decrease)/increase in taxation provisions (14.3) 14.5

Net cash from operating activities 247.3 229.0
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

In September 2012 the Group sold its Campbell Chemicals operating segment consisting of both its former Panamex Pacific and Deltrex 
Chemicals business units via two separate sale arrangements. Prior year comparatives relate to the trading performance of the segment 
operations.

The Campbell Chemicals segment was not a discontinued operation or held for sale in the prior corresponding period and therefore the income 
statement has been re-presented to show the discontinued operations separately from the continuing operations.

Information attributable to discontinued operations is as follows: 

Consolidated

In millions of AUD 2013 2012

Discontinued operations

Revenue 43.7 90.0

Amortisation and depreciation (0.3) (0.7)

Other Expenses (39.6) (81.1)

Results from operating activities 3.8 8.2

Income tax expense (1.1) (2.5)

Results from operating activities, net of income tax 2.7 5.7

Gain on sale of discontinued operations 5.7 -

Income tax on gain on sale of discontinued operations (0.2) -

8.2 5.7

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations (post 5-for-1 split basis) 2.39c 1.69c

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations (post 5-for-1 split basis) 2.39c 1.68c

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Net cash from operating activities 2.0 6.8

Net cash from investing activities 39.7 0.7

Net cash from financing activities - -

Net cash from discontinued operations 41.7 7.5

Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group

Property, plant and equipment (8.7)

Identifiable intangible assets (7.9)

Inventories (11.8)

Trade and other receivables (13.0)

Deferred tax assets (0.4)

Current tax liabilities 1.4

Employee benefits 0.9

Trade and other payables 5.1

Deferred tax liabilities 0.7

Net identifiable assets and liabilities (33.7)

Consideration received, satisfied in cash 39.4
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Business Combinations 

In millions of AUD Interest Acquired Date Consideration

2013

Eclipse Scientific Group Limited 100% April 2012 30.4

Milana A.S. 100% July 2012 21.6

Corplab Group 80% December 2012 44.7

Other acquisitions during the year 15.5

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 April 2012, management estimates that Group revenue would have been $1,527,038,000 and net profit 
would have been $233,372,000.

In millions of AUD Interest Acquired Date Consideration

2012

Stewart Holdings Group Limited 100% July 2011 127.0

CAS Holdings, Inc. 100% October 2011 40.2

Austpower Engineering Pty Ltd 100% October 2011 35.2

Other acquisitions during the year 9.3

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 April 2011, management estimates that Group revenue would have been $1,469,403,000 and net profit 
would have been $233,283,000.

Eclipse Scientific Group Limited (consolidated group): net assets at acquisition dates

Recognised 
values

In millions of AUD 2013

Property, plant and equipment 8.1

Identifiable intangible assets -

Inventories 1.0

Trade and other receivables 7.7

Cash and cash equivalents 1.6

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (11.0)

Trade and other payables (5.6)

Employee benefits (0.6)

Deferred tax assets 1.6

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 2.8

Goodwill on acquisition 27.6

Consideration paid, satisfied in cash 30.4

Cash (acquired) (1.6)

Net cash outflow 28.8

Directly attributable transaction costs of $75,000 (2012: $37,000) were included in administration and other expenses in the profit and 
loss statement. In the period to 31 March 2013 Eclipse Scientific Group Limited (Eclipse Group) contributed a net profit of $1,600,000 to the 
consolidated net profit for the year.

The acquisition of the Eclipse Scientific Group provides the Group with the opportunity to expand the existing food and pharmaceutical services 
into new geographies in the UK and Ireland. In determining the fair value of the assets acquired in the business combination, Directors 
assessed that any identifiable intangible assets (such as customer relationships and brand names) were not material. The goodwill recognised 
on acquisition is attributable mainly to skills and technical talent of Eclipse Group’s workforce and the synergies expected to be achieved from 
integrating the acquired operations into the Group’s existing business. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.



	 ALS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013   |   95

36. 	Acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controlling interests continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Milana A.S. net assets at acquisition dates

Recognised 
values

In millions of AUD 2013

Property, plant and equipment 3.4

Trade and other receivables 1.6

Cash and cash equivalents 1.0

Current tax liabilities (0.3)

Employee benefits (0.5)

Trade and other payables (0.3)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 4.9

Goodwill on acquisition 16.7

Consideration paid, satisfied in cash 21.6

Cash (acquired) (1.0)

Net cash outflow 20.6

Directly attributable transaction costs of $78,000 were included in 
administration and other expenses in the profit and loss statement. 
In the period to 31 March 2013 Milana A.S. contributed a net profit 
of $1,792,000 to the consolidated net profit for the year. 

Milana A.S. was acquired for the purpose of broadening the service 
reach of the Group’s existing European environmental testing 
operations. In determining the fair value of the assets acquired in 
the business combination, Directors assessed that any identifiable 
intangible assets (such as customer relationships and brand 
names) were not material. The goodwill recognised on acquisition 
is attributable mainly to skills and technical talent of the acquired 
business’s workforce and the synergies expected to be achieved 
from integrating the company into the Group’s existing business. 
The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes.

Corplab Group net assets at acquisition dates

Recognised 
values

In millions of AUD 2013

Property, plant and equipment 5.3

Identifiable intangible assets 0.2

Inventories 0.1

Trade and other receivables 9.9

Cash and cash equivalents 2.4

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (1.6)

Current tax liabilities (0.1)

Employee benefits (1.0)

Trade and other payables (4.8)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 10.4

Goodwill on acquisition 34.3

Total consideration payable 44.7

Total consideration payable comprised: 41.8

Cash 2.9

Shares in a controlled entity 44.7

Net cash outflow: 41.8

Consideration paid, satisfied in cash (2.3)

Cash (acquired) 39.5

Directly attributable transaction costs of $786,000 were included in 
administration and other expenses in the profit and loss statement. 
In the period to 31 March 2013 the Corplab Group contributed a net 
profit of $1,128,000 to the consolidated net profit for the year.

Corplab Group was acquired for the purpose of growing the Group’s 
Life Sciences Division into the South American region where there 
is strong expected growth over the coming decade. In determining 
the fair value of the assets acquired in the business combination, 
Directors assessed that any identifiable intangible assets (such as 
customer relationships and brand names) were not material. The 
goodwill recognised on acquisition is attributable mainly to skills 
and technical talent of the acquired business’s workforce and the 
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company 
into the Group’s existing business. The goodwill is not expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.

The Group acquired its 80% interest in the Corplab Group in December 
2012 via a joint venture company, ALS South American Holdings Pty 
Ltd. The remaining 20% shareholding in the joint venture company 
is subject to a put and call option exercisable by either shareholder 
within a five year period from that date. The Group has recognised a 
liability arising from this option (refer note 25). The liability has been 
recognised at the present value of the estimated exercise price based 
on the terms and conditions of the option agreement. On recognition 
of the liability, a corresponding amount has been recognised in 
equity within other reserves (refer note 26). Subsequent changes in 
the liability will also be recognised in equity in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy in note 3(a).
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Other acquirees’ net assets at acquisition dates

Recognised 
values

Recognised 
values

In millions of AUD 2013 2012*

Property, plant and equipment 15.3 28.7

Identifiable intangible assets - 0.7

Inventories 1.2 5.4

Trade and other receivables 5.2 34.3

Current tax assets - 1.0

Deferred tax assets 0.2 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents (1.0) 4.9

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (0.1) (98.0)

Employee benefits - (2.7)

Trade and other payables (8.8) (20.6)

Deferred tax liabilities - (0.6)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 12.0 (46.6)

Non-controlling interest at acquisition - (2.2)

Balance of investment in associate derecognised - (7.1)

Goodwill on acquisition 3.5 267.6

Consideration paid, satisfied in cash (a) 15.5 211.7

Cash (acquired) (1.0) (4.9)

Net cash outflow 14.5 206.8

* The comparatives disclose all 2012 acquisitions.

Directly attributable transaction costs of $133,000 (2012: $63,000) relating to these acquisitions were included in administration and other 
expenses in the profit and loss statement.

In determining the fair value of the assets acquired in the business combinations, Directors assessed that any identifiable intangible assets 
(such as customer relationships and brand names) were not material. The goodwill recognised on acquisition is attributable mainly to skills and 
technical talent of the acquired business’s workforce and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company into the Group’s 
existing business. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

37.	 Key management personnel disclosures
The following were key management personnel of the Group at any time during the reporting period and unless otherwise indicated were key 
management personnel for the entire period:

Non-executive directors	 Executives

Nerolie Withnall (Chairman)	 Brian Williams (GGM^, ALS Minerals)

Ray Hill	 Raj Naran (GGM, ALS Life Sciences)

Bruce Brown	 Paul McPhee (GGM, ALS Energy)

Mel Bridges	 Kristen Walsh (GGM, ALS Industrial)

Grant Murdoch	 Andrew Ross (GGM Reward Distribution)

John Mulcahy	 Richard Stephens (Chief Financial Officer)	

Former Non-executive director	 Former Executive

Geoff McGrath (retired July 2012)	 David Brown (former GGM, Chemical Division; resigned August 2012)

Executive Director	

Greg Kilmister (Managing Director and CEO)	 ^ GGM = Group General Manager
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The key management personnel compensation included in employee expenses are as follows:

Consolidated

In AUD 2013 2012

Short term employee benefits 6,251,639 5,619,985

Post-employment benefits 277,425 369,004

Value of share-based awards 678,923 929,978

Termination benefits - 18,102

Other long term benefits 6,461 6,697

7,214,448 6,943,766

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties (consolidated)

Details regarding loans outstanding at the reporting date to key management personnel and their related parties, where the individual’s 
aggregate loan balance exceeded $100,000 at any time in the reporting period, are as follows:

Opening Balance $ Closing Balance $ Interest paid and payable 
in the reporting period $

Highest balance 
in period $

2013

Director

Greg Kilmister 106,250 - - 106,250

2012

Director

Greg Kilmister 191,250 106,250 - 191,250

Details regarding the aggregate of loans made, guaranteed or secured by any entity in the Group to key management personnel and their 
related parties, and the number of individuals in each group, are as follows:

Opening Balance $ Closing Balance $ Interest paid and payable 
in the reporting period $

Number in group 
at 31 March

Director

2013 106,250 - - -

2012 191,250 106,250 - 1

Executives

2013 - - - -

2012 - - - -

Loans made to the key management personnel are interest free (2012: 0%). These loans have been made to executives under the terms 
of the Company’s Employee Share Plan. Refer to note 26 for terms and conditions of loans under the Employee Share Plan. These loans are 
on terms and conditions no more favourable than loans available to other employees under the Plan. No amounts have been written off, or 
recorded as allowances, as the balances are considered fully collectible.
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Equity instruments

Movements in shares

The movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares in ALS Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each key management 
person, including their related parties (all holdings have been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 5-for 1-share split in August 2012):

2013
Opening 
Balance

Purchases
Acquired due 
to vesting of 

performance rights
Sales Other Closing Balance

Directors

Nerolie Withnall 12,795 631 - - - 13,426

Ray Hill 70,000 - - (20,000) - 50,000

Bruce Brown 150,000 - - - - 150,000

Mel Bridges 17,100 2,105 - - - 19,205

Grant Murdoch 35,000 5,250 - - - 40,250

John Mulcahy - 40,000 - - - 40,000

Geoff McGrath (a) 1,489,050 - - - (1,489,050) -

Greg Kilmister 722,995 - 148,515 - - 871,510

Executives

Brian Williams 55,300 3,248 28,560 (6,500) - 80,608

Raj Naran - - - - - -

Paul McPhee 11,815 - 29,055 - - 40,870

Kristen Walsh - - - - - -

Andrew Ross - - - - - -

Richard Stephens 18,125 3,899 14,005 - - 36,029

David Brown (b) 11,285 - 1,528 - (12,813) -

All purchases and sales complied with the Board’s Securities Trading Policy which permits trading by directors and executives during certain 
periods in the absence of knowledge of price-sensitive information.

(a)		 Mr McGrath retired from the Board in July 2012.

(b)		 Mr Brown resigned from the Company in August 2012. In accordance with the partial vesting provisions of the LTI Plan, 1528 rights issued to Mr Brown vested upon his resignation.

Movements in performance rights over ordinary shares granted as compensation

The movement during the year in the number of performance rights over ordinary shares in ALS Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each 
key management person, including their related parties (all holdings have been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 5-for 1-share split in August 2012):

2013 Opening Balance Granted as compensation Vested and Exercised Lapsed (a) Closing Balance

Directors

Greg Kilmister 269,870 61,185 (148,515) - 182,540

Executives

Brian Williams 59,140 18,130 (28,560) - 48,710

Raj Naran (b) 32,060 14,890 - - 46,950

Paul McPhee 55,860 16,495 (29,055) - 43,300

Kristen Walsh 7,555 6,525 - - 14,080

Andrew Ross - - - - -

Richard Stephens 25,280 6,120 (14,005) - 17,395

David Brown (a) 4,585 - (1,528) (3,057) -

(a)		 The number of rights lapsed represents rights lapsed due to performance hurdles not being met and/or rights lapsed on cessation of employment. Performance hurdle testing at 
31 March 2012 of rights granted in June, October and November 2009 resulted in 100% of those rights vesting. Mr Brown resigned from the Group in August 2012. In accordance 
with the partial vesting provisions of the LTI Plan, 1528 rights issued to Mr Brown vested upon his resignation.

(b)		 Performance rights granted to Mr Naran in the current year are equity-settled rights. Rights issued to Mr Naran in prior years are cash-settled. Performance rights granted to all 
other executives above are equity-settled.
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Other

The Group has entered into property lease agreements with a company in which Mr Naran holds a controlling interest. The agreements are 
based on normal terms and conditions for such arrangements and extend for periods out to 2027. Lease rental expense for the year was 
$463,044 and the amount outstanding at the end of the year was $17,437.

38.	 Non-key management personnel related party disclosures
The Group has a related party relationship with its associates and joint ventures (see note 18) and with its key management personnel (see 
note 37).

39. Share-based payments
The Group operates a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) designed as a retention and reward tool for high performing personnel. Under the Plan 
key employees may be granted conditional performance rights to receive ordinary shares in the Company at no cost to the employees (or 
in limited cases to receive cash-settled awards). All of the performance rights carry an exercise price of nil. The terms and conditions of the 
performance rights granted to date are set out below together with details of rights vested, lapsed and forfeited (all rights have been adjusted 
to reflect the Company’s 5-for 1-share split in August 2012):

Equity-settled performance rights

Granted year ended 31 March: 2013 2012 2011 2010

Date of grant 05-09-12 31-07-12 26-07-11 27-07-10 24-11-09 01-10-09 30-06-09

Testing date for performance hurdles 31-03-15 31-03-15 31-03-14 31-03-13 31-03-12 31-03-12 31-03-12

Vesting date 01-07-15 01-07-15 01-07-14 01-07-13 01-07-12 01-07-12 01-07-12

No. of rights at beginning of year - - 204,625 176,345 162,935 58,380 154,380

No. of rights granted 166,310 61,185 - - - - -

No. of rights vested and exercised during the year (a) - - (1,528) - (162,935) (58,380) (154,380)

No. of rights lapsed during the year (a) - - (11,742) (12,515) - - -

No. of rights at end of year 166,310 61,185 191,355 163,830 - - -

All equity-settled performance rights refer to rights over ordinary shares in the Company and entitle an executive to ordinary shares on the 
vesting date, subject to the achievement of performance hurdles. The rights expire on termination of an executive’s employment prior to the 
vesting date or upon the failure of achievement of performance hurdles.

(a)	Performance hurdle testing at 31 March 2012 of rights granted in June, October and November 2009 resulted in 100% of those rights vesting and being exercised. In 
accordance with the partial vesting provisions of the LTI Plan, 1528 share-settled rights issued in July 2011 vested upon resignation of a participant. The number of rights 
lapsed represents rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.

Cash-settled performance rights

Granted year ended 31 March: 2013 2012 2011 2010

Date of grant 05-09-12 26-07-11 27-07-10 01-10-09

Testing date for performance hurdles 31-03-15 31-03-14 31-03-13 31-03-12

Vesting date 01-07-15 01-07-14 01-07-13 01-07-12

No. of rights at beginning of year - 54,840 50,380 78,420

No. of rights granted 40,595 - - -

No. of rights vested during the year (a) - (2,956) (6,510) (74,280)

No. of rights lapsed during the year (a) - (9,044) (3,255) (4,140)

No. of rights at end of year 40,595 42,840 40,615 -

All cash-settled performance rights expire on termination of an executive’s employment prior to the vesting date or upon the failure of 
achievement of performance hurdles. The amount of cash payment is determined based on the volume weighted average price of the 
Company’s shares over the 20 trading days following the release of the Group’s full year results for the final year of each performance period.

(a)	 Performance hurdle testing at 31 March 2012 of rights granted in October 2009 resulted in 100% of those rights vesting and being exercised. In accordance with the 
partial vesting provisions of the LTI Plan, 6510 cash-settled rights issued in July 2010 and 2956 cash-settled rights issued in July 2011 vested upon resignation of a 
participant. The number of rights lapsed represents rights which lapsed on cessation of employment.
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Vesting conditions

Vesting conditions in relation to the rights issued in July and September 2012 are set out below:

Employees must be employed by the Group on the vesting date. The rights vest only if Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) or relative Total Shareholder 
Return (“TSR”) hurdles are achieved by the Company over the specified performance period. 50 percent of each employee’s rights are subject to 
EPS measurement and 50 percent are subject to two TSR measurements. The performance hurdles and vesting proportions for each measure are 
as follows:

Compound annual diluted EPS growth 
from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2015

Proportion of total performance rights that may be exercised if EPS growth 
hurdle is met

Less than 8% per annum 0%

8% per annum 25%

Between 8% and 14% per annum Straight line vesting between 25% and 50%

14% or higher per annum 50% (i.e. 50% of total grant)

TSR of the Group relative to TSRs of 
industry peer companies over the period 
1 April 2012 to 31 March 2015

Proportion of total performance rights that may be exercised if industry peer 
TSR hurdle is met

Less than the 50th percentile 0%

50th percentile 12.5%

Between 50th and 75th percentile Straight line vesting between 12.5% and 25%

75th percentile or higher 25% (i.e. 25% of total grant)

Comparator companies
Listed peers involved in the commercial testing and inspection services industry: Bureau 
Veritas (France), Core Laboratories (USA), Eurofins (France & Germany), Intertek (UK), 
Mistras (USA), SGS (Switzerland) and Team Industrial Services (USA).

TSR of the Group relative to TSRs of 
companies in the ASX100 Index over the 
period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2015

Proportion of total performance rights that may be exercised if ASX100 Index TSR 
hurdle is met

Less than the 50th percentile 0%

50th percentile 12.5%

Between 50th and 75th percentile Straight line vesting between 12.5% and 25%

75th percentile or higher 25% (i.e. 25% of total grant)

Comparator companies Companies included in the ASX 100 Index as at 1 April 2012

The cumulative performance hurdles are assessed at the testing date and the “at risk” LTI component becomes exercisable or is forfeited by the 
executive at this time. New offers of participation are ratified by the Board after recommendation by the Remuneration Committee.
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Expenses recognised as employee costs in relation to share-based payments

The fair value of services received in return for performance rights granted during the year ended 31 March 2013 is based on the fair value 
of the rights granted measured using Binomial Tree (EPS hurdle) and Monte-Carlo Simulation (TSR hurdle) valuation methodologies with the 
following inputs:

Granted 2013 Granted 2012

Equity-settled rights

Date of grant 5 Sept 2012 31 July 2012 26 July 2011

Weighted average fair value at date of grant $3.66 $5.28 $7.20

Share price at date of grant $7.37 $9.38 $9.43

Expected volatility 30% 25% 30%

Expected life 2.8 years 2.9 years 2.9 years

Risk-free interest rate 2.41% 2.58% 4.32%

Dividend yield 5.25% 4.70% 3.70%

Cash-settled rights

Date of grant 5 Sept 2012 - 26 July 2011

Weighted average fair value at date of grant $3.66 - $7.20

Share price at date of grant $7.37 - $9.43

Expected volatility 30% - 30%

Expected life 2.8 years - 2.9 years

Risk-free interest rate 2.41% - 4.32%

Dividend yield 5.25% - 3.70%

(all values and prices above have been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 5-for 1-share split in August 2012)

The fair value of the liability for cash-settled rights, for which performance hurdle testing dates remain in the future, is remeasured at each 
reporting date and at settlement date using Binomial Tree (EPS hurdle) and Monte-Carlo Simulation (TSR hurdle) valuation methodologies. The 
model inputs and resulting valuations at 31 March were (all values and prices have been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 5-for 1-share split in 
August 2012):

2013 2012

Cash-settled rights

Inputs: *

Date of grant 5 Sept 2012 26 July 2011 26 July 2011 27 July 2010

Share price at 31 March $10.47 $10.47 $13.45 $13.45

Expected volatility 35% 35% 25% 25%

Expected life 2.3 years 1.3 years 2.3 years 1.3 years

Risk-free interest rate 2.82% 2.81% 3.44% 3.55%

Dividend yield 4.30% 4.30% 3.90% 3.90%

Weighted average fair value at grant date $3.66 $7.20 $7.20 $5.01

Weighted average fair value at 31 March $5.89 $7.78 $11.60 $12.74

*	 Cash-settled rights granted 27 July 2010
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39. Share-based payments continued

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 march 2013

ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

Expenses recognised as employee costs in relation to share-based payments continued

The performance hurdle testing date for cash-settled rights granted on 27 July 2010 was 31 March 2013 (vesting date: 1 July 2013). The fair 
value of the liability at 31 March 2013 for these cash-settled rights was determined by reference to the Group’s performance against prescribed 
hurdles over the three year period to the testing date and the Company’s closing share price as at that date:

2013

Proportion of performance rights granted July 2010 that will vest 1 July 2013 pursuant to:

EPS growth hurdle 50%

TSR hurdle 47%

Total 97%

Share price at end of year $10.47

Weighted average fair value at grant date $5.01

Weighted average fair value at end of year $10.16

The amount ultimately payable on vesting date will be based on the volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares over the 20 
trading days following the release of the Group’s full year results.

Expenses recognised in relation to share-based payments during the year were:

Consolidated

In millions of AUD Note 2013 2012

Equity-settled rights 8 1.1 1.2

Cash-settled rights 8 - 1.0

Total expenses recognised as employee costs 1.1 2.2

Total carrying amount of liabilities for cash-settled rights 0.6 1.5

40.	 Events subsequent to balance date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results 
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.
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Directors’ declaration
ALS Limited (formerly Campbell Brothers Limited) and its subsidiaries

In the opinion of the directors of ALS Limited (“the Company”):

1.	The consolidated financial statements and notes numbered 1 to 40, and the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ report, are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:

a)	 giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date: 
and

b)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standard (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 
2001; and

2.	the financial report also complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a);

3.	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the subsidiaries identified in note 31 will be able to meet any obligations 
or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those entities, 
pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Nerolie Withnall	 Greg Kilmister 
Chairman	 Managing Director

Brisbane	 Brisbane 
27 May 2013	 27 May 2013
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of ALS Limited

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of ALS Limited (the company), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 
March 2013, and the consolidated profit and loss statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 40 comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the company and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In note 2(a), the directors also 
state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements of the 
Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s financial position 
and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a)		 the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i)	 giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; 
and 

(ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) 	the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a). 

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 40 to 51 of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2013. The directors 
of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance 
with the Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the sections of the Remuneration Report of ALS Limited for the year ended 
31 March 2013 that are described as audited, comply with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG	 Mitchell C Petrie 
	 Partner

	 Brisbane 
	 27 May 2013 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation.
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Lead auditor’s independence declaration 

To: the directors of ALS Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 31 March 2013 there have been:

(i)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

Mitchell C Petrie 
Partner

Brisbane 
27 May 2013

under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation.
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Shareholder Information

Registered Holder Address No. of Ordinary 
Shares Held

% of Issued 
Capital

1 Hsbc Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited NSW 56,593,657 16.47

2 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited NSW 29,125,016 8.48

3 National Nominees Limited VIC 18,543,262 5.40

4 Bnp Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <Drp> NSW 16,635,222 4.84

5 Milton Corporation Limited NSW 10,840,825 3.16

6 Rbc Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <Pi Pooled A/C> NSW 7,631,817 2.22

7 Jp Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C> VIC 7,381,739 2.15

8 Faircase Pty Ltd QLD 6,777,849 1.97

9 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited VIC 4,711,767 1.37

10 Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited VIC 4,318,589 1.26

11 Argo Investments Limited SA 3,758,969 1.09

12 Bki Investment Company Limited NSW 1,948,670 0.57

13 Gardenglen Pty Ltd QLD 1,907,675 0.56

14 Mrs Dorothy Anne Stewart QLD 1,686,250 0.49

15 Anz Trustees Limited <Queensland Common Fund A/C> VIC 1,602,853 0.47

16 Amp Life Limited NSW 1,394,950 0.41

17 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv A/C> VIC 1,350,544 0.39

18 Mirrabooka Investments Limited VIC 1,350,000 0.39

19 Washington H Soul Pattinson and Company Limited NSW 1,308,785 0.38

20 Ubs Nominees Pty Ltd NSW 1,253,591 0.36

TOTAL 180,122,030 52.43

Top 20 Holders as at 27 May 2013
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Shareholder Information

Other Asx Requirements
Substantial Shareholders

The following substantial shareholders were disclosed in substantial 
shareholding notices given to the Company as at 27 May 2013:

Shareholder	 No. of shares	 % held

Bennelong Funds Management Group Pty Ltd	 21,231,407	 6.235

M&G Investment Management Limited	 17,194,295	 5.0

Statement of Quoted Securities

The Company’s total number of shares on issue is 343,556,949 
ordinary fully paid shares. At 27 May 2013 the total number of 
shareholders owning these shares was 12,383 on the register of 
members maintained by Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd.

52.43% of total issued capital is held by or on behalf of the twenty 
largest shareholders.

The total shares on issue has been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 
5 for 1 share split in August 2012 

Voting Rights

Under the Company’s Constitution, every member entitled to vote 
who is present at a general meeting of the Company in person 
or by proxy or by attorney or in the case of a corporation, by 
representative, shall, upon a show of hands, have one vote only. 

Proxies - Where a member appoints 2 proxies, neither proxy is 
entitled to a vote on a show of hands. 

Poll - On a poll, every member entitled to vote shall, whether 
present in person or by proxy or attorney or, in the case of a 
corporation, by representative, have one vote for every share held 
by the member.

Performance Rights

At 27 May 2013, there were 582,680 Performance Rights granted 
over unissued ordinary shares in the Company, granted to 23 group 
executives.

The total rights granted has been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 
5 for 1 share split in August 2012 

Distribution Schedule of Shareholders

No. of Shares Held	 No. of Shareholders

1 - 1,000	 3,198

1,001 - 5,000	 4,501

5,001 - 10,000	 1,732

10,001 - 100,000	 2,679 

100,001 and over	 273

	 12,383

The number of shareholders each holding less than a marketable 
parcel of the Company’s ordinary shares ($500 in value) at 27 May 
2013 was 390.

Uncertificated Share Register

The Company’s share register is totally uncertificated. Two forms of 
uncertificated holdings are available to shareholders:

•	 Issuer Sponsored holdings (starts with an ‘I’): sponsored by the 
Company. Has the advantage of being uncertificated without the 
need to be sponsored by a stockbroker.

•	 Broker Sponsored holdings (starts with an ‘X’): sponsored by a 
stockbroker. This type is attractive to regular stockmarket traders 
or those shareholders who have their share portfolio managed by 
a stockbroker.

Holding statements are usually issued to shareholders within 5 
business days after the end of any month in which transactions 
occur that alter the balance of your shareholding.

Securities Exchange Listing

The shares of ALS Limited are listed on the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX) under the trade symbol ALQ, with Sydney being the 
home exchange. Details of trading activity are published in most 
daily newspapers, generally under the abbreviation of ALS.

The Company changed its name to ALS Limited from Campbell 
Brothers Limited on 1 August 2012 following shareholder approval 
at the 2012 AGM. The Company’s previous ASX code was CPB.

On-Market Buy-Back

There is no current on-market buy-back of the Company’s Securities.

Other Shareholder Information
Visit the Company’s website at www.alsglobal.com for the latest 
information on the Company’s activities.

Share Registry

To update and manage your shareholding easily and quickly, go to 
www-au.computershare.com and login to Investor Centre to make 
changes to your address or view balances. Any questions concerning 
your shareholding, share transfers or dividends, please contact our 
Share registry, Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd. They can be 
contacted by phone on 1300 552 270 (within Australia), +61 7 3237 
2100, by fax on +61 7 3229 9860 or online at the above web address.

Annual Reports

The latest Annual Report can be accessed from the Company’s 
website at www.alsglobal.com. If you are a shareholder and wish to 
receive a hard copy of the annual report, please contact our Share 
registry, Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd, to request that the 
annual report be sent to you in future. 

Changing Your Address?

If you change your address, please promptly notify our Share 
registrar in writing. You should quote your SRN (Shareholder 
Reference Number) or HIN (Holder Identification Number) and also 
quote your old address as an added security check.

Direct Deposit into Bank Accounts

You can choose to have your dividends paid directly into a bank, 
building society or credit union account in Australia and New Zealand 
on the dividend payment date. Details will be confirmed by an 
advice mailed to you on that date. Application forms are available 
from the Share registrar.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP)

The Company has a DRP in operation. Please contact our share 
registry, Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd, to request an 
Application form and Terms and Conditions of the DRP.
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Ten Year Summary

2004 
$M

2005* 
$M

2006 
$M

2007 
$M

2008 
$M

2009* 
$M

2010 
$M

2011 
$M

2012 
$M

2013 
$M

Sales Revenue 390.3 435.6 522.7 662.7 772.3 920.4 825.5 1,108.3 1,405.6 1,499.3

Funds Employed

Share capital 
Reserves 
Retained earnings 
Non-controlling interest 
Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities

104.3
-7.3
37.8
1.0

100.0
48.6

112.2
-0.4
37.5
2.0

85.0
65.9

197.9
3.4

53.7
1.7

118.6
85.7

208.7
5.8

83.5
1.5

133.0
83.3

223.1
-6.0

120.5
0.6

239.5
100.0

242.7
0.0

169.1
1.2

106.7
285.3

456.7
-18.2
189.8

1.4
206.5
118.9

610.4
-30.3
244.0

1.5
159.8
186.7

610.4
-37.0
351.2

5.6
509.7
195.9

667.9
-97.9
415.4
11.7

560.9
176.7

Total funds employed 284.3 302.1 461.0 515.9 677.7 805.1 955.1 1,171.9 1,635.8 1,734.7

Represented by

Property, plant & equipment
Current assets
Non-current assets
Intangibles

85.9
111.8
13.3
73.3

89.3
137.5

8.1
67.2

125.4
188.9
10.8

136.0

134.6
215.7
29.2

136.5

152.1
259.1
36.3

230.2

210.3
286.5
40.2

268.1

216.8
294.5
50.7

393.1

265.1
356.6
46.7

503.5

324.6
506.1
37.4

767.7

397.2
481.6
50.9

805.0

Total assets 284.3 302.1 461.0 515.9 677.7 805.1 955.1 1,171.9 1,635.8 1,734.7

Trading Results

Financing costs (net)		
Depreciation & amortisation	
Profit before tax		
Income tax expense		
Underlying Profit after tax
(before g’will & unusual items)	

 - attributable to members	
Profit after tax, goodwill & unusual items

- attributable to members	
Dividend		

5.8
15.8
21.5
6.9 

17.9 

14.6
13.2

5.5
14.0
45.1
10.4 

25.0 

34.3
17.3

5.6
16.5
52.1
17.2 

34.2 

34.8
23.6

6.8
24.3
86.5
27.5 

51.6 

59.1
36.1

9.8
28.2

109.0
31.8 

71.3 

76.8
49.5

14.4
37.1

150.7
44.5 

106.2 

106.2
52.8

11.1
39.9

105.9
31.0 

75.3 

75.3
62.8

10.2
42.2

185.1
52.8 

132.2

132.4
94.2

15.6
46.2

312.0
87.3 

 
222.4

222.4
151.9

19.6
55.7

320.3
89.8

237.9

227.3
164.3

Other Statistics (Ref) (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i)

Net tangible asset backing per share c 31.17 40.74 47.33 63.16 41.43 54.67 75.18 95.41 48.16 55.92

Underlying Earnings per share 
(before g’will & unusual items)

- attributable to members
c 9.01 12.24 15.08 20.02 27.44 39.03 25.81 40.59 65.90 69.53

Earnings per share 
(after g’will & unusual items) 
 - attributable to members

c 7.37 16.82 15.37 22.91 29.56 39.03 25.81 40.64 65.90 66.44

Dividends per share c 6.6 8.4 10.0 14.0 19.0 20.0 20.0 28.0 45.0 48.0

Return on average equity 
(before g’will & unusual items)

% 13.7 17.4 16.8 18.6 22.5 28.3 14.4 18.2 25.6 25.0

Return on average equity 
(after g’will & unusual items) 
 - attributable to members

% 11.2 24.0 17.2 21.3 24.1 28.3 14.5 18.2 25.4 23.7

Net debt (debt - cash) $M 94.0 73.2 85.7 88.9 191.5 209.6 147.0 111.5 370.6 412.9

Gearing ratio 
 (net debt/(net debt + total equity))

% 40.9 32.6 25.0 22.9 36.1 33.7 18.9 11.9 28.5 29.3

Interest cover 
(NPAT before g’will & unusual items)

times 4.1 5.6 7.2 8.5 8.3 8.4 7.7 13.9 15.4 13.3

Interest cover (NPBT) times 4.7 9.2 10.4 13.6 12.2 11.5 10.5 19.1 21.0 17.3

No. of employees 2,400 3,090 4,268 4,863 6,854 5,717 7,570 8,936 12,101 12,605

(a) Following the issue of 4,440,705 shares	

(b) Following the issue of 6,072,705 shares 
* 2005 figures restated to AIFRS	

(c) Following the issue of 48,616,140 shares 
	 (including 1:5 rights issue)	

(d) Following the issue of 3,172,045 shares	

(e) Following the issue of 2,570,500 shares	

(f) Following the issue of 4,483,375 shares 
*2009 EPS figures restated for rights issue in Nov 09	

(g) Following the issue of 49,633,430 shares	  
	(including 1:6 rights issue in Nov 09)	

(h) Following the issue of 22,717,200 shares 
(including 17,457,040 shares for Ammtec acquisition)	

(i) Following the issue of 6,039,894 shares	

All shares have been restated on a post 5 for 1 share split 
basis	
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Principal Group Offices

ALS Limited
Registered Head Office
Level 2, 299 Coronation Drive
Milton, Brisbane, Queensland 4064
Australia
Telephone:	 +61 7 3367 7900
Facsimile:	 +61 7 3367 8156
www.alsglobal.com

ALS Global Offices
AFRICA 
Minerals
53 Angus Cresent 
Longmeadow Business Park East 
Edenvale 1610
Telephone:	 +27 11 608 0555
Facsimile:	 +27 11 608 3163

ASIA 
Life Sciences
121 Genting Lane, #04-01
Singapore 349572
Telephone:	 +65 6283 9268
Facsimile:	 +65 6283 9689

AUSTRALIA 
Minerals
32 Shand Street
Stafford, Queensland 4053
Telephone:	 +61 7 3243 7222
Facsimile: 	 +61 7 3243 7218

Environmental
2 Byth Street			 
Stafford, Queensland 4053
Telephone:	 +61 7 3243 7222
Facsimile: 	 +61 7 3552 8662

Energy
478 Freeman Road 
Richlands, Queensland 4077
Telephone:	 +61 7 3713 8400
Facsimile: 	 +61 7 3717 0774

Industrial
109 Bannister Road 
Canning Vale WA 6155
Telephone:	 +61 8 9232 0300
Facsimile: 	 +61 8 9232 0399

Minerals
6 MacAdam Place 
Balcatta WA 6021
Telephone:	 +61 8 9344 2416
Facsimile: 	 +61 8 9345 4688

EUROPE

England

Minerals 
Caddick Road, Knowsley Business Park 
Prescot, L34 9HP
Telephone:	 +44 (0) 151 548 7777
Facsimile:	 +44 (0) 151 548 0714

Life Sciences 
Sands Mill, Huddersfield Road
Mirfield, West Yorkshire
WF14 9DQ
Telephone:	 +44 (0) 1924 499 776
Facsimile:	 +44 (0) 1924 499 731

Ireland

Minerals
Athenry Road 
Loughrea
Telephone: +353 (0) 91 841 741

Life Sciences
Unit 2, South Ring West Business Park,
Tramore Road, Cork
Telephone: +353 (0) 21 431 7982 
Facsimile: +353 (0) 21 432 7290

Czech Republic

Life Sciences
Na Harfe 9/336
190 00 Prague 9
Telephone: +420 284 081 645
Facsimile: +420 284 081 635 

NORTH AMERICA

Minerals
2103 Dollarton Highway
North Vancouver, BC, V7H 0A7
Canada
Telephone:	 +1 604 984 0221
Facsimile:	 +1 604 984 0218

Life Sciences
10450 Stancliff Road, Suite 210 
Houston Texas 77099 
United States
Telephone: +1 281 530 5656
Facsimile: +1 281 530 5887

SOUTH AMERICA
Minerals
Calle 1 Lt-1A Mz D,Esq. Con Calle A, 
Urb. Industrial Bocanegra, 
Callao 1, Lima, Peru
Telephone:	 +51 1 574 5700
Facsimile:	 +51 1 574 0721

Life Sciences
Corplab
Av. Del Libertador 3042 
2oA Olivos 
Buenes Aires, Argentina
Telephone: +5411 4519 6610

Reward Distribution
Head Office
13 Business Street
Yatala, Queensland 4207
Telephone: +61 7 3441 5800
Facsimile: +61 7 3441 5803
www.rewarddistribution.com.au
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